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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Crown Lands and Property
Agency (the Agency) and have been prepared in accordance with legislation, and in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of The Chartered Professional
Accountants Canada.

In carrying out its responsibilities, management maintains appropriate systems of internal and administrative controls
designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in accordance with proper authorization, that
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and that financial information produced is relevant and reliable.

Management met with the external auditors to review the financial statements and discuss any significant financial
reporting or internal control matters prior to their approval of the financial statements.

Exchange Chartered Professional Accountants, LLP as the Agency's appointed external auditors, have audited the
financial statements. The Auditors' report is addressed to the financing authority and appears on the following page.
Their opinion is based upon an examination conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards, performing such tests and other procedures as they consider necessary to obtain reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free of material misstatement and present fairly the financial position and results of the
Agency in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.

On behalf of the Agency's management,

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Mr. Normand Le Neal, Financial Officer Ms Grace DeLong, Chief Operating
Officer

Portage la Prairie, MB



CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
BUSINESS & TECHNOLOGY CONSULTANTS

EXCHANGE)
GROUP

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Crown Lands and Property Agency (An Agency of the Government of
Manitoba)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Crown Lands and Property Agency, (An Agency of the Government
of Manitoba), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the statements of operations, change
in net debt and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Crown Lands and Property

Agency, (An Agency of the Government of Manitoba), as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flow
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Exchange

Chartered Professional Accountants LLP
Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 8, 2018



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2018
(In thousands)
2018 2017
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable (Note 3) $ 463 S 543
Restricted cash (Note 12) 271 582
Severance pay benefits, vacation pay and banked time cash in
trust (Note 7) 670 670
Assets held in trust (Notes 4, 8) 3 3
$ 1,407 $ 1,798
LIABILITIES
Working capital advance (Note 9) $ 1,855 $ 3,020
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 675 476
Deferred income 1 14
Trust fund liability (Note 8) 3 3
Severance pay liability (Note 11) 311 322
Client held funds (Note 12) 271 582
Deferred leases (Note 13) 209 46
Surplus land sales (Note 5) 1,506 863
Long term debt (Note 14) 95 -
4,926 5,326
NET DEBT $ 3,519) % (3,528)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses (Note 3) $ 5 3 99
Tangible capital assets (Notes 3, 6) 302 86
357 185
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT $ 3,162) $ (3,343)

COMMITMENTS (Note 15)

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Director

Director

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In thousands)
Budget
2018 2018 2017
REVENUE
Sales $ 6,543 $ 4,446 $ 4,542
Interest income - 4 4
6,543 4,450 4,546
EXPENSES
Advertising 20 2 4
Amortization 147 40 51
Computer maintenance costs 261 168 162
Contributed services 76 22 56
Desktop operating lease 201 187 185
Employee training 59 12 10
Insurance 4 2 4
Interest on working capital advance 102 64 51
Meals and accommodations 7 2 3
Office 28 18 17
Postage 53 54 60
Printing 38 30 28
Professional fees 323 319 283
Publications 21 15 12
Relocation expense 4 - 2
Rental 286 287 286
Repairs and maintenance 30 10 20
Salaries and benefits 4,161 2,952 3,102
Telephone 42 48 44
Travel 76 37 22
5,939 4,269 4,402
ANNUAL SURPLUS 604 181 144
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (3,670) (3,343) (3,487)
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - END OF YEAR $ (3,066) $ 3,162) $ (3,343)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Change in Net Debt
Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In thousands)
Budget
2018 2018 2017
ANNUAL SURPLUS $ 604 $ 181 $ 144
Purchase of tangible capital assets (2,130) (255) (43)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 147 40 50
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (195) 43 (56)
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN NET DEBT (1,574) 9 95
NET DEBT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (3,983) (3,528) (3,623)
NET DEBT - END OF YEAR $ (5,557) $ 3,519) $ (3,528)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)
2018 2017

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers $ 4,516 $ 4,556

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3,923) (4,536)

Interest paid (63) oD

Increase (decrease) in deferred leases 163 49)

Decrease in severance pay liability (11) ®)

Increase (decrease) in surplus land sales 643 (1,434)

Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 1,325 (1,522)

INVESTING ACTIVITY

Purchase of tangible capital assets (255) (43)
FINANCING ACTIVITY

Proceeds from long term debt 95 -
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 1,165 (1,565)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE - BEGINNING OF YEAR (3,020) (1,455)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE - END OF YEAR $ (1,855) $ (3,020)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

The Crown Lands and Property Agency fits within two service sectors:

° Direct Public Services where the Agency provides mandated land administration services directly
to external customers (individuals) on behalf of SD and MA.

° Internal Services to Government where the Agency provides mandated real estate related services
to other government departments and agencies to support efficient management of government

Effective April 1, 2006, Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") was designated as a Special
Operating Agency by regulation under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Agency processes all Crown Lands sales, leases and permits, and provides land appraisal, acquisition,
expropriation and other services for the provincial government. The Agency's mission is to provide quality
Crown land information and services to the public and government departments that are open, fair and
transparent.

The Agency consolidates the services previously provided by Land Acquisition Branch, Lands Branch,
Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The Financing
Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It
finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances. The financial framework enables
the Agency to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Infrastructure assigns
responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets and operations on behalf of
the Financing Authority.

The Agency forms part of the Corporate Services Division of Manitoba Infrastructure under the general
direction of the Chief Operating Officer and the Assistant Deputy Minister of Corporate Services Division, and
ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.

The Agency is economically dependent upon the Province of Manitoba, as it derives a significant portion of its
revenue from the Province. The transactions with the Province of Manitoba are recorded at the exchange
amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards as recommended by the public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Revenue recognition

Land Acquisition Branch: the percentage of completion method of accounting is used, whereby revenue is
recognized proportionately with the degree of contracted work completed.

Other branch areas: appropriation funding in Manitoba Agriculture and Sustainable Development is continuing
in order to pay the Agency the costs it incurs for providing services to the public (on behalf of Manitoba
Agriculture and Sustainable Development).

Financial Assets

1. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

2. Accounts receivable

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Amounts doubtful of collection are
recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized.

Liabilities

Liabilities present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal year.
The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement.
Liabilities are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a
reasonable estimate can be made of the amounts involved.

(continues)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These assets are
normally employed to provide future services.

1. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.
The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed.

2. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition
costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties. Modifications or additions to the
original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost.

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values.

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful
lives in the following manner:

Equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer software 5 years straight-line method
Furniture and fixtures 5 years straight-line method
Computer - Major applications 15 years straight-line method

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost or amortized cost. Financial assets include cash and accounts
receivable. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include working capital
advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the
gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2018 (2017 -
$nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; interest risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk
consist principally of cash and term deposits and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31, 2018 is:

2018 2017

Accounts receivable $ 463 $ 543

Cash: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are primarily held by the
Province of Manitoba.

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant concentration of credit risk, since the receivables are

from a large client base. An allowance for doubtful accounts of $NIL was recorded as of March 31, 2018
(2017 - $NIL).

(continues)

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its
available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. Regular
determinations of the Agency's working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are reviewed
by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable the Agency
to meet its obligations as they come due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash, cash equivalents,
portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings.

The interest rate risk on cash and working capital advances is considered to be low
because of their short term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the
original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms on each amount borrowed.

5. SURPLUS LAND SALES

Surplus land sales consist of properties which are not under the Crown Lands Act but are under the
departmental jurisdiction. These properties are being sold on behalf of clients with the net proceeds issued to
the consolidated fund or charged back to the client if the sale is not finalized.

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In thousands)
6. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
2018
Opening Closing
balance Additions Disposals balance
Cost
Equipment $ 120 $ - $ - $ 120
Computer equipment 150 38 - 188
Computer software 111 - - 111
Furniture and fixtures 195 30 - 225
Computer - Major applications - 187 - 187
$ 576 $ 255§ - $ 831
Accumulated amortization
Equipment $ 104 $ 8 $ - $ 112
Computer equipment 131 12 - 142
Computer software 84 12 - 96
Furniture and fixtures 171 8 - 179
490 40 - 529
$ 86 $ 215§ - $ 302
2017
Cost
Equipment $ 109 % 11 $ - $ 120
Computer equipment 150 - - 150
Computer software 98 13 - 111
Furniture and fixtures 176 19 - 195
$ 533 § 43 § - $ 576
Accumulated amortization
Equipment $ 90 $ 14 $ - $ 104
Computer equipment 117 14 - 131
Computer software 74 10 - 84
Furniture and fixtures 159 12 - 171
440 50 - 490
$ 93 $ (N _$ - $ 86

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

7.  SEVERANCE PAY BENEFITS, VACATION PAY AND BANKED TIME CASH IN TRUST

The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the
employees of Lands Branch, Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments,
transferred to the Agency March 31, 2006, up to March 31, 2006. Additionally, the Province has accepted
responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the employees of Land
Acquisition Branch up to March 31, 1998.

Effective March 31, 2010 the Province of Manitoba has paid the receivable balances related to the funding for
these liabilities and has placed the amount of $670 into an interest bearing trust account to be held on the
Agency’s behalf until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.

8. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST

The assets held in trust were pledged to the Agency to complete outstanding projects transferred from the
Province of Manitoba. The trust fund liability offsets the assets held in trust until work performed on
outstanding projects have been completed.

9. WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $6,000 of which
$1,855 was used as at March 31, 2018 (2017 - $3,020). The advance is unsecured, and interest is charged at
Prime less 1% on the daily balance.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2018 2017
Trade accounts payable $ 333 $ 124
Accrued wages, vacation pay and banked time 284 294
Sick pay leave obligation 57 57
Goods and services tax 1 1
$ 675 $ 476

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In thousands)
11. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY
The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. Severance pay is determined by
multiplying years of service by the weekly salary, at date of retirement provided that the employee reaches nine
years of service and retires from the Agency. Severance pay for service greater than 15 years to a maximum of
35 years is increased by two weeks for every five years of service. The estimate is based upon the method of
calculation set by the Province of Manitoba.
The severance benefit at March 31 included the following components:
2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year $ 249 $ 247
Actuarial loss (gain) 47 -
Benefits accrued 21 19
Interest on accrued benefits 11 15
Severance paid 34 32)
Accrued benefit liability 294 249
Add: unamortized actuarial gains 17 73
Severance benefit liability $ 311§ 322
12. CLIENT HELD FUNDS
The Agency invoices and collects funds on behalf of other departments. All amounts received for these
departments are recorded as a liability and are held in a separate bank account.
13. DEFERRED LEASES
The Agency manages leases on behalf of clients. The Agency remits to the consolidated fund the difference of
revenue generated and the costs to manage the leases.
14. LONG TERM DEBT
Loan owed to the Province of Manitoba with a floating interest rate of prime less 0.75%. No set repayment
plan until all loan installments have been advanced.
15. COMMITMENTS

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Agency incurred costs of $287 for the rental of the facilities located
at 25 Tupper Street North, Portage La Prairie, Manitoba. There is no premise lease agreement in place.
Occupancy charges for each fiscal year are established annually by the Province of Manitoba.

The Agency has signed a service agreement for the design and implementation of computer software. The total
cost of the agreement is $308. As at March 31, 2018, $88 of the agreement has been capitalized as part of the
computer - major applications additions.

See notes to financial statements



CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

16. PENSION BENEFITS

Employees of Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil
Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees
of the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

The pension liability related to the CSSA's defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba's
financial statements. Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency's financial statements relating to the
effects of participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees.

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions
paid by its employees.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Agency provides services to various other government departments. These departments make up
approximately 96% of the revenue for the Agency. The Agency's ability to continue as a viable operation is
dependent upon these transactions.

18. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at March 31, 2018, there were four outstanding claims. The claims do not clearly articulate the Agency's
involvement, outside of its role in administering compensation. It is unknown at this time if there are any future
liabilities related to these claims.

See notes to financial statements



Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Financial Statements
March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

MNP



Management's Responsibility

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and ensuring that all
information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles
and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

MNP LLP is appointed to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full
and free access to, and meet periodically with management to discuss their audit findings.

July 13, 2018
Signed "Jeff Hodge" Signed "Jason Lacasse"
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

MNP



Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and Entrepreneurship Manitoba:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Entrepreneurship Manitoba, a Special Operating Agency of the Government
of the Province of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations,
change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Entrepreneurship Manitoba as at

March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba MA/P LLP

July 13, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877)500-0795

MNP



Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
Financial assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 6,454 8,673
Accounts receivable 166 305
Portfolio investments (Note 3) 219 738
Total financial assets 6,839 9,716
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accruals 260 393
Deferred revenue 376 -
Accrued vacation entitlements 457 433
Provision for loan guarantees (Note 4) 922 879
Employee future benefits (Note 5) 449 455
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 6) 1,187 1,517
Total financial liabilities 3,651 3,677
Net financial assets 3,188 6,039
Designated assets (Note 8)
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 6,571 6,349
Inventories of supplies 33 35
Prepaid expenses 11 11
Total non-financial assets 6,615 6,395
Accumulated surplus 9,803 12,434

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

MNP



Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2018 2017
Budget
Revenue
Fees and services 9,574 10,188 10,293
Immigration settlement transfer 1,750 1,750 1,750
Investment income 30 56 35
11,354 11,994 12,078
Expenses
Amortization 237 232 6
Operating expenses (Schedule 1) 3,420 2,712 3,225
Salaries and employee benefits 4,694 4,072 4,123
8,351 7,016 7,354
Net income before transfer to the Province of Manitoba 3,003 4,978 4,724
Transfer to the Province of Manitoba (Note 9) 7,840 7,609 2,500
Net income (loss) for the year (4,837) (2,631) 2,224
o 10,726 12,434 10,210
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
5,889 9,803 12,434

Accumulated surplus, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

MNP



Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2018 2017
Budget

Net income (loss) for the year (4,837) (2,631) 2,224
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (300) (454) (1,095)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 237 232 6
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (63) (222) (1,089)
Change in inventories of supplies during the year - 2 4
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 2 4
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (4,900) (2,851) 1,139
Net financial assets, beginning of year 4,069 6,039 4,900
Net financial assets, end of year (831) 3,188 6,039

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

MNP



Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities
Net income (loss) for the year (2,631) 2,224
Non-cash items
Amortization 232 6
(2,399) 2,230
Changes in working capital accounts
Accounts receivable 139 19
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (133) (558)
Deferred revenue 376 -
Accrued vacation entitlements 24 (50)
Provision for loan guarantees 43 48
Employee future benefits (6) (41)
Inventories of supplies 2 4
(1,954) 1,652
Financing activity
Repayment of borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (330) (330)
Capital activity
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (454) (1,095)
Investing activity
Change in portfolio investments 519 (3)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,219) 224
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,673 8,449
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 6,454 8,673

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

Operations

Effective April 1, 2013, Entrepreneurship Manitoba (the "Agency") commenced operations as a Government of Manitoba
Special Operating Agency ("SOA") under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M ¢cS185) by
Order in Council No. 78/2013. The Agency Integrates the operations of the former Companies Office and Manitoba Jobs
and the Economy's Small Business Development Branch, Competitiveness Initiatives Branch and the Business Settlement
Office of the Business Immigration and Investment Branch.

The Agency is in the department of Growth Enterprise and Trade and is under the policy direction of the Minister and the
Deputy Minister. The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its operating charter in order to meet
business objectives.

Significant accounting policies

These financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards and including the following significant accounting policies:

Revenue recognition

Fees and services

Fees and services revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is complete or substantially complete and when
collection is reasonably assured.

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue when the transfer is
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as revenue in the period the
transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a
liability.

Other revenue
Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on an accrual basis.
Expenses

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on an accrual basis when the related goods or services are
received.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with original maturities of three
months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is
recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are deposits or investments with original maturities of greater than three months. These investments
are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the end of the fiscal year the
settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized
when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the Agency. These amounts are
normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition costs. The
costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Method Rate
System development costs straight-line 15 years
Furniture and fixtures straight-line 5 years
Computer equipment and straight-line 5 years
software
Leasehold improvements straight-line 5 years
Office equipment straight-line 5 years

In the year of acquisition amortization is taken at one-half of the rates noted above.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefits in future periods. The prepaid
amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or services are consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the supplies are used or consumed.
Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Areas requiring the use of significant estimates include the allowance for accounts receivable deemed uncollectible, useful
lives of tangible capital assets, provisions for loan guarantees and employee future benefits. Changes to the underlying
assumptions and estimates or legislative changes in the near term could have a material impact on the provisions
recognized. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are
reported in the statement of operations in the periods in which they become known.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments consist of deposits held with the Province of Manitoba, bearing interest at rates ranging from 1.17% to
1.72% per annum (2017 - 0.63% to 0.69% per annum), maturing between April 2018 and March 2019 (2017 - April 2017
and March 2018). Amounts with original maturities of three months or less are included in cash and cash equivalents.

Provision for loan guarantees

Effective April 1, 2013, responsibility for the Province's Manitoba Business Start Loan Guarantee Program was transferred
to the Agency. Losses on these loan guarantees are recorded in the accounts when it is likely that a payment will be made
to honour a guarantee and when the amount of the anticipated loss can be reasonably estimated. The amount of the
provision for loan losses is determined by taking into consideration the Program's historical loss experience and current
economic conditions. Any increase or decrease in the provision is recognized in operating expenses for the year.

Under The Loan Act, the Province guarantees loans up to $30 each made by participating financial institutions to new
owner-managed businesses operating in Manitoba. Business Start Loans are five year term loans at prime plus 1.00%
interest with a one year deferral on principal repayment. In the event of a Business Start Loan default within the five year
term, the lender can made a claim for the outstanding loan balance and up to 120 days of interest. When the Agency
makes a claim payment, the lender will assign the defaulted loan to the Agency, which allows for potential recovery from the
borrower by the Agency.

As at March 31, 2018, there is a revolving authorized limit of $5,000, with debt totaling $4,191 (2017 - $3,779) being
guaranteed under the Manitoba Business Start Loan Guarantee Program.

As at March 31, 2018, the Agency has recorded a provision of $922 for these loan guarantees (2017 - $879). The increase
in the provision of $43 (2017 - $48) represents the loan guarantee losses recognized as an expense during the year. In
addition, the Agency made total loan guarantee payments during the year of $159 (2017 - $227) for total loan guarantee
losses and payments during the year of $202 (2017 - $275).

As at March 31, 2018, no amounts receivable relating to defaulted loans assigned to the Agency are included in these
financial statements due to the uncertainty of recovering any amounts relating to these defaulted loans (2017 - $nil).
Recoveries, if any, will be recognized in the period in which payments are received.

Employee future benefits

Included in employee future benefits are severance benefits of $390 (2017 - $396) and sick pay benefits of $59 (2017 -
$59).

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service
Superannuation Act ("CSSA"), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined
benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government
of the Province of Manitoba (the "Province"), including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province, the Agency transferred to the Province the pension
liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to
its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2018 was $253 (2017 - $275). Under this agreement, the
Agency has no further pension liability.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

Employee future benefits (Continued from previous page)

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. The amount of
the severance benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may
determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected
and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service life ("EARSL") of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The report provides a formula to
update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the Agency's actuarially determined net liability for
accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is $390 (2017 - $396), with the total actuarial losses of $128 (2017 - $168)
based on the completed actuarial reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the determination of the March 31,
2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation include an annual rate of return of 3.80% (2017 - 6.00%)
and annual salary increases of 2.75% (2017 - 3.75%).

The severance liability as at March 31, 2018 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year 499 551
Current period service costs 31 33
Interest on accrued benefits 24 28
Severance benefits paid (72) (113)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 482 499
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (92) (103)
Severance benefit liability, end of year 390 396

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31, 2018 includes current period service costs of
$31 (2017 - $28), interest on accrued benefits of $24 (2017 - $33) and amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL of $11
(2017 - $11), for a total expense related to severance benefits of $66 (2017 - $72).

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued benefit liability related
to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The
valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a
6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2018
based on the valuation model is $59 (2017 - $59). The increase in the sick leave liability of $nil (2017 - $nil) represents the
total sick leave benefit expense for the year.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority ("SOAFA") on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt instruments listed below on behalf
of the Agency.

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act Authority are repayable in quarterly instalments of principal and
interest as follows:

2018 2017

Loan repayable in quarterly instalments of $33 plus interest at 4.00% per annum, maturing 399 532
in 2021

Loan repayable in quarterly instalments of $49 plus interest at 3.00% per annum, maturing 788 985
in 2022

1,187 1,517

Interest is measured using the effective interest method. Approximate scheduled principal payments in each of the next
four years are as follows (in thousands):

2019 330
2020 330
2021 330
2022 197

Tangible capital assets

2018
Accumulated Net book
Cost Additions Disposals amortization value
System development costs 6,330 454 - 229 6,555
Furniture and fixtures 151 - - 143 8
Computer equipment and software 118 - - 118 -
Leasehold improvements 40 - - 40 -
Office equipment 27 - - 19 8
6,666 454 - 549 6,571
2017
Accumulated Net book
Cost Additions Disposals  amortization value
System development costs 5,245 1,085 - - 6,330
Furniture and fixtures 146 5 - 141 10
Computer equipment and software 118 - - 118 -
Leasehold improvements 40 - - 40 -
Office equipment 22 5 - 18 9
5,571 1,095 - 317 6,349
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

10.

Designated assets

As at March 31, 2018, the Agency has a total of $1,075 (2017 - $1,075) of its cash and cash equivalents and portfolio
investments designated for specific purposes as described below.

The Agency has allocated $218 of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash received from the Province of
Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the former Companies Office prior to its designation as a
Special Operating Agency and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain employees. In
addition, $213 was received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation and severance benefits transferred to the Agency
relating to the reorganization effective April 1, 2013. These amounts are held in interest bearing trust accounts until the
cash is required to discharge the related liabilities for severance and vacation entitlements. Any unused balance is re-
invested annually.

Also relating to the reorganization effective April 1, 2013, $644 was received from the Province of Manitoba for the total
provision for loan guarantees transferred to the Agency as of this date. This amount is also held in an interest bearing
account until cash is required to discharge the related liabilities for loan guarantees.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency transferred $7,609 (2017 -
$2,500) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba. These amounts are recorded as an expense in the statement of
operations.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value or denominated in a
foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or losses during the year (2017 - $nil).
Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk; market risk;
interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to
another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.

The carrying amount of the Agency’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments best
represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the cash and
cash equivalents and portfolio investments are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the accounts receivable is due
from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk
through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that best represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions regarding current market
conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past
due accounts are allowed for or written off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March 31, 2018 is $nil
(2017 - $nil). The entire balance of accounts receivable was current as of March 31, 2018.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages the liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the Province of Manitoba
to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

10.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (Continued from previous page)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will affect the
Agency's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk of cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low due to their short-term nature. The interest rate
risk on portfolio investments is considered to be low as the original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with
similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not
have any significant financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency.
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Entrepreneurship Manitoba

Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operating Expenses
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
Advertising and brochures - 17
Audit fees 12 6
BSI allocation 195 502
Bad debts - 1
Bank and credit card charges 84 77
Commissioner for Oath and Notary Public fees 133 148
Communications and telephone 74 73
Computer expenses 82 238
Computer programming 123 248
Conference and convention registration fees 4 1
Desktop support costs 253 237
Disaster recovery and electronic storage 60 47
Education and training expenses 5 16
Equipment maintenance and rentals 7 6
Grants and sponsorships 1 68
Hall rentals 10 15
Hospitality - 1
Insurance 13 13
Interest on long-term debt 47 58
Legal services 25 68
Library materials 1 18
Loan guarantee losses and payments 202 275
Manitoba Business Links - net of recoveries 323 201
Miscellaneous 83 82
Name search applications 221 167
New system maintenance 125 -
Occupancy 293 299
Payroll processing 21 22
Postage and courier 116 81
Promotional materials 1 1
Publications 3 18
Seminar hall rental 2 13
Stationery 81 100
Subscriptions 10 25
Translation services 1 -
Travel and transportation 62 40
Website hosting fees 4 -
Workshops 25 43
2,712 3,225
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Food Development Centre
and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available
as at May 23, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Food Development Centre and
to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Food Development Centre have been audited by Magnus LLP, Chartered
Professional Accountants, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an
independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Food Development Centre are fairly represented
in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent
Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the financial
statements.

On behalf of Management of
Food Development Centre

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Robin Young Mike Lalla
Acting Chief Operating Officer Manager of Support Services

Box 1240 e 810 Phillips Street s Portage la Prairie, Manitoba e RIN 3]J9
Toll-Free 1-800-870-1044 o Ph. (204) 239-3150 ¢ Fax (204) 239-3180
A Special Operating Agency of Manitoba Agriculture
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CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

ADVISORY - ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING - TAXATION - TRANSACTION CONSULTING

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Food Development Centre

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Food Development Centre, an agency of the
Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and
the statements of operations, change in net (debt) financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Food Development Centre as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 23, 2018
Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 439 $ 825
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 199 581
Portfolio investments 41 41
679 1,447
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 248 298
Deferred revenue 62 122
Accrued vacation and overtime entitlements 259 292
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 381 371
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 1,091 1,314
2,041 2,397
Net (debt) financial assets (1,362) (950)
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 7,865 8,799
Prepaid expenses 20 33
7,885 8,832
Accumulated surplus $ 6,523 $ 7,882

Designated assets (Note 10)
Subsequent event (Notes 8 and 14)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Grants:
Province of Manitoba operating grant $ 2020 $ 2,020 2,020
Other grants 193 193 193
2,213 2,213 2,213
Fee for service 1,171 684 1,080
Lease revenue 441 83 358
Administration fees (Note 11) 953 864 871
Other - 4 4
Investment income 2 4 3
4,780 3,852 4,529
Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,634 2,535 2,456
Supplies and project expenses 188 191 208
Purchased services 85 92 64
Travel and transportation 66 37 35
Courier and freight 37 27 34
Marketing 51 29 36
Library publications 5 4 6
Occupancy expenses 455 349 360
Ag Weather Progam (Note 11) 200 149 144
Administrative expenses (Schedule 1) 959 891 1,019
4,680 4,304 4,362
Net income (loss) before the following: 100 (452) 167
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,342 925 973
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital
assets (Note 9) - (18) 25
Write-down of tangible capital assets (Note 9) - - 646
1,342 907 1,644
Net (loss) for the year (1,242) (1,359) (1,477)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 8,170 7,882 9,359
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 6,928 § 6,523 7,882

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net (Debt) Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Net (loss) for the year $ (1,242) $ (1,359) § (1,477)
Tangible capital assets:

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (242) - (60)

Disposals and write-downs of tangible capital assets - 9 696

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,342 925 973
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 1,100 934 1,609
Other non-financial assets:

Decrease in prepaid expenses - 13 6
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 13 6
(Decrease) increase in net (debt) financial assets (142) (412) 138
Net (debt) financial assets, beginning of year (1,242) (950) (1,088)
Net (debt) financial assets, end of year $ (1,384) $ (1,362) $ (950)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net (loss) for the year $ (1,359) $ (1,477)
Adjustments for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 925 973
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (18) 25
Write-down of tangible capital assets - 646
(452) 167
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 382 894
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (50) (224)
Deferred revenue (60) (79)
Accrued vacation and overtime entitlements (33) 40
Employee future benefits 10 46
Prepaid expenses 13 6
Cash (applied to) provided by operating activities (190) 850
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (60)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 27 25
Cash provided by (applied to) capital activities 27 (35)
Financing activities:
Repayment of borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (223) (193)
Cash (applied to) financing activities (223) (193)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (386) 622
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 825 203
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 439 § 825

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

1.

Nature of organization

Established in 1978, as part of the Manitoba Research Council, the Food Development Centre (the
"Centre") serves the agri-food industry by providing a wide range of services including food product
development, research, testing and assistance with technology transfer to enable the industry to
efficiently and economically produce high quality foods.

Effective April 1, 1996, the Centre was designated as a Special Operating Agency by regulation
under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

The Centre is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Centre's operations. The Financing Authority finances the Centre through repayable loans and
working capital advances. This financial framework enables the Centre to operate in a business-like
manner according to public policy expectations. A Management Agreement between the Financing
Authority and the Minister of Rural Development, being the Minister responsible for the Centre at that
time, assigned responsibility to the Centre to manage and account for the Centre related assets and
operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Centre is part of the Department of Manitoba Agriculture under the general direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister and a General Manager/Chief Operating Officer, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister. The Centre remains bound by relevant legislation and
regulations. An Advisory Board with representation from the food industry, clients of the Centre,
academia and Government provides direction on policy and operating activities.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.




FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue (continued)

Fee for service

Fee for service revenue is recognized when the services provided are complete or substantially
complete and when collection is reasonably assured.

Lease revenue

Lease revenue is recognized on the accrual basis according to the terms of the underlying lease
agreement(s).

Administration fees

Administration fees are recognized on the accrual basis in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the underlying agreement(s).

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on the accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term deposits and investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Non-financial assets

(f)

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Centre. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefits in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or
services are consumed.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Method Rate
Equipment - commercial and product development  Straight-line 10-15 years
Computer hardware and software Straight-line 5 years
Building improvements Straight-line 25 years

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Centre records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Centre also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they
become known. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Centre with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $370 was used at March 31, 2018 (2017 - $210).

5. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2018 2017
Trade accounts receivable $ 275 % 366
Other receivables 40 28
Due from the Growing Forward 2 Program (Note 11) 65 362
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 12) (181) (175)
$ 199 $ 581

6. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2018 2017

Trade payables and accrued liabilities $ 245  $ 288
Provincial sales and goods and services taxes payable 3 10

$ 248  $ 298
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7. Employee future benefits

2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 347 $ 325
Sick pay benefits 34 46
$ 381 $ 371

Pension benefits

Employees of the Centre are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Centre, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Centre
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Centre was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2018 was $234 (2017 - $255). Under
this agreement, the Centre has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Centre began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in the actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized
over the expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Centre's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is $347
(2017 - $325), with the total net actuarial losses of $47 (2017 - $18) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00% (2017 - 2.00%)
Real rate of return 1.80% (2017 - 4.00%)

3.80% (2017 - 6.00%)

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00% (2017 - 1.00%)
Annual general salary increase 2.75% (2017 - 2.75%)

3.75% (2017 - 3.75%)
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

The severance benéefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 340 % 298
Actuarial losses 29 -
Current period service costs 29 24
Interest on accrued severance benefits 14 18
Severance benefits paid (23) -
Accrued benéefit liability, end of year 389 340
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (42) (15)
Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 347  $ 325

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2018 were $23 (2017 - $nil). The
total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2018 2017
Current period service costs $ 29 $ 24
Interest on accrued severance benefits 14 18
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 2 1
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 45 $ 43

Sick pay benefits

The Centre provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2017 - 5.00%) annual
return and a 1.50% (2017 - 1.50%) annual salary increase. The Centre's sick leave benefit liability at
March 31, 2018 is $34 (2017 - $46). The (decrease) increase in the sick leave benefit liability of
$(12) (2017 - increase of $2) represents the total sick leave benefit (recovery) expense for the year.
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8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural
Development, the Centre is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt instruments
listed below on behalf of the Centre.

Borrowings obtained through the use of the available Loan Act Authority are repayable in annual
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2018 2017
5.8% repayable in annual instalments of $18 principal
plus interest, maturing in April 2017 $ - $ 18
5.625% repayable in annual instalments of $175
principal plus interest, maturing in May 2019 350 525

Currently interest only at prime less 0.75% payable
quarterly with no scheduled principal repayments,
maturing in March 2031 741 771

$ 1,091 § 1,314

Interest is measured using the effective interest method.

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Centre made principal payments of $30 (2017 - $nil) on
the loan with no scheduled principal repayments. Subsequent to year end, this loan was paid in full
by the Centre (see Note 14).

Approximate scheduled principal repayments in each of the next five years, or until maturity, are as
follows:

Year Amount

2019 $ 175
2020 175
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9. Tangible capital assets

2018
Opening Write-downs/ Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 6,252 §$ - $ (102) $ 6,150
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,108 - - 14,108
$ 20456 § - % (102) $ 20,354
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ (4,415) $ (380) $ 93 § (4,702)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (7,146) (545) - (7,691)
$ (1657) § (925) § 93 § (12,489)
Net book value $ 8,799 § (925) $ 9 $ 7,865

As at March 31, 2018, the total net book value of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization is
$106 (2017 - $106).

2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 6,935 § 13  § (696) $ 6,252
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 14,061 47 - 14,108
$ 21092 § 60 % (696) $ 20,456
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ (4,006) $ (409) $ - $ (4,415)
Computer hardware and software (96) - - (96)
Building improvements (6,582) (564) - (7,146)
$ (10,684) 973) § - § (11,657)
Net book value $ 10,408 § 913) $ (696) $ 8,799

During the year ended March 31, 2017, commercial and product development equipment with an
original cost of $696 was written down to its estimated value of $50 resulting in a write-down of $646
recognized as an expense for the year. Subsequently, the asset was sold for proceeds of $25
resulting in a loss on disposal of $25.
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10. Designated assets

1.

The Centre has allocated $41 (2017 - $41) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the Centre
prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for
certain employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to
discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Administration fees

The Centre has total administration fee revenue of $864 (2017 - $871) from administering the
following programs during the year:

(a)

(b)

Growing Forward 2 Program

The Centre has been authorized by Treasury Board to administer the non-business risk
management programs under the joint Canada-Manitoba Growing Forward 2 Framework
Agreement (the "Growing Forward 2 Program") and to collect an administration fee for these
services. The Centre's administration of the Growing Forward 2 Program runs from April 1, 2013
to March 31, 2018.

The administration fee under the current Growing Forward 2 Program is based on recoveries of
certain expenses included in a Memorandum of Understanding between the Centre and
Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural Development, now Manitoba Agriculture. The recoveries include
specified percentages of certain salaries and administrative costs incurred by the Centre as well
as full recovery of any direct program costs. The total administration fees received or receivable
for the year ended March 31, 2018 pursuant to the Growing Forward 2 Program are $700 (2017 -
$713), with $407 (2017 - $346) being recoveries of direct salaries and program costs. Amounts
due from the Growing Forward 2 Program are non-interest bearing with no formal terms of
repayment. The total amount due from the Growing Forward 2 Program as at March 31, 2018 is
$65 (2017 - $362).

Although the Growing Forward 2 Program is administered by the Centre, control of the program
remains with the Government of Canada, Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food. Therefore,
the financial statements of the Growing Forward 2 Program have not been consolidated into the
financial statements of the Centre. As at March 31, 2018, the total funds on deposit relating to
Growing Forward 2 funding is $10,555 (2017 - $10,640). These funds are not included in the
financial statements of the Centre.

Ag Weather Program

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between Manitoba Agri-Food and Rural
Development (MAFRD), Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation (MIT) and the Centre, the
Centre is administering the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT pursuant to a partnership
agreement between MAFRD and MIT relating to an enhanced wireless network of weather
monitoring stations in Manitoba. Given the strategic relationship between MAFRD and MIT to
improve weather information to Manitoba clients, the Centre has been authorized to administer
the incremental operating costs incurred by MIT in order to ensure the administration is
consistent with the existing Growing Forward 2 initiative (above). The administration fee under
the current Ag Weather Program is based on 10% of all funds administered on behalf of MIT.
The Centre's administration of the Ag Weather Program runs from April 28, 2015 to March 31,
2018. For the year ended March 31, 2018, total expenses incurred by the Centre relating to the
Ag Weather Program amounted to $149 (2017 - $144) resulting in total administration fees
received or receivable of $164 (2017 - $158).
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Centre does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Centre did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2017 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Centre has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Centre to
credit risk are cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Centre to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 439 $ 825
Accounts receivable 199 581
Portfolio investments 41 41
$ 679 $ 1,447

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by a reputable Canadian financial institution and by the Minister of
Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base or related entities and payment in full is typically collected when due. The Centre
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Centre establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2018 is $181 (2017 - $175) with
changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year as follows:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of the year $ 175  $ 80
Provision for receivable impairment 6 102
Amounts written off during the year - (7)
Balance, end of the year $ 181 $ 175

Bad debt expense (recovery) for the year ended March 31, 2018 includes $8 of recoveries relating to
accounts receivable balances previously written off (2017 - $nil) for total bad debt expense (recovery)
for the year of $(2) (2017 - expense of $102).
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12.

13.

14.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31,
2018 is as follows:

Accounts

Receivable Allowance Net
Current $ 145  $ 4) $ 141
30-60 days past the billing date 53 (11) 42
61-90 days past the billing date 5 (5) -
Over 90 days past the billing date 177 (161) 16
Balance, end of the year $ 380 $ (181) $ 199

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Centre manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Centre’s net income (loss) or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Centre is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.

Comparative information

Certain of the amounts from the year ended March 31, 2017 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.

Subsequent event

Subsequent to year end, the Centre received a government transfer in the amount of $741 which was
authorized prior to year end with the eligibility requirement that the transfer be recognized as revenue
and used for the repayment of debt in the year ending March 31, 2019 (see Note 8). Therefore, this
transfer has not been accrued in the financial statements of the Centre for its year ended March 31,
2018.
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Schedule of Administrative Expenses Schedule 1
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018
2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Accreditation and licensing fees $ 8 7 9 7
Advisory committee fees 1 1 1
Bad debt expense (recovery) 15 (2) 102
Bank charges 5 4 4
Computer expenses 125 120 107
Equipment rental and repairs 179 139 135
Insurance 90 73 80
Interest on borrowings 46 37 46
Memberships 4 4 5
Office supplies and telephone 59 45 58
Professional fees 40 80 36
Property taxes 288 292 288
Repairs and maintenance 60 71 131
Training 39 20 19
$ 959 891 $ 1,019




GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For The Periods Ended April 12, 2017 and March 31, 2017

(Unaudited)



GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Financial Position

(In Thousands)
As at April 12,2017 and March 31, 2017
(Unaudited)
April 12, March 31,
2017 2017
(Note 2)
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash $ - $ 2,677
Accounts receivable = =
- 2,677
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals - 16S
Severance liability - 3s
Deferred Revenue - 5
- 208
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS ~ 2,472

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $ - 5 2,472




GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies IFinancing Authority Province of Manitoba)

State ment of Opcrations

(In Thousands)
For the Periods Ended April 12,2017 and March 31, 2017
(Unaudited)
12 days ended Year ended
April 12, March 31,
2017 2017
Actual Actual
(Note 2)
REVENUE
Funding 3 50 $ 2,654
EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion - 21
Computer - 63
Contracted services - 41
Office 18 26
Professional fees - 20
Program supplies and services 1,788 1,877
Salaries and benefits - 736
Training - 6
Travel - 14
1,806 2,804
Annual deficit before the transfer ot net assets to SOAFA (1,756) (150)
Transfer of net assets to SOAFA (Note 2) 716 i
Annual deficit (2:472) (120)
2.472 2,622
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD i v
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF PERIOD $ - _§ 2472




GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Period Ended April 12, 2017

(Unaudited)

I.  NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) was designated
as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to the Special Operating Agencies
Financial Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185). Green Manitoba operates under a charter
approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Green Manitoba promotes sustainability practices by bringing together all partners
(government, business and other stakeholder organizations) and in doing so achieves more
than if each had acted alone. Green Manitoba serves as the access point for the public to
acquire information about provincial sustainability issues. The SOA delivers programs
and services related to waste reduction, climate change action, environmental
sustainability education and water conservation.

Green Manitoba is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
(SOAFA). SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting
from Green Manitoba's operations. It finances Green Manitoba through repayable loans
and working capital advances. The financial framework enables Green Manitoba to
operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations. A management
agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Sustainable Development
assigns responsibility to Green Manitoba to manage and account for agency-related assets
and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

Green Manitoba is part of the Department of Sustainable Development and operates under
policy direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Environmental Stewardship Division.
Green Manitoba remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations, as well as by
administrative policy except where specitic exemptions have been provided for in its
charter in order to meet business objectives.

2. REVOCATION OF SOA DESIGNATION

The designation of the Agency as a special operating agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act was revoked by a Manitoba Order in Council dated
April 5, 2017 and its operating charter was cancclled effective the end of the day April 12,
2017. As at the end of the day on April 12, 2017, the net assets of the Agency were
transferred to SOAFA. Effective April 13, 2017, the former operations of the Agency will
continue to operate as a branch of the Department of Sustainable Development.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Industrial
Technology Centre (ITC) and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of ITC are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion.

On behalf of Management
Industrial Technology Centre (ITC)

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Trevor Cornell David Olafson
Chief Operating Officer Manager Corporate Services

May 8, 2018
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Fax: 204 926 7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY
CENTRE, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, change in net debt and cash
flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY CENTRE, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

BDO Comde 11/

Chartered Professional Accountants
Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 8, 2018

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms.



Industrial Technology Centre

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

March 31, March 31,
2018 2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 371 229
Accounts receivable 279 265
Portfolio investments 103 103
753 597
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 304 347
Unearned revenue - -
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 332 342
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) - -
636 689
Net Debt 117 92)
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 48 50
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 425 638
473 688
Accumulated Surplus $ 590 596

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Revenue
Province of Manitoba
Fee for senice
Other
Total revenue

Expense
Adwvertising and promotion

Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

Amortization of tangible capital assets

Audit and legal

Bad debts

Building maintenance
Computer

Equipment

Fees and memberships
Insurance

Interest and senice charges

Library
Office
Professional development

Project supplies and subcontract

Purchased senices
Rent and property tax
Salaries and benefits
Travel

Utilities

Total expense

Annual deficit, before transfer of funds to the Province of

Manitoba

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

Annual deficit

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year

Accumulated surplus, end of year

The accompanying notes are an

2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
$ 730 $ 730 $ 730
2,004 1,948 1,818
57 65 60
2,791 2,743 2,608
49 48 55
233 236 262
12 13 8
2 - -
55 73 69
20 18 23
58 98 64
37 36 37
35 37 35
5 5 5
19 18 20
47 45 47
20 1 6
79 91 60
5 5 5
294 293 296
1,748 1,647 1,685
25 33 34
48 52 53
2,791 2,749 2,764
- (6) (156)
- - 100
- (6) (256)
665 596 852
$ 665 $ 590 $ 596

integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Annual deficit $ - $ (6) (256)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (175) (23) (131)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 233 236 262
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 58 213 131
Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expense - 2 (9)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 2 (9
(Increase) decrease in net debt 58 209 (134)
Net debt, beginning of year (58) (92) 42
Net debt, end of year $ - $ 117 (92)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating
Annual deficit $ (6) (256)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 236 262
230 6
Change in:
Accounts receivable (14) (55)
Accounts payable and accruals (43) (52)
Unearned revenue - -
Employee future benefits (10) 17
Prepaid expenses 2 (9)
Cash provided by (applied to) operating activities 165 (93)
Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (23) (131)
Cash applied to capital activities (23) (131)
Increase (decrease) in cash 142 (224)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 229 453
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 371 229

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

1.

Nature of Organization

The Industrial Technology Centre (ITC) was established in 1979 under "Enterprise Manitoba", a joint
Federal/Provincial cost-shared funding agreement. ITC was managed by the Manitoba Research Council
until September 1992 when responsibility for ITC was transferred to the Economic Innovation & Technology
Council (EITC). ITC was created as a technical resource for Manitoba industry and government and
continues to provide a wide range of technical services to both the private and public sectors.

Effective April 1, 1996, ITC was designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M., and operates under a charter approved
by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. ITC operates as part of Manitoba Growth, Enterprise and Trade
under the general direction of the Executive Director, Enterprise.

ITC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has the
mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances ITC
through working capital advances. The financial framewaork allows the Agency to operate in a business-like
manner, which is facilitated by SOA status.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister Growth, Enterprise and Trade assigns
responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and operations on behalf
of SOAFA.

An Economic Development Contribution Agreement between ITC and Manitoba Growth, Enterprise and
Trade defines expected public policy benefits generated from ITC's operations.

ITC has full delegated authority for all administrative, financial and operational matters. This delegation is
subject to any limitations, restrictions, conditions and requirements imposed by legislation or by the
Minister.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant Accounting Policies
a. Revenue

0] Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

(i)  Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title and risk of
loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is
completed or substantially completed.

(i)  Other Revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

0] Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(i)  Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

C. Financial Assets

0] Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

3.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
d. Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of
the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other
form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

0] Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are
amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line

Office and laboratory equipment 20% straight-line

Computer equipment and software 20% straight-line

Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line
f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

4.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost
or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include
accounts payable and accruals and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations.
Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (Nil in 2017).
Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk

consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $371 $ 229
Accounts receivable 279 265
Portfolio investments 103 103
$ 753 $ 597

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a Chartered Bank.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a large
client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk
through close monitoring of overdue accounts.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

4.  Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March 31,
2018 was $20.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the Province
of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit,
portfolio investments and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. The
interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested at rates
for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its long-term debt.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

5.  Working Capital Advances
The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advance up to a maximum of $300. As at March 31,

2018 working capital advances were nil (Nil in 2017). The line bears interest at prime less 1% and is not
secured by specific assets.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

6. Employee Future Benefits

2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 310 $ 319
Sick pay benefits 22 23
$332 $ 342

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service
and to participating agencies of the Government, including ITC, through the Civil Service Superannuation
Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the Province an
amount equal to the current pension contributions of its employees. The amount paid for 2018 is $106
(2017 - $111). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the responsibility of the Province, and the
Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees.
The amount of its severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial
valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when
actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used.
The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of
the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The report provides
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency’s actuarially determined net liability for
accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is $310 ($319 in 2017), with an actuarial adjustment being
amortized over the 15-year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the determination
of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, were:

Discount rate 3.80%
Assumed salary increase rates - annual productivity increase 1.00%
- annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%




Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

6. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 310 $ 284
Actuarial loss 35 -
Benefits accrued 10 10
Interest on accrued benefits 13 16
Severance paid (29) -
Balance, end of year 339 310
Add: Unamortized actuarial gains (losses) (29) 9
Severance benefit liability $ 310 $ 319

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation $13 $16
Current period benefit cost 10 10
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL (3) 3
Total expense related to severance benefit $20 $23

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined using a valuation
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and
actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 3.80% discount rate and a 3.75% annual salary
increase.

7. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

The Industrial Technology Centre has authorized loan authority of $250 under The Loan Act, 2017. This
loan authority is unutilized as at March 31, 2018.



Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 33 $ - $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,776 11 - 2,787
Computer equipment and
software 455 12 - 467
Leasehold improvements 290 - 290
3,554 23 - 3,577
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 33 - - 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,253 204 - 2,457
Computer equipment and
software 406 22 - 428
Leasehold improvements 224 10 - 234
2,916 236 - 3,152
Net $ 638 $ (213) $ - $ 425
2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 33 $ - $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,674 102 - 2,776
Computer equipment and
software 436 19 - 455
Leasehold improvements 280 10 - 290
3,423 131 - 3,554
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 29 4 - 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 2,028 225 - 2,253
Computer equipment and
software 382 24 - 406
Leasehold improvements 215 9 - 224
2,654 262 - 2,916

Net $ 769 $ (131) $ - $ 638




Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

9.

10.

Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $103 ($103 in 2017) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
severance pay benefits. The Agency has received $103 of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held
in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused
balance is reinvested annually.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement for the rental of a building at Smartpark, with space of
19,032 square feet.

Estimated minimum lease payments for each of the next five years are as follows:

2019 $194
2020 194
2021 194
2022 194

2023 194
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Manitoba
Education, Research and Learning Information Networks ("MERLIN") and have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the
financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available to the date of the audit report

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of MERLIN are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination
and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management of MERLIN:

Original Document Signed

Kiley Bender, Acting Chief Operating Officer

Original Document Signed

David Olafson, Controller

May 11, 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Manitoba Education, Research and Learning
Information Networks, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba which comprise the statement of financial
position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, change in net debt, and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Manitoba
Education, Research and Learning Information Networks, An Agency of the Government of Manitoba as at
March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

BDo G—.-Q_QL

Chartered Professional Accountants

e

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 11, 2018

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms,



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands)

March 31 2018 2017

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 1,443 $ 384
Accounts receivable 526 452
Portfolio investments 47 47
2,016 883
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 470 511
Unearned revenue 1,485 856
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 171 165
2,126 1,622
Net debt (110) (639)
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 437 590
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 638 655
1,075 1,245
Accumulated surplus $ 965 $ 606
e e e e e e e e e e ——

Designated assets (Note 9)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue
Province of Manitoba $ 346 $ 346 S 346
Fee for goods and services 5,111 5,284 5,300
Other - 12 2
5,457 5,642 5,648

Expense
Advertising and promotion 16 10 20
Amortization of tangible capital assets 313 323 272
Audit and legal fees 14 11 12
Communication and bandwidth 259 194 194
Cost of purchases for resale 2,109 2,211 2,421
Course delivery 90 34 54
Equipment repair and maintenance 340 3 318
Manitoba Network connections 660 829 715
Occupancy 77 76 75
Office and miscellaneous 49 35 43
Professional development 20 1 2
Purchased services 81 - 30
Salaries and benefits 1,409 1,177 1,235
Travel 20 11 13
5,457 5,283 5,404
Annual surplus - 359 244
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 482 606 362
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 482 $ 965 $ 606

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
(in Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

Annual surplus $ - $ 359 % 244
Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (300) (306) (280)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 313 323 272
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 13 17 (8)
Other Non-financial Assets

Decrease in prepaid expenses 135 153 152
Decrease in net debt 148 529 388
Net debt, beginning of year (725) (639) (1,027)
Net debt, end of year $ (577) § (110) § (639)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2017

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating Activities
Annual surplus $ 359 § 244
Amortization of tangible capital assets 323 272
682 516
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (74) (796)
Accounts payable and accruals (41) 180
Unearned revenue 629 513
Employee future benefits 16 13
Prepaid expenses 153 152
Cash provided by operating activities 1,365 578
Capital Activities
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (306) (280)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,059 298
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 384 86
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,443 §$ 384
-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

1.

Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1995, Manitoba Education, Research and Learning Information Networks (the
"Agency") was designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap $185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved
by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2015, Agency operates as part of
Finance under the general direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Agency's operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital
advances. This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business-like manner
according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Finance assigns responsibility
to the Agency to manage and account for Agency related assets and operations on behalf of
SOAFA.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

The Agency is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba as it derives much of its
revenue and all of its financing requirements from the Province.
Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized
as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are
recognized as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to
a liability.

Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title
and risk of loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the
rendering of services is completed or substantially completed.

Other Revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

(i)

(ii)

Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the
transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

C.

Financial Assets

(i) Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than
three months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or
use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount
ultimately payable.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

(i) Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are payments of goods or services which will provide economic

benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as
well as other acquisition costs. The cost of tangible capital assets, less any residual
are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:;

Computer hardware 25%, straight-line
Computer software 25%, straight-line
Equipment and furniture 20%, straight-line

Leaseholds 20%, straight-line



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f.  Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities
at cost, which include accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the year
the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains and losses during the years ended March
31,2018 and 2017.

inancial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

4,

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and
portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,443 $ 384

Accounts receivable 526 452

Portfolio investments 47 47

Maximum exposure to credit risk $ 2,016 $ 883
e

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance,

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The allowance for doubtful accounts balance at March 31, 2018 was $5.
Liguidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

4,

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

Working Capital Advances

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advances up to $2.0 million. As at March
31, 2018 working capital advances were $NIL ($NIL in 2017). The line bears interest at prime
less 1% and is not secured by specific assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the Province of Manitoba,
which are made up of term deposits with maturities of up to three months.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

7.

Employee Future Benefits

2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 154 $ 141
Sick pay benefits 17 14
$ 171 $ 155
—

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of
the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide
benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the
Government, including the Manitoba Education, Research & Learning Information Network,
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the
Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of their employees. The amount
paid for 2018 was $82 ($93 in 2017). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the
responsibility of the Province, and the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for
its employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilites may determine that adjustments are
needed to the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected
and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or
losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee
group.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency's actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 was $154 ($141 in
2017), with an actuarial adjustment being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation
were.

Annual rate of return:

Discount rate 3.80%
[——]

Annual salary increase rates:

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
[ e ——— ]

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes to following components:

2018 2017

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 146 § 135
Actuarial loss 36 -
Benefits accrued 5 4
Interest on accrued benefits 7 8
Severance paid - (1)
Balance, end of year 194 146
Less unamortized actuarial losses (40) (5)

Severance benefit liability $ 154 3 141




MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Severance Benefits (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following

components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation $ 7 9% 8
Current period benefit cost 5 4
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 2 2
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 14 $ 14

Sick Pay Benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee
demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a
3.80% discount rate and a 3.75% annual salary increase.



MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING
INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Computer hardware $ 2,052 $ 284 $ - $ 2,336
Computer software 110 22 - 132
Equipment and furniture 48 - - 48
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
2,230 306 - 2,536

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 1,408 317 - 1,725
Computer software 102 5 - 107
Equipment and furniture 45 1 - 46
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,575 323 - 1,898
Net book value $ 655 § (17) $ - $ 638

P P P A A i
2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Computer hardware $ 1,772 § 280 §% - % 2,052
Computer software 110 - - 110
Equipment and furniture 48 - - 48
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,950 280 - 2,230

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware 1,141 267 - 1,408
Computer software 99 3 - 102
Equipment and furniture 43 2 - 45
Leaseholds 20 - - 20
1,303 272 - 1,575
Net book value $ 647 $ 8 % - $ 655




MANITOBA EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND LEARNING

INFORMATION NETWORKS

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

9. Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $47 ($47 in 2017) of its portfolio investments as designated assets
for cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitements earned by
employees of the Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is reinvested annually.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the
MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have
been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s
best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report
date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are
followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY are fairly represented in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's
Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management
MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Original Document Signed
Donald G. Murray, CAQ, MFSA Chair and CEQ, MSC

Original Document Signed
Marlene Nemes, CPA, CMA, Controller

May 11, 2018

Date



Tel: 204-956-7200 BDO Canada LLP
B D Fax: 204-926-7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Toll-Free: 866-863-6601 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

www.bdo.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES
AGENCY, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the
statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Other Matter

We have not audited, reviewed or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of
the schedules or exhibits on pages 15- 16 of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY's
financial statements.

Epod Cq_..q:_o@a_,_u,

Chartered Professional Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 11, 2018

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31 2018 2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 21,532 $ 21,506
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 1156 71
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019
22,666 22,596
Liabilities |
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 77 33
Accrued vacation entitlements 310 302
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 522 500
909 835
Net financial assets 21,757 21,761
Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 55 72
Prepaid expenses 61 52
116 124
Accumulated surplus $ 21,873 3 21,885

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Fees $ 18,493 § 21,772 § 20,760
Interest 65 170 114
Miscellaneous 15 98 28
18,573 22,040 20,902
Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 24 25 27
CSA initiatives* 105 70 71
Contract services 390 254 278
Education/Information initiatives 122 50 45
Miscellaneous 37 26 25
Office materials and supplies 74 69 69
Premises 557 557 547
Professional services 122 109 303
Research resources 54 68 46
Salaries and benefits 4,196 3,659 3,806
Staff development and professional dues 58 39 30
Telecommunications 81 75 77
Travel 91 51 84
5,911 5,052 5,408
Annual operating surplus 12,662 16,988 15,494
Transfer to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 12,000 12,000 11,800
Annual surplus 662 4,988 3,694
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 21,885 21,885 23,191
Additional Transfer to the Province of
Manitoba (Note 11) 5,000 5,000 5,000
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 17,547 $ 21,873 $ 21,885
e e et Ty

* Canadian Securities Administrators

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

Annual surplus $ 662 $ 4988 § 3,694
Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (10) (8) -

Amortization of tangible capital assets 24 25 27
Net change in tangible capital assets 14 17 27
Other Non-financial Assets

(Decrease) increase in prepaid expense - (9) 113
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (9) 113
Increase in net financial assets 676 4,996 3,834
Net financial assets, beginning of year 18,102 21,761 22,927
Additional transfer to the Province of Manitoba (5,000) (5,000) (5,000)
Net financial assets, end of year $ 13,778 § 21,757 § 21,761

S ——

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2017

Cash provided by (applied to):

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Annual surplus $ 4,988 $ 3,694
Amortization of tangible capital assets 25 27
5,013 3,721
Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable (44) (45)
Prepaid expenses (9) 113
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 44 (161)
Accrued vacation entitlements 8 1
Accrued salaries and benefits - (227)
Employee future benefits 22 46
5,034 3,448

Cash Flows from Capital Activities
Acquisition of capital assets (8) -

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Transfer to Province of Manitoba (5,000) (5,000)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 26 (1,552)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 21,506 23,058
Esh and cash equivalents, end of year N— $ 21,532 § 21,506

Supplementary Information
Interest received $ 147 % 113

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1999 the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Manitoba Securities
Commission ("Commission”) as a special operating agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185) by Order in Council No. 144/1999. The
Order also gave approval to the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and the
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the
Commission, at that time, to enter into a Management Agreement with respect to the Agency.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Manitoba
Securities Commission in delivering regulated services to clients. The Manitoba Securities
Commission subsequently came under the umbrella of the Finance Department with the
Minister of Finance responsible responsible for the Agency.

The Manitoba Financial Services Agency, a Special Operating Agency (SOA), was established
as of October 1, 2012 by Order in Council. The Manitoba Securities Commission
(Commission) was merged with Financial Institutions Regulation Branch (FIRB) to form The
Manitoba Financial Securities Agency (MFSA). The Commission and FIRB now operate as
divisions of the MFSA. The Chief Administrative Officer of the MFSA is also the Chair of the
Commission. The Minister of Finance continues to be responsible for the Agency.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue

Fees and cost recoveries are recognized when received. Investment income is recorded in
accordance with terms of the related investment.

Expenses
(a) All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(b) Government transfers are recognized as expenditures in the period in which the transfers
are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial Assets

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial Assets

(a) Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year
the goods or services are consumed.

(b) Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well
as other acquisition cost. Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized over their
useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 20% straight-line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line
Computer hardware 20% straight-line
Computer software 20% straight-line

The half-year rule is used in the year of acquisition.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets and liabilities at cost, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost, which include working capital advances and accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Financial Risk Management Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and
portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,532 § 21,506
Accounts receivable 115 71
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019

$ 22,666 $ 22,5696
_

Cash, cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as receivables
consist of accrued interest owing from the Province of Manitoba and trade amounts owed
primarily from other entities within the Government of the Province of Manitoba and payment in
full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful
accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions regarding current market
conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered
when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at
March 31, 2018 (Nil in 2017).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity can be defined as an organization's ability to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
The significant market risk the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the Province of Manitoba,
which are made up of ninety day callable term deposits.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

6. Accounts Receivable

2018 2017

Accrued interest $ 37 $ 16
Trade 78 55
$ 115 §$ 71

7. Employee Future Benefits

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Manitoba Financial Services Agency are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered
by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit
plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating
agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation
Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province of Manitoba the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal
to its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2018 was $213 ($216 in
2017). Under this Agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 or the date of their creation, whichever is later, SOAs began recording
accumulated severance pay benefits for their employees. The amount of their severance pay
obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these
liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when actual
experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions
used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The special operating
agencies’ actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is
$522 ($500 in 2017). The actuarial loss of $46 based on actuarial reports is being amortized
over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation

were:
Annual rate of return 3.80 %
]
Assumed salary increase rate:
Annual productivity increase 1.00 %
Annual general salary increase 2.75 %
3.75 %

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017

Accrued benefit liability
Balance, beginning of year $ 539 % 497
Actuarial loss 12 -
Benefits accrued 23 26
Interest on accrued benefits 21 30
Severance paid (27) (14)
Balance, end of year 568 539
Less unamortized actuarial losses (46) (39)
Severance benefit liability E_ 522 % 500

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following

components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation $ 21§ 30
Current period benefit cost 23 26
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 4 4
Total expense related to severance benefit § 48 3 60

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The Agency has not recorded an accrued
sick pay benefit obligation as it has been determined to be immaterial.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Office equipment $ 61 $ - $ - $ 61
Furniture and fixtures 221 8 - 229
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 869 - - 869
1,368 8 - 1,376

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 51 4 - 55
Furniture and fixtures 188 15 - 203
Leasehold improvements 47 5 - 52
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 867 1 - 868
1,296 25 - 1,321
Net book value $ 72 % (17) $ - $ 55

e —
2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Office equipment $ 61 $ - % - 3 61
Furniture and fixtures 221 - - 221
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 869 - - 869
1,368 - - 1,368

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 47 4 - 51
Furniture and fixtures 174 14 - 188
Leasehold improvements 40 7 - 47
Computer hardware 143 - - 143
Computer software 866 1 - 867
1,270 26 - 1,296

Net book value $ 98 3 (26) $ - $ 72
—




MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2018

10.

1.

Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Agency or
the Government can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designated assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Agency has allocated $1,019 ($1,019 in 2017) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for the following purposes:

The Agency maintains separate deposits of $750 ($750 in 2017) to fund expenses which may
arise with respect to its reserve fund. The Reserve Fund was established to finance
extraordinary expenses for isolated and unanticipated purposes that are regulatory in nature
and for changes in market activity that have a negative effect on revenues.

The Agency has received $269 ($269 in 2017) of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
purpose of settling certain of its vacation and severance liabilities in the future. This amount is
held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.
The principal of this note is re-invested annually and the interest is deposited in the Agency's
trust account.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement commencing October 1, 2005 for rental of
facilities at 400 St. Mary Avenue, which expires September 30, 2020.

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement as of December 31, 2013 which includes
rental of 207 - 400 St. Mary Avenue (FIRB occupancy) and the remainder of the 5th floor for
the Manitoba Securities Commission, which expires April 30, 2026.

Minimum annual lease payments for these agreements total $545 per year for each of the next
four years.

Transfer to the Province of Manitoba

Payments to the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province of Manitoba are set annually
according to Treasury Board Directives, and paid in quarterly installments. Total transfers for
the current year were $17,000 ($16,800 in 2017). The Treasury Board approved a payment
target of $12,000 for the year ended March 31, 2018, with a one time payment of $5,000 in the
first quarter.



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income
The Manitoba Securities Commission

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Fees $ 16,567 $ 19,971 $ 18,933
Interest 65 170 114
Miscellaneous 1 2 2
16,633 20,143 19,049
Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 24 25 27
CSA initiatives* 105 70 71
Contract services 353 221 243
Education/Information initiatives 122 50 45
Miscellaneous 34 21 21
Office materials and supplies 64 54 57
Premises 443 451 443
Professional membership and dues 27 24 20
Professional services 90 71 152
Research resources 52 67 45
Salaries and benefits 3,424 3,017 3,080
Staff development and professional dues 22 13 8
Telecommunications 68 64 66
Travel 81 43 75
4,909 4,191 4,353
Annual operating surplus $ 11,724 § 15,952 14,696
L —— ——— =

* Canadian Securities Administrators



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

Financial Institutions Regulation Branch

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 1,926 $ 1,801 $ 1,827
Miscellaneous 14 96 26
1,940 1,897 1,853

Expenses
Contract services 37 33 35
Miscellaneous 3 5 4
Office materials and supplies 11 15 12
Premises 114 106 104
Professional services 32 38 151
Research resources 2 1 1
Salaries and benefits 772 642 726
Staff development and professional dues 9 2 2
Telecommunications 12 1 11
Travel 10 8 9
1,002 861 1,055

Annual operating surplus $ 938 $ 1,036 $ 798
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Manitoba Learmning Resource Centre
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations
and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Manitoba Learning Resource Centre as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in net
financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Office of the Auditor General
July 24, 2018
Winnipeg, Manitoba

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.0ag.mb.ca



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position

(in thousands)
March 31 2018 2017
Financial assets
Cash $ 3 $ 4
Accounts receivable 221 343
Portfolio investments 64 64
Inventories for resale 2172 2,310
2,460 2721
Liabilities
Working capital advance (Note 5) 1,485 1,815
Accounts payable and accruals 291 453
Customer deposit accounts 254 91
Accrued severance liability (Note 6) 60 57

Net financlal assets
Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses
Tangible capital assets (Note 7)

Accumulated surplus

$ 398

2,216

505

36

Designated assets (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to the tinanclal statemenss.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

(in thousands)
Year Ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Sales $ 7559 $ 6900 $ 7.368
Cost of goods sold
Inventory, beginning of year 2,582 2,310 2,374
Purchases 6,290 5,798 6,265
Transportation in 37 29 38
Transportation out 96 102 93
9,005 8,239 8,770
Inventory, end of year 2432 2172 2,310
Cost of goods sold 6.573 6,067 6.460
Gross profit 986 833 908
General and administrative expenses
Amortization 19 9 9
Bad debts 35 40 33
Computer expense 71 61 56
Employee benefits 87 69 79
Interest 33 32 25
Marketing 7 9 -
Office 15 13 13
Office occupancy 49 49 49
Postage 2 2 2
Professional services 16 14 14
Salaries 391 380 373
Telephone 6 6 6
Training 5 1 1
Travel 10 1 6
Warehouse occupancy 89 89 89
Warehouse service 201 201 201
1,036 _976 __958
Annual deficit (50) (143) (48)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 530 541 589
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 480 $ 398 $ 541

Ses accompanying notes o the financial statoments.




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(in thousands)

Year Ended March 31 2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

Annual deficit $ (50) $ (143 $ (48)

Tangible capital assets
Acquisttion of tangible capital assets (25) (1) (4)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 19 9 9

Net reduction (acquisition) of tangible

capital assets (6) 8 5
Other non-financial assets

Increase in prepaid expense - - (2)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - - (2)
Decrease in net financial assets (56) (135) (45)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 461 505 550
Net financial assets, end of year $ 405 $ 370 $ 505

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Year Ended March 31 2018 2017

Increase (decrease) in cash

Operating
Annual deficit $ (143) $ (48)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 9 9
(134) (39)
Changes in
Accounts receivable 122 502
Inventories for resale 138 64
Accounts payable and accruals (162) (122)
Customer deposit accounts 163 (83)
Accrued severance liability 3 4
Prepaid expenses - (2)
130 324
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1) (4)
Financing
Repayment of working capital advance (130) (319)
(Decrease) increase in cash (1) 1
Cash, beginning of year 4 3
Cash, end of year $ 3 $ 4
Supplemental cash flow Information:
Interest received $ 2 $ 3
Interest paid $ 30 $ 26

Ses accompanying notes o 2he financial tatements,



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

1. Nature of operations

In 1931, the Manitoba Text Book Bureau (MTBB) was created as a branch of the Department
of Education and Training. It was established to achieve economies of scale and reduce the
cost of leaming resources for schools in Manitoba. In December 2016, under The Statutes
Correction and Minor Amendments Act (Education Act), the name of the entity was officially
changed to the Manitoba Leaming Resource Centre (LRC).

Effective April 1, 1996, the LRC was designated as a Special Operating Agency under The
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Chapter S 185, C.C.S.M. and operates
under a charter approved by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council.

The LRC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency
operations. It finances the LRC through working capital advances. This financial framework
enables the LRC to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the SOAFA and the Minister of Education, being the
Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, assigns responsibility to the LRC to manage
and account for the LRC's related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA.

The LRC continues to be part of the Department of Education and Training under the general
direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, School Programs Division, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister arid Minister.

The LRC remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

2. Basls of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant accounting policies
Revenue

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title to the customer.
Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.
Financial assets

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and bank balance.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months.
These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale
Inventories for resale are valued using the average unit cost method and are measured using

lower of cost and net realizable value.

Liabilities

Liabliitles are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement, Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the LRC.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in

future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as

other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and video recording equipment -20% declining balance
Computer equipment - 20% straight line
Computer software - 20% straight line

One-half year's amortization is applied in the year of acquisition.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabllities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The LRC records its financial assets at cost, which include cash, portfolio investments,
accounts receivable and inventories for resale. The LRC also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include working capital advance, accounts payable and accruals and customer
deposit accounts.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The LRC did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2017 - $nil).
Financial risk management - overview

The LRC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk,
liquidity risk, market risk, interest risk and foreign currency risk.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument falls to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the LRC
to credit risk consist principally of cash, portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the LRC to credit risk at March 31 Is:

2018 2017

Cash $ 3 $ 4
Accounts receivable 221 343
Portfolio investments 64 84
$ 288 $ 411

Cash and portfolio investments: The LRC Is not exposed to significant credit risk as these
amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The LRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The LRC
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The LRC establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts Is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:

Balance, beginning of the year $ 182
Provision for receivable impairment 38
Amounts written off -

Balance, end of the year $ 220



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the LRC will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The LRC manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the LRC’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The LRC is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in

foreign currency.



Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

5.  Working capital advance

The LRC has an authorized line of working capital advances of $3,000, of which $1,485 was
used as of March 31, 2018 (2017 - $1,615). The working capital advance bears interest at a
rate set by the Minister of Finance and is due on demand.

6. Accrued severance liability

Effective April 1, 1998, the LRC began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations Is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabllities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are
amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay llability as of March 31, 2017. The
report provides a formula to update the liabllity on an annual basis. The LRC’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 was $60 (2017 - $57),
with the actuarial gain of $30 (2017 - $30) being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life of the employee group. Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used
in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the determination of the March 31, 2018 present value
of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Discount rate
Province’s weighted average rate of borrowing 3.80%
Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
315%
The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:
2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability $ 50 $ 45
Unamortized actuarial gains 10 12

Severance benefit liabllity $ 60 $ 57




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

6. Accrued severance liability (continued)

Total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation $ 2 $ 3
Employer service cost 3 3
Severance payout - -
Amortization of actuarial gains over EARSL (2) (2)
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 3 $ 4
7. Tangible capital assets

2018 2017
Opening Closing Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance Balance

Cost

Computer equipment $ 156 $ - $ - $ 155 §$ 1565
Computer software 132 1 - 133 132
Office equipment

and furniture 48 - - 48 48
Video recording

equipment 51 - - 51 51
Total cost 386 1 - 387 _ 386
Accumulated Amortization
Computer equipment 165 - - 155 165
Computer software 107 8 - 115 107
Office equipment

and furniture 44 1 - 45 44
Video recording

equipment 50 - - 50 50

Total accumulated
amortiaation 356 9 - 365 356

Net $ 30 $ 8 $ - $ 22 § 30




Manitoba Learning Resource Centre
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2018

8. Designated assets

The LRC has allocated $64 (2017 - $64) of its porifolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba as settlement for the vacation entitlements eamed
by employees of the LRC prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the LRC's employees. This amount Is held in an
Interest bearing account. Any unused balance Is re-Invested annualiy. Funds are to be used for
payments to employees for their outstanding vacation and severance pay amounts.

9. Related party transactions

The LRC is related In terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
Departments, Agencies and Crown Corporations. The LRC enters into transactions with these
entities in the normal course of business and the transactions are measured at the exchange
amount.

10. Penslon benefits

Employees of the LRC are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation
Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the
Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the LRC,
tl';r;:ghbtitl}ie Civil Service Superannuation Fund. At December 31, 2016, the Fund had a deficit
of $4.3 billion.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the LRC
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001,
the LRC is required to pay annually to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current
pension contributions. The amount paid for 2018 was $26 (2017 - $28). Under this agreement,
the LRC has no further pension liability.

11. Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the management of the LRC.



[T} MAGNUS LLP

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

ADVISORY - ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING - TAXATION - TRANSACTION CONSULTING

MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY

(An Agency of the Government of Manitoba)

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Materials Distribution
Agency and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In
management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits
of materiality, incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all
other data available as at May 28, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Materials Distribution
Agency and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures
are followed.

The financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency have been audited by Magnus LLP,
Chartered Professional Accountants, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor
is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Materials Distribution
Agency are fairly represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination
and provides the audit opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Materials Distribution Agency

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed

David Bishop Joel Hershfield, CPA(ret), CMA(ret)
Chief Operating Officer Manager of Finance and Technology



[T} MAGNUS LLP

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

ADVISORY - ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING - TAXATION - TRANSACTION CONSULTING

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Materials Distribution Agency

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency, an agency of the
Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the
statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Materials Distribution Agency as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 28, 2018

Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - $ 406
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 2,464 1,855
Portfolio investments 512 512
Inventories for resale (Note 6) 1,591 1,634
4,567 4,407
Liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents overdraft 329 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,594 2,217
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 812 761
3,735 2,978
Net financial assets 832 1,429
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 3,567 2,780
Prepaid expenses 153 162
3,720 2,942
Accumulated surplus 4,552 $ 4,371

Designated assets (Note 9)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Warehouse sales (Schedule 1) $ 16,100 $ 16,003 $ 16,234
Service revenue (Schedule 1) 12,443 12,882 12,385
Interest income 3 4 3
28,546 28,889 28,622
Expenses:
Cost of sales 12,500 12,478 12,993
Salaries and benefits 5,765 5,189 5,357
Occupancy costs 1,127 1,202 1,148
Operating expenses (Schedule 2) 8,335 8,876 8,174
Administrative expenses (Schedule 2) 730 763 681
28,457 28,508 28,353
Net income before transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba 89 381 269
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 200 200 200
Net (loss) income for the year (111) 181 69
Accumulated surplus, beginning of
year 4,041 4,371
4,302
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3930 $ 4552  $ 4,371

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Net (loss) income for the year $ (111) % 181 % 69
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,200) (2,363) (1,748)
Disposals of tangible capital assets - 123 80
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,210 1,453 1,304
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 10 (787) (364)
Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 5 9 (36)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets 5 9 (36)
Change in net financial assets (96) (597) (331)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,554 1,429 1,760
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1,458 $ 832 $ 1,429

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 181 69
Adjustments for:
Amortization 1,453 1,304
(Gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets (Note 8) an (12)
1,617 1,361
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (609) 913
Inventories for resale 43 17
Prepaid expenses 9 (36)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 377 (693)
Employee future benefits 51 (4)
Cash provided by operating activities 1,488 1,558
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (2,363) (1,748)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 140 92
Cash (applied to) capital activities (2,223) (1,656)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (735) (98)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 406 504
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ (329) 406

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

1. Nature of organization

The Government of Manitoba established a central warehouse operation in 1974 to effectively meet the
cost needs of departments and certain boards, commissions and agencies of the Crown, for a variety of
commonly used items. Effective April 1, 1993, Materials Distribution Agency (the "Agency") was
designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor
in Council.

In 1956, Mail Management (Postal Service) was created as a branch of the Manitoba Provincial
Government to provide centralized postal services. Effective April 1, 1996 the Postage Service was
renamed Mail Management Agency and designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2005, the operations of the
Materials Distribution Agency and the Mail Management Agency were amalgamated. The amalgamated
operations have been operating as Materials Distribution Agency.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Agency's operations and finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances.
This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations. A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister
responsible for the Agency assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for
Agency-related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency is now part of the Department of Finance under the general direction of the Associate Deputy
Minister, Central Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister.
The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in order to meet
business objectives.

Effective April 1, 2012 the Agency is administering the vaccine program on behalf of Manitoba Health.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public sector as
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue

Warehouse sales

Revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped and when collection is reasonably assured.

Service revenue

Service revenue is recognized when the related services are completed or substantially completed
pursuant to the underlying contracts, where applicable, and when collection is reasonably assured.

Other revenue

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

Expenses

Accrual basis of accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on the accrual basis.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are authorized
and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale

Inventories for resale are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements

(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(€)

(f)

(<))

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 20% straight-line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements 10 years straight-line
Office equipment 20% straight-line

Mail finishing equipment 20% declining balance
Rental equipment 2 - 5 years straight-line
Warehouse equipment 20% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.
The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are consumed.

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost.
Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the
statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial instruments
measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as remeasurement gains and losses
until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and
losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These
estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they become
known. Actual results may differ from these estimates.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2018 2017
Trade accounts receivable $2,459 $ 1,920
Other receivables 70 -
Allowance for doubtful accounts (65) (65)

$2,464 $ 1,855

5. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Agency with an authorized line of
working capital of $600 (2017 - $1,000) of which $nil was used at March 31, 2018 (2017 - $nil).

6. Inventories for resale

2018 2017
Medical supplies $ 716 % 866
Health equipment 181 150
Stationery 445 408
Janitorial 245 207
Furniture 4 3

$ 1591 % 1,634

7. Employee future benefits

2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 742 % 691
Sick pay benefits 70 70

$ 812 $ 761

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service
Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established
a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating
agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency transferred
to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required
to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of its employees. The amount
paid for the year ended March 31, 2018 was $330 (2017 - $366). Under this agreement, the Agency has no
further pension liability as at year end.




MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

7. Employee future benefits (continued)
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance pay benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes in
the actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is $742
(2017 - $691), with the total net actuarial losses of $82 (2017 - $38) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00% (2017 - 2.00%)
Real rate of return 1.80% (2017 - 4.00%)

3.80% (2017 - 6.00%)

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00% (2017 - 1.00%)
Annual general salary increase 2.75% (2017 - 2.75%)

3.75% (2017 - 3.75%)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 705 $ 711
Actuarial losses 44 -
Interest on accrued severance benefits 28 43
Current period service costs 38 34
Severance benefits paid during the year 17 (83)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 798 705
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (56) (14)

Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 742 $ 691
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2018 2017
Interest on accrued severance benefits $ 28 % 43
Current period service costs 38 34
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 3 2
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 69 $ 79

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued benefit
liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a valuation model
developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial
assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% annual return and a 3.00% annual salary increase. The
Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2018 based on the valuation model is $70 (2017 - $70).
The increase (decrease) in the sick leave benefit liability of $nil (2017 - $nil) represents the total sick leave

benefit expense (recovery) for the year.
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8. Tangible capital assets

2018

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 310 % 3 % - 3 313
Furniture and fixtures 165 - - 165
Leasehold improvements 1,154 6 - 1,160
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Mail finishing equipment 542 - - 542
Rental equipment 13,228 2,341 (3,059) 12,510
Warehouse equipment 1,371 13 - 1,384

$ 16,834 $ 2,363 $ (3,059) $ 16,138

Accumulated amortization

Computer equipment $ (262) $ (100 $ - % (272)
Furniture and fixtures (164) - - (164)
Leasehold improvements (937) (37) - (974)
Office equipment (64) - - (64)
Mail finishing equipment (397) (27) - (424)
Rental equipment (11,172) (1,313) 2,936 (9,549)
Warehouse equipment (1,058) (66) - (1,124

$ (14,054) % (1,453) % 2936 $ (12,571)
Net book value $ 2780 $ 910 $ (123) $ 3,567

During the year ended March 31, 2018, rental equipment additions totaling $123 (2017 - $80) were sold
for proceeds of $140 (2017 - $92) resulting in a gain on disposal of tangible capital assets of $17
(2017 - $12) included in total health equipment sales for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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8. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Computer equipment $ 279 % 31 $ - 3 310
Furniture and fixtures 165 - - 165
Leasehold improvements 1,147 7 - 1,154
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Mail finishing equipment 542 - - 542
Rental equipment 11,646 1,662 (80) 13,228
Warehouse equipment 1,323 48 Co- 1,371

$ 15,166 $ 1,748 % (80) $ 16,834
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment $ (253) $ 9 $ - % (262)
Furniture and fixtures (163) Q) - (164)
Leasehold improvements (900) (37) - (937)
Office equipment (64) - - (64)
Mail finishing equipment (363) (34) - (397)
Rental equipment (10,022) (1,150) - (11,172)
Warehouse equipment (985) (73) - (1,058)

$ (12,750) % (1,304) % - $ (14059
Net book value $ 2416  $ 444 3 (80) 2,780

9. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $412 (2017 - $412) of its portfolio investments totaling $512 as designated
assets for cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of
the Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of the Agency’s employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the
cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

10. Commitments

The agency has no significant non-routine operating lease or other commitments.
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11.

12.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year ended March 31, 2018, with Lieutenant-Governor approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $200 (2017 - $200) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value or
denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or losses
during the year (2017 - $nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ - $ 406
Accounts receivable 2,464 1,855
Portfolio investments 512 512

$ 2,976 $ 2,773

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as
these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the accounts
receivable are primarily with other government agencies and departments. The balance is due from a large
client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk
through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’'s estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2018 is $65 (2017 - $65). The total
provision for receivable impairment during the year was $nil (2017 - $nil) and there were no reversals of
previously recognized impairments during the current or prior year.
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12. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2018 is as

follows:

Accounts

receivable Allowance Net
Current $ $ - $ 2,161
30-60 days past the billing date - 185
61-90 days past the billing date - 29
90 days past the billing date (65) 89
Balance, end of the year $ $ 65) $ 2,464
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the Province

of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

13.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash
equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are
reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency.

Budget information

The budget information for the year ended March 31, 2018 has been restated to reflect the transfer
payment to the Province of Manitoba as an expense for the year in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.
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PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Warehouse Sales and Service Revenue

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2018 Schedule 1
2018 2017

Warehouse sales:
Medical supplies $ 7,342 7,330
Stationery 4,229 4,612
Janitorial 2,263 2,234
Health equipment 1,767 1,466
Furniture 401 575
Special projects 1 17

$ 16,003 16,234

Service revenue:
Mail services $ 5,511 5,181
Equipment rentals 4,099 3,955
Manitoba Textbook Bureau 290 290
Freight 1,105 1,005
Moving 657 601
Storage 344 388
Vaccine program 673 637
Copy centre 9 10
Disposal services 28 81
Other revenue and recoveries 166 237

$ 12,882 12,385




Schedule of Operating and Administrative Expenses
(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2018 Schedule 2
2018 2017
Operating expenses:
Amortization 1,453 1,304
Copy centre 5 5
Equipment rentals 119 140
Freight 2,025 2,011
Mail services 4,442 3,979
Moving expenses 499 430
Vehicle 126 124
Warehouse supplies 207 181
8,876 8,174
Administrative expenses:
Computer 248 236
Miscellaneous 11 16
Office 339 296
Professional fees 14 12
Promotion and marketing 27 25
Telephone 114 91
Training 10 5
763 681
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Office of the Fire
Commissioner and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other
data available as at May 22, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Office of the Fire Commissioner
and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner have been audited by Magnus LLP, Chartered
Professional Accountants, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an
independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner are fairly
represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The
Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on
the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Office of the Fire Commissioner

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
David Schafer Cindy Giesbrecht, CPA, CGA
Fire Commissioner Director of Support Services
508 Norquay Building 401 York Avenue * Winnipeg, Manitoba « Canada * R3C 0P8

Telephone: 204-945-3322 + Fax: 204-948-2089 » Website: www.firecomm.gov.mb.ca



[T} MAGNUS LLP

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

ADVISORY - ASSURANCE & ACCOUNTING - TAXATION - TRANSACTION CONSULTING

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and Office of the Fire Commissioner

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner, an agency
of the Government of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018
and the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Office of the Fire Commissioner as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

May 22, 2018
Winnipeg, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400


Brett
Magnus


OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,864 $ 20,266
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,001 872
Portfolio investments 787 787
18,652 21,925
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) 1,425 1,666
Deferred revenue and government grants (Note 6) 976 763
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 1,108 1,044
3,509 3,473
Net financial assets 15,143 18,452
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 7,980 7,508
Prepaid expenses 157 128
Inventories of supplies 334 334
8,471 7,970
Accumulated surplus $ 23614 $ 26,422

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue (Schedule 1):
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba $ 130 § 134  § 305
Federal Government 516 386 480
646 520 785
Fees and other revenue 17,637 17,026 18,295
Investment income 40 72 48
18,323 17,618 19,128
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 11,030 9,948 10,087
Mutual Aid expenses 390 357 286
Transportation (Schedule 2) 675 567 582
Communications (Schedule 3) 385 333 415
Supplies and services (Schedule 4) 2,235 1,569 1,942
Minor capital expenses 150 111 293
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,000 971 839
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (4) 17
Other operating expenses (Schedule 5) 1,433 1,574 1,481
17,298 15,426 15,942
Net income before transfer of funds to the Province of
Manitoba 1,025 2,192 3,186
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 5,000 5,000 950
Net (loss) income for the year (3,975) (2,808) 2,236
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 25,691 26,422 24,186
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 21716 $ 23614 $ 26,422

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Net (loss) income for the year $ (3,975) § (2,808) $ 2,236
Tangible capital assets:

Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,570) (1,444) (1,319)

Disposals of tangible capital assets - 2 74

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,000 971 839
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (570) (471) (406)
Other non-financial assets:

(Increase) in prepaid expenses (25) (30) (8)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets (25) (30) (8)
Change in net financial assets (4,570) (3,309) 1,822
Net financial assets, beginning of year 15,604 18,452 16,630
Net financial assets, end of year $ 11,034  § 15,143  § 18,452

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating activities:
Net (loss) income for the year $ (2,808) $ 2,236
Adjustments for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 971 839
(Gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (4) 17
(1,841) 3,092
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (129) (264)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (241) (290)
Deferred revenue and government grants 213 214
Employee future benefits 64 60
Prepaid expenses (30) (8)
Cash provided by operating activities (1,964) 2,804
Capital activities:
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,444) (1,319)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 6 57
Cash (applied to) capital activities (1,438) (1,262)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (3,402) 1,542
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20,266 18,724
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 16,864 $ 20,266

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

1.

Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 1996, the Office of the Fire Commissioner (the "Agency") was designated as a
Special Operating Agency (SOA) pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.

Effective April 1, 1996, a Transfer Agreement between the Government of Manitoba (Labour) and the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA), a corporation pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, transferred all assets in the Fires Prevention Fund
valued at $11,809 to the Financing Authority. A Management Agreement executed between the
Financing Authority and the Government of Manitoba (Labour) assigned responsibility for these
assets to the Agency to manage and account for the related assets and operations on behalf of the
Financing Authority. The Agency does not hold title to these assets. Effective April 1, 1996, the
Financing Authority established a fund referred to as the Fires Prevention Fund to hold these assets.

Effective April 1, 2011, the operations and related net liabilities valued at $358 of the former
Mechanical and Engineering Branch of the Department of Labour and Immigration were transferred
to the Financing Authority to be managed and accounted for by the Office of the Fire Commissioner.

The Agency is now part of the Department of Growth, Enterprise and Trade and is ultimately under
the policy direction of the Minister of Growth, Enterprise and Trade. The Agency is bound by relevant
legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by administrative policy except where specific
exemptions have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Agency's operating charter was updated and an Audit
Committee established to oversee the financial reporting and overall operations of the Agency.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Government grants/transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Revenue (continued)

Fees and other revenue

Insurance levy revenue is recognized in accordance with the underlying legislation. The Fires
Prevention and Emergency Response Act imposes a special assessment on licensed insurers in
Manitoba equal to a set percentage of total property insurance premiums. The levy rate is
currently set at 1.25% (2017 - 1.25%). The Agency collects this levy based on the value of
premiums and assessments relating to property insurance premiums in a calendar year. Levy
revenue with respect to the 2017 calendar year is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2018 with no amounts recognized in the financial statements for January to March of
the current fiscal year due to it not being practicable to determine a reasonable estimate for these
amounts.

Inspection technical services revenue including amusement rides, boiler and pressure vessel,
gas and oil, electrical, and elevator fees including certificates, design registrations, examinations,
inspections, licenses, permits, searches and special acceptances under The Amusements Act,
The Electricians' License Act, The Elevator Act, The Gas and Oil Burner Act, The Power
Engineers Act and The Steam and Pressure Plants Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Codes and standards revenue including building, mobile home and plumbing code inspections
and permits under The Buildings and Mobile Homes Act is recognized on the accrual basis.

Fire inspections, investigations and reports under The Fires Prevention and Emergency
Response Act are recognized on the accrual basis.

Tuition fees, emergency services and other conferences revenue are recognized on the accrual
basis.

Amounts received in advance for tuition fees, conferences and inspection technical services are
deferred on the statement of financial position and recognized as revenue during the period the
revenue relates to.

Investment income and all other revenue is recognized on the accrual basis.

Expenses

Expenses

Expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on the accrual basis when the related
goods or services are received.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2018

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Financial assets (continued)

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or

other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building 5% declining balance
Practical training site 10% declining balance
Equipment 20% declining balance
Fire engines 30% declining balance
Other vehicles 30% declining balance
Air compressors 20% declining balance
Furniture 20% declining balance
Computer equipment and software 30% declining balance
Leasehold improvements 10% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefits in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the year the
supplies are consumed.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)

(9)

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are recognized in the period they
become known. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

2018 2017
Financial Institutions Branch of the Department of Finance -
Fire Prevention Levy $ 559 § 291
National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New Search and
Rescue Initiative - 176
Trade accounts receivable 914 724
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 13) (472) (319)
$ 1,001 $ 872
5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
2018 2017
Trade payables and accruals $ 521  § 817
Vacation and overtime entitlements 838 840
City of Winnipeg - professional services 53 -
Provincial sales and goods and services taxes payable 13 9

$ 1,425  $ 1,666
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6. Deferred revenue and government grants

Included in deferred revenue and government grants at year end is $432 (2017 - $250) relating to
funding received from Public Safety Canada for the Heavy Urban Search and Rescue Program for
which the related eligible expenditures have not been incurred. Pursuant to the funding agreement,
these expenditures along with all final reports must be submitted to Public Safety Canada by June 30,
2018 or the funding must be returned.

7. Employee future benefits

2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 959 $ 893
Sick pay benefits 149 151

$ 1,108  $ 1,044

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of
its employees. The amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2018 was $645 (2017 - $704). Under
this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from expected and/or because of changes in the
actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 is $959
(2017 - $893), with the net actuarial losses of $289 (2017 - $220) based on the completed actuarial
reports being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:
Inflation component 2.00% (2017 - 2.00%)
Real rate of return 1.80% (2017 - 4.00%)

3.80% (2017 - 6.00%)

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00% (2017 - 1.00%)
Annual general salary increase 2.75% (2017 - 2.75%)

3.75% (2017 - 3.75%)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 1,013  § 969
Actuarial losses 69 -
Current period service costs 68 62
Interest on accrued severance benefits 41 58
Severance benefits paid (58) (76)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year 1,133 1,013
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (174) (120)
Severance benefit liability, end of year $ 959 $ 893

The total expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2018 2017
Current period service costs $ 68 $ 62
Interest on accrued severance benefits 41 58
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 15 14
Total expense related to severance benefits $ (PZ 134

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee
demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00%
(2017 - 5.00%) annual return and a 3.00% (2017 - 3.00%) annual salary increase. The Agency's sick
leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2018 based on the valuation model is $149 (2017 - $151). The
(decrease) in the sick leave benefit liability of $(2) (2017 - increase of $2) represents the total sick
leave benefit (recovery) expense for the year.
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8. Tangible capital assets

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7835 $ - 9 - % 7,835
Practical training site 2,772 - - 2,772
Equipment 3,043 435 - 3,478
Fire engines 2,118 - - 2,118
Other vehicles 1,260 426 (10) 1,676
Air compressors 1,391 312 - 1,703
Furniture 294 - - 294
Computer equipment and software 501 140 - 641
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74
Capital assets under construction - 131 - 131

$ 19,288  § 1,444 % (10) $ 20,722
Accumulated amortization
Buildings $ (3,680) $ (207) $ - 9 (3,887)
Practical training site (1,928) (84) - (2,012)
Equipment (2,128) (199) - (2,327)
Fire engines (1,547) (171) - (1,718)
Other vehicles (1,030) (134) 8 (1,155)
Air compressors (829) (127) - (956)
Furniture (154) (28) - (182)
Computer equipment and software (464) (16) - (480)
Leasehold improvements (20) (5) - (25)

$ (11,780) § 971) § 8 § (12,742)
Net book value $ 7,508 % 473 % 2 $ 7,980

As at March 31, 2018, the total net book value of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization is
$304 (2017 - $nil). Amortization will commence once construction is complete and the assets are in
use.
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8. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2017

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings $ 7873 % - 9 (38) $ 7,835
Practical training site 2,848 - (76) 2,772
Equipment 3,859 356 (1,172) 3,043
Fire engines 1,827 539 (248) 2,118
Other vehicles 1,450 154 (344) 1,260
Air compressors 1,269 251 (129) 1,391
Furniture 345 19 (70) 294
Computer equipment and software 588 - (87) 501
Leasehold improvements 74 - - 74

$ 20,133 § 1,319  § (2,164) $ 19,288

Accumulated amortization

Buildings (3,500) (216) 36 (3,680)
Practical training site (1,914) (88) 74 (1,928)
Equipment (3,129) (126) 1,127 (2,128)
Fire engines (1,585) (204) 242 (1,547)
Other vehicles (1,305) (42) 317 (1,030)
Air compressors (856) (115) 142 (829)
Furniture (193) (28) 67 (154)
Computer equipment and software (535) (14) 85 (464)
Leasehold improvements (14) (6) - (20)

$ (13031) § (839) $§ (2,090) $ (11,780)
Net book value $ 7,102 $ 480 $ (74) $ 7,508

9. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $787 (2017 - $787) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and for severance pay benefits for certain of its
employees. As at March 31, 2018, $559 (2017 - $559) is designated for the vacation entitlements
and severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its employees and $228
(2017 - $228) is designated for the severance pay benefits accumulated to April 1, 2011 for
employees transferred from the former Mechanical and Engineering Branch, now Inspection
Technical Services. These amounts are held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required
to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
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10.

1.

12.

13.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement with the City of Brandon for the land on which the
practical training facility has been constructed. The term of the lease expires May 31, 2022.
Minimum annual rent is $18 due in equal monthly installments, plus all operating costs with respect to
the subject land.

The Agency has entered into leases on a fleet of 48 vehicles.

These leases give rise to lease commitments as follows:

2019 $ 250
2020 212
2021 188
2022 164
2023 117
Thereafter 57

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $5,000 (2017 - $950) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Professional services - Growth, Enterprise and Trade

The Agency has a professional services agreement with the Department of Growth, Enterprise and
Trade for the provision of legislation and policy services to the Agency as required throughout the
year. The total amount paid pursuant to this agreement for the year ended March 31, 2018 was $56
(2017 - $75). As at year end, no additional amounts are owing pursuant to this agreement for the
year ended March 31, 2018.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2017 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16864 $ 20,266
Accounts receivable 1,001 872
Portfolio investments 787 787

$ 18652 § 21,925

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held primarily by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is exposed to credit risk on its trade accounts receivable. The
Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors
are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2018 is $472 (2017 - $319). The
change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year is as follows:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of the year $ 319 $ 234
Provision for receivable impairment 153 85
Balance, end of the year $ 472  $ 319

Bad debt expense for the year includes $nil (2017 - $25) of adjustments to accounts receivable for
total bad debt expense for the year of $153 (2017 - $110).

The aging of accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2018

is as follows:

Accounts

receivable Allowance Net
Current $ 812 $ - 3 812
30-60 days past the billing date 155 - 155
61-90 days past the billing date 34 - 34
Over 90 days past the billing date 472 (472) -
Balance, end of the year $ 1473  § 472) $ 1,001
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due. The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency.

14. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2017 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted in the current year.
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2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba:
Indigenous and Municipal Relations -
Mutual Aid $ 130 $ 130 $ 130
Sustainable Development - Emergency Response
Cost Recovery - 4 150
Sustainable Development - FireSmart Initiative - - 25
Total Province of Manitoba 130 134 305
Federal Government:
Public Safety Canada - New Initiative Fund - - 176
Public Safety Canada - Heavy Urban Search
and Rescue Program 516 368 304
Indian Affairs and Northern Development - 18 -
Total Federal Government 516 386 480
Fees and other revenue:
Insurance Levy 9,094 8,912 8,816
Inspection technical services 5,043 4,678 5,967
Codes and standards 2,300 2,364 2,291
Tuition fees 1,000 895 986
Fire inspections, investigations and reports 180 126 183
Other revenue 20 51 52
Total fees and other revenue 17,637 17,026 18,295
Investment income 40 72 48

$ 18323 §$§ 17618 $ 19,128
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2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Transportation expenses:

Vehicle leases $ 500 $ 405 % 361
Travel 150 134 152
Fuel - owned vehicles 20 19 16
Emergency response - 9 53
Boards and committees 5 - -

$ 675 § 567 $ 582
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2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Communications expenses:

Communications $ 200 $ 183 § 176
Postage and courier 85 74 93
Marketing 30 48 50
Public education material 70 28 96
$ 385 § 333§ 415
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2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Supplies and services expenses:
Supplies $ 225  § 199 § 217
Repairs and maintenance 275 326 337
Rent 400 380 389
Professional services - Growth, Enterprise

and Trade (Note 12) 80 56 75
Professional fees - contracted services 500 291 347
Professional fees - legal and audit 80 34 87
Mutual Aid - air compressor maintenance 140 100 122
Fuel - training supplies 20 21 21
Utilities 95 97 99
Other 20 27 33
Emergency response 400 38 215
$ 2235 § 1,569 § 1,942
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2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
Other operating expenses:

Desktop management $ 555 § 538 §$ 509
Travel 325 336 367
Bad debt expense 25 153 110
Property taxes 170 158 154
Insurance 150 143 137
Clothing 60 130 66
Publications 50 9 46
Professional development 50 63 55
Boards and committees 5 - -
Seminar and conference registration 10 2 6
Memberships and subscriptions 10 15 10
Mutual Aid - meetings 3 - 2
Other 20 27 19
$ 1,433  $ 1574  § 1,481
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Management's Responsibility

Pineland Forest Nursery's (the “Nursery”) management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and other financial
information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the integrity and objectivity of financial data and the
presentation of the Nursery’s financial position, results of operations, change in net debt, and cash flows, in compliance with legislation,
and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, within reasonable
limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through
May 16, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Nursery’s assets. These controls also provide reasonable assurance
that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions in all material respects, and
that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Nursery’s financial statements have been audited by MNP LLP, independent external auditors. The auditors’ responsibility is to
express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of the Nursery are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their audit examination and
provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Nursery’s management,

Original Document Signed

Michael Doig,
Acting General Manager

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 16, 2018

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Pineland Forest Nursery:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pineland Forest Nursery, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at March 31, 2018 and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in net debt and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pineland Forest Nursery as at
March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations, change in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba

May 16, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795

MNP



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018

2018
(in thousands)

2017

(in thousands)

Financial assets

Portfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 888 536
1,075 723
Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 5) 4,800 3,661
Accounts payable and accruals 211 196
Unearned revenue 530 932
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 363 387
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 737 882
6,641 6,058
Net Debt (5,566) (5,335)
Non-financial assets
Inventories held for use 164 194
Prepaid expenses 8 9
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 1,393 1,454
1,565 1,657
Accumulated Deficit (4,001) (3,678)

Designated assets (Note 9)

Approved by:

Original Document Signed

General Manager / Chief Operating Officer

Original Document Signed

Acting Manager of Administration

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenues - Private Sector

Overwinter 608 794 831
Current 140 82 191
Seed services 50 93 84
Other 5 7 13
803 976 1,119

Revenues - Province of Manitoba
Overwinter 701 696 625
Current 1 43 107
Seed services 5 35 34
Other 50 20 23
757 794 789
Total revenues 1,560 1,770 1,908
Operating Expenses (Schedule 1) 660 649 833

General administrative expenses
Amortization 108 107 110
Interest - operating and capital loan 180 127 113
Salaries, wages and benefits 1,140 1,210 1,355
1,428 1,444 1,578
Total expenses 2,088 2,093 2,411
Net loss (528) (323) (503)
Accumulated deficit, beginning of year (3,678) (3,678) (3,175)
Accumulated deficit, end of year (4,206) (4,001) (3,678)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Net loss (528) (323) (503)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (50) (46) (53)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 108 107 110
58 61 57
Other non-financial assets
Decrease in inventories held for sale - 30 118
Decrease in prepaid expense - 1 -
- 31 118
Decrease (increase) in net debt (470) (231) (328)
Net debt, beginning of year (5,335) (5,335) (5,007)
Net debt, end of year (5,805) (5,566) (5,335)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2018

2018
Actual
(in thousands)

2017
Actual
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating
Net loss (323) (503)
Amortization of tangible assets 107 110
(216) (393)
Change in:
Accounts receivable (352) 808
Accounts payable and accruals 15 (93)
Unearned revenue (402) (4)
Employee future benefits (24) 30
Inventories 30 118
Prepaid expenses 1 -
(948) 466
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (46) (53)
Financing
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (145) (145)
Increase (decrease) in cash resources (1,139) 268
Working capital advances, beginning of year (3,661) (3,929)
Working capital advances, end of year (4,800) (3,661)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Nature of Organization

In 1953, Pineland Provincial Forestry Nursery was established to meet all the forest nursery stock
requirements of the Province at one location. Prior to 1953 there were several small nurseries located
throughout the Province. Effective April 1, 1995, Pineland Forest Nursery, (the “Nursery”) was
designated as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185) and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Sustainable
Development assigns responsibility to the Nursery to manage and account for the agency related
assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority. Pineland Forest Nursery continues to be
part of the department of Manitoba Sustainable Development under the general direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister of Sustainable Development and ultimately the policy direction of the Deputy
Minister and the Minister. Pineland Forest Nursery remains bound by relevant legislation and
regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy, except where specific exemptions have been
provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards and include the following significant accounting policies.

Basis of presentation

Sources of revenue and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis
of accounting recognizes revenue as they become available and measurable; expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Asset classification

Assets are classified as either financial or non-financial. Financial assets are assets that could be used
to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations. Non-financial assets are acquired,
constructed or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities
but are employed to deliver government services, may be consumed in normal operations and are not
for resale in the normal course of operations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances with banks and short-term investments with maturities of
three months or less. Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current purposes is included in
restricted cash.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and are
recognized at fair value.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the
fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of
settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

MNP



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)
Net debt

The Nursery’s financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of
financial position. The net debt of the Nursery is determined by its liabilities less its financial assets. Net
debt combined with non-financial assets comprises a second indicator of financial position,
accumulated deficit.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Nursery. These
assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets and are recorded at cost.

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to
amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

Rate
Buildings 4-20%
Equipment 20-30%

Amortization on current year additions is pro-rated on the length of time in use in the current
year.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and
amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Nursery performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the carrying amount
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
measured using prices for similar items. Any impairment is included in operations for the year.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Any excess of revenue recorded on a
percentage of completion basis over amounts billed is recorded as unbilled revenue and included in
accounts receivable. Any excess of amounts billed over revenue recorded on a percentage of
completion basis is recorded as unearned revenue.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)
Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounts
receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful
accounts is provided where considered necessary. Unbilled accounts receivable and unearned revenue
are based on estimated percentage of completion. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives
of tangible capital assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as
adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become
known.

Donated materials and services

Donated materials and services are recorded in the accounts at their fair value. Fair value is based on
the amounts that would be paid if these materials and services were purchased in the normal course of
business. No amount has been included in cases when fair value could not be reasonably estimated.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement
Amortized cost

The Nursery has classified the following financial assets in the amortized cost category: accounts
receivable. These assets are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the
instrument's initial cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell
these items are recorded on the trade date.

Accounts receivable are subsequently measured at their amortized cost, using the effective interest
method. Under this method, estimated future cash receipts are exactly discounted over the asset's
expected life, or other appropriate period, to its net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition less principal payments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, and less any reduction for impairment or uncollectability.

The Nursery has classified the following liabilities in the amortized cost category: working capital
advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. These
liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial
cost in a transaction between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are
recorded on the trade date.

Working capital advances, accounts payable and accruals and borrowings from the Province of
Manitoba are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Under this
method, estimated future cash payments are exactly discounted over the liability's expected life, or other
appropriate period, to their net carrying value. Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial
liability is measured at initial recognition less principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)
Fair value

The Nursery has classified portfolio investments in the fair value category. These assets are initially
recognized at their fair value. Fair value is approximated by the instrument's initial cost in a transaction
between unrelated parties. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the trade date.

Investments are subsequently measured at their fair value. Investments in equity instruments that do not
have quoted market prices in an active market are measured at fair value using alternative means of
estimation. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses and
foreign exchange translation adjustments, are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and
losses as a remeasurement gain or loss, until the financial asset is sold or otherwise derecognized.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the statement of
remeasurement gains or losses is transferred to the consolidated statement of operations.

Financial risk management - overview

The Nursery has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Nursery to credit risk

consist principally of portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Nursery to credit risk is:

2018 2017
Portfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable 888 536
1,075 723

Portfolio investments: The Nursery is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by
the Minister of Finance. Portfolio investments have a fixed interest rate of 1.72% and mature March
2019.

Accounts receivable: Accounts receivable from two customers represents 81% (2017 - 69%) of total
accounts receivable as at March 31, 2018. The Nursery believes that there is minimal risk associated
with the collection of these amounts. The Nursery manages this credit risk through close monitoring of
overdue accounts. The Nursery establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical
payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are
allowed for or written off.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of the year 43 43
Provision for (recovery of) receivable impairment - -
Amounts written off - -
Balance, end of the year 43 43

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Nursery will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Nursery manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates,
will affect the Nursery’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to portfolio investments

and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested
at fixed rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Nursery is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk with respect to its borrowings, as described in
note 5, which bears interest with a floating rate over prime.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Nursery is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

Accounts receivable

2018 2017

Trade receivable:
Province of Manitoba 369 1
Other 258 263
627 264
Allowance for doubtful accounts (43) (43)
584 221
Unbilled revenue 297 307
Goods and Services Tax receivable 7 8
888 536
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Working capital advances

The Financing Authority has provided the Nursery with an authorized line of working capital of $5,000
(2017 - $5,000) of which $4,495 was advanced at March 31, 2018 (2016 - $3,661). The indebtedness
bears interest at prime less 1% (2017 — prime less 1%). Prime rate as at March 31, 2018 is 3.45%.

Employee future benefits

2018 2017

Severance benefits 344 366
Sick pay benefits 19 21
363 387

Pension benefits

Employees of the Nursery are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Nursery
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Nursery was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2018 was $76 (2017 - $88).

Under this agreement, the Nursery has no further pension liability.
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Nursery began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actual gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2014. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Nursery's actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 was $344 (2017 - $366), with an actuarial loss
being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2014 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates

annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

Employee future benefits (Continued from previous page)

Sick pay benefits

The Financing Authority provides sick pay benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick pay entitlement earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick pay
usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75%

annual salary increase.

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

2018 2017
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 404 480
$6,317, plus interest at 5.125%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 175 207
$2,727, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 114 136
$1,786, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 44 59
$1,250, plus interest at 3.875%, due February 2021.

737 882

Principal repayments in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2019 145
2020 145
2021 142
2022 130
2023 130

MNP



Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

8.

Tangible capital assets

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,263 6 - 6,269
Equipment 2,178 40 - 2,218
Total cost 8,441 46 - 8,487
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 4,950 69 - 5,019
Equipment 2,037 38 - 2,075
Total accumulated
amortization 6,987 107 - 7,094
Net
Buildings 1,313 (63) - 1,250
Equipment 141 2 - 143
Total 1,454 (61) - 1,393
2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,254 9 - 6,263
Equipment 2,134 44 - 2,178
Total cost 8,388 53 - 8,441
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 4,877 73 - 4,950
Equipment 2,000 37 - 2,037
Total accumulated
amortization 6,877 110 - 6,987
Net
Buildings 1,377 (64) - 1,313
Equipment 134 7 - 141
Total 1,511 (57) - 1,454
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands)

10.

11.

Designated assets

The Nursery has allocated $187 (2017 - $187) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entittements earned by employees of the
Nursery prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is
required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Economic dependence

The Nursery is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba, because it derives a significant
portion of its revenue from the Province and all of its financing requirements through the Financing
Authority.

The Nursery is also economically dependent on two of its main private sector clients as a significant
portion of its private sector revenue is derived from these two clients.

Subsequent event

On May 3, 2018, the Province of Manitoba announced the operations of Pineland Forest Nursery will
cease effective December 31, 2018 and is seeking a buyer to take over the facility.
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Pineland Forest Nursery

An Agency of the Government of Manitoba

Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operating Expenses

For the Year Ended March 31,2018

2018

Budget
(In thousands)

2018

Actual
(In thousands)

2017

Actual
(In thousands)

Operating expenses

Departmental services and professional fees 25 21 26
Freight 25 30 29
Marketing 5 3 4
Natural gas and hydro, Biomass fuel 225 219 292
Office 30 27 32
Property taxes and insurance 55 54 55
Repairs and maintenance 120 109 179
Supplies 170 181 209
Travel 5 5 7

660 649 833
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. Public Guardian and
T Trustee of Manitoba

155 Carlton St, Suite 500
Winnipeg MB  R3C 5R9
CANADA

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. In Management’s
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and
all other data available up to July 24, 2018. The financial information presented elsewhere in
the Annual Report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
information is reliable and accurate and that the assets of the Public Guardian and Trustee of
Manitoba — An Agency of the Province of Manitoba are properly safeguarded.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent, professional opinion on
whether the financial statements are fairly stated in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and
provides the audit opinion.

The Public Guardian and Trustee have reviewed and approved these financial statements and

the Annual Report in advance of its release and have approved its content and authorized its
release.

Original Document Signed

Douglas R. Brown
Public Guardian and Trustee



CFFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL
MANITORA
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba,
To the Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba, and
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations
and accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Public Guardian and Trustee’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Public Guardian and Trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control
as the Public Guardian and Trustee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's prepamtlun
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to de'ugn audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Public Guardian and Trustee, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations,
changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year thcn ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

Dl ofcec ot

Office of the Auditor General
July 24, 2018
Winnipeg, Manitoba

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba RIC 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.oag.mb.ca



PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA

An Agency of the Province of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)
Portfolio investments (Note 10)
Accounts receivable (Note 6)

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7)
Employee future benefits (Note 8)

Net financial assets
Non-financial assets

Prepaid expenses
Tangible capital assets (Note 9)

Accumulated surplus

March 31, March 31,
2018 2017
$6,092 $ 4,966

515 515
1,207 1,199
7,814 6,680

578 569

730 682
1,308 1,251
6,506 5,429

19 7
60 61
79 68
6,585 5,497

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
(Note 18)
Revenue
Fees and other revenue (Note 12) $ 7,260 $ 7,960 $ 7,086
Investment income 48 86 57
Total revenue 7,308 8,046 7,143
Expenses
Amortization of tangible capital assets (Note 9) 55 25 25
Accommodation costs (Note 11) 438 426 403
Other administration expenses (Note 13) 1,126 1,046 1,072
Salaries and benefits 5,363 5,106 4871
Pension benefits (Note 14) 355 356 384
Total expenses 7,337 6,958 6,755
Annual surplus (29) 1,088 388
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 5,497 5,497 5,109
Accumulated surplus, end of period year $ 5468 $ 6,585 $ 5497

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA

An Agency of the Province of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating
Annual surplus
Amortization of tangible capital assets

Changes in non-cash working capital balances:

Accounts receivable

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee future benefits

Prepaid expenses

Cash provided by operating activities
Capital

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Cash applied to capital activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest received

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2018
Actual

$ 1,088

1,113

(12)

1,150

(24)
(24)

1,126

4,966

$ 6,092

2017
Actual

$ 388
25
413

(197)
(507)
25

— (2
265

(26)
(26)

(291)

5257

$ 4,966




PUBLIC GUARDIAN AND TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

(In Thousands)

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
(Note18)
Annual Surplus $ (29) $ 1,088 $ 388
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (241) (24) (26)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 55 25 25
Net change in tangible capital assets 186 1 (1
Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (2) (12) (2)
Net change in other non-financial assets (2) (12) (2)
Net increase in net financial assets (217) 1,077 385
Net financial assets, beginning of year 5,429 5,429 5,044
Net financial assets, end of year $ 5212 $ 6,506 $ 5429

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



1.

Nature of organization

The Public Guardian and Trustee of Manitoba — An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority — Province of Manitoba (the “Agency”) protects the interests of Manitobans
by providing trust, legal, financial and personal services on a last resort basis to people who are
mentally incompetent, under the age of majority, or whose estates would otherwise be
unadministered upon their death.

Effective April 1, 1996, the Agency was designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. s185, C.C.S.M. and operates
under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2014 The
Public Guardian and Trustee’s name was changed from The Public Trustee upon the enactment
of legislation which updated and clarified the statutory roles of the office.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (“SOAFA”).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the Agency’s
operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances. The
financial framework provides increased management authority which, coupled with more rigorous
planning and reporting requirements afforded by Special Operating Agency status, assists the
Agency to sustain the provision of high quality service to its clients.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Justice assigns responsibility to
the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets and operations on behalf of
SOAFA.

The Agency continues to be part of Manitoba Justice. The Agency is a corporation sole with
perpetual succession. As a corporate entity, the Agency functions separately from government
and is capable of suing or being sued on behalf of the clients, trusts and estates which are
administered by the Agency.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound
by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in The Agency
charter in order to meet business objectives.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Significant accounting policies
a) Revenue recognition
i.  Administration fees are charged quarterly as earned to client accounts based on the
anniversary date of the account in accordance with the provisions of The Public
Guardian and Trustee Act. Fees revenue recognized during the year consists of all
fees charged.

ii. Other fees are recognized and charged to an account as services are provided.

ii. Statutory legal fees as prescribed in The Public Guardian and Trustee Act are
recognized as revenue when received.



b) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized annually at the following
rates and methods:

Furnishings and equipment 20%, declining balance basis

Computer hardware and software 20%, straight-line basis, 10% in the year of
Document management acquisition, software purchases less than $1 are
expensed in year of acquisition

Leasehold improvements 20%, straight-line basis

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer
contribute to the Agency’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book
value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the statement of operations and
accumulated surplus.

¢) Measurement uncertainty

In preparing the Agency’s financial statements, management is required to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates used in the financial statements include allowance for doubtful
accounts, amortization of tangible capital assets, sick benefits and accrued severance
benefits costs.

d) Capital disclosures

The Agency'’s capital consists of the accumulated surplus from operations.

The Agency’s capital management policy is to maintain sufficient capital to meet its
objectives through its accumulated surplus. The Agency has developed risk management
strategies, as described in Note 4, to preserve the accumulated surplus. There were no
changes in the Agency’s approach to capital management during the period.

The Agency is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand; demand deposits and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and that are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. These short-term investments generally
have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition and are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses include insurance and deposits and are charged over the periods
expected to benefit from it.



g) Expenses

Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services
received during the year is expensed.

h) Adoption of new accounting standards

On April 1, 2017 the Agency adopted Canadian public sector accounting standards PS
2200 related party disclosures, PS 3210 assets, PS 3320 contingent assets, PS 3380
contractual rights, and PS 3420 inter-entity transactions. The adoption of these standards
did not result in any adjustments to the financial statements as at April 1, 2017.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

Financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments, accounts
receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are initially recorded at their fair value
and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Gains and losses on financial instruments
measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations and
accumulated surplus in the period the gain or loss occurs. As at March 31, 2018, the Agency
does not have any financial instruments measured at fair value. In the event financial
instruments are measured at fair value gains and losses would be recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations and accumulated surplus.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended
March 31, 2018 (2017 - $nil).

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk,
liquidity risk and market risk which includes interest risk, and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments and
accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk is as follows:

2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents $6,092 $4,966
Portfolio investments 515 515
Accounts receivable 1,207 1,199
$7.814 $6.680




Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments are primarily held by the
Minister of Finance.

Credit Risk
Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the receivable is
composed of fees due from a diverse client base. The Agency establishes an allowance for

doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses.

The aging of fees receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts on the accrued administration
fees as at March 31, 2018 was as follows:

Net Allowance
Current (note 6) 1,216 $ 52
30-60 days past the billing date - -
61-90 days past the billing date - -
More than 90 days past the billing date - -
1.216 $ 52

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances. The Agency prepares
and monitors detailed forecasts of cash flows from operations and anticipated investing and
financing activities. The Agency continuously monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted
cash flows through periodic financial reporting. The Agency's accounts payable and accrued
liabilities mature within 12 months.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and equity prices will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial
instruments. The significant market risk that the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments is considered to be
low because of their short-term nature and because amounts are re-invested annually.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currencies.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
Cash $ 3,992 $ 3,241
Demand deposits 2,200 1,725

6,092 4.966

6. Accounts receivable

2018 2017
Fees receivable $1,216 $ 1,251
Allowance for doubtful accounts (52) (80)

1,164 1,171
Interest receivable 23 15
Advances to clients 14 7
Cost recoveries 6 6

1,207 1,199

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

N
e
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Operating expenses payable $ 104 $ 134
Vacation entitlements earned 442 402
GST payable to Canada Revenue Agency 32 33

$ 578 $ 569

8. Employee future benefits

2018 2017

Severance benefits $ 635 $ 587
Sick pay benefits 95 95
$ 730 $ 682

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized
over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.



An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis.

The Agency’s actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018
was $742 (2017 - $690). The actuarial loss of $228 based on actuarial reports is being amortized
over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (“EARSL”) of the employee group.
Benefits paid during the year were $27 (2017 — $59).

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

N
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Balance beginning of year $ 690 $ 679
Increase due to change in discount rate 19 -
Benefits accrued 33 29
Interest on accrued benefits 27 41
Severance paid (27) (59)
Accrued benefit liability 742 690
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (107) (103)
Severance benefit liability $ 635 587

The total expense related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation $ 27 $ 4
Employer service cost 33 29
Amortization of actuarial loss over EARSL 15 14
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 75 $ 84

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation
were:

2018 2017
Discount rate 3.80% 6.00%
Assumed salary increase rates 1.00% 1.00%
Annual productivity increase 2.75% 2.75%
Annual general salary increase 3.75% 3.75%

" In 2018 the discount rate was changed to reflect the province’s weighted average rate of
borrowing.

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides its employees with sick leave benefits that accumulate but do not vest. The
liability for accumulating, non-vesting sick pay benefits is based upon a review of past experience
to extrapolate a liability based upon expected future utilization of currently accumulated benefit.
The Agency is presenting the sick pay benefit liability at the 2018 value $95.

()
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9. Tangible capital assets

Cost

Cost

2018
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals _ Balance
Furnishings and equipment $ 343 $ - $ - $ 343
Computer hardware and software 123 2 - 125
Document management 17 2 - 19
Leasehold improvements 103 20 - 123
Total cost $ 586 $ 24 $ -  $610
Accumulated amortization
Furnishings and equipment $ 316 $ 5 $ - $ 321
Computer hardware and software 122 1 - 123
Document management 3 2 - 5
Leasehold improvements 84 17 - 101
Total accumulated amortization $ 525 $ 25 $ - $ 550
Net book value $ 61 $ (1) $ - §$ 60
2017
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals __ Balance
Furnishings and equipment $ 343 $ - $ - $ 343
Computer hardware and software 123 - - 123
Document management 17 - 17
Leasehold improvements 94 9 - 103
Total cost $ 560 $ 26 $ - $586
Accumulated amortization
Furnishings and equipment $ 309 $ 7 $ - $ 316
Computer hardware and software 121 1 - 122
Document management 3 - 3
Leasehold improvements 70 14 - 84
Total accumulated amortization $ 500 $ 25 $ - $ 525
Net book value $ 60 $ 1 $ - $ 61

10. Designated portfolio investments

Portfolio investments consist of designated assets and non-redeemable investments and
guaranteed investment certificates. The Agency has allocated $515 (2017 - $515) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for cash received from the Province of Manitoba
as settlement for the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its
employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account. Any unused balance is re-
invested annually. Funds are to be used for payments to employees for their outstanding

severance pay amounts. Interest during the year amounted to $3 (2017 - $3)



11.

12.

13.

Commitments

The Agency has an arrangement with the Province of Manitoba, through the Department of
Infrastructure and Transportation, for rental of its facilities at 155 Carlton Street in Winnipeg
and its facility in the Provincial Building in Brandon. Accommodation costs are estimated to
be $426 for the year ended March 31, 2019.

Fees and other revenue

2018 2017
Administration $ 6,825 $ 6,141
Legal fees 429 373
Income taxes 388 279
Inspection 318 293
$ 7,960 $ 7.086

Other administration expenses
2018 2017
Computer expenses $ 643 $ 631
Courier charges 6 9
Insurance, loss, damage 25 31
Office supplies 79 79
Other 2 5
Personnel expenses 23 27
Photocopies 2 2
Postage 73 73
Professional fees 18 41
Publications 2 2
Public communications 8 11
Records Centre charges 33 34
Rentals, equipment 1 1
Repairs and maintenance 11 8
Support services - Department of Justice 22 21
Telephone 52 52
Travel 46 45
$ 1,046 $ 1,072

14. Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions
of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (“CSSA”), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to
employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing
April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its
employees’ current pension contributions. The amount paid at March 31 was $356 (2017 -
$384). Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability. As at December
31, 2017 the Civil Service Superannuation Fund had a deficit of $4.4 billion.



15.

16.

17.

18.

Related party transactions

The Agency is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Agency enters into transactions with
these entities in the normal course of business. The transactions are recorded at the
exchange amount.

Escheats to the Crown

Escheats to the Crown relate to estates of deceased persons with no heirs. These estates
are sent by the Public Guardian and Trustee to the Department of Finance annually. Escheats
to the Crown, received by the Agency during the year and remitted to the Minister of Finance,
amounted to $43 (2017 - $102). These amounts are not reflected in these financial
statements.

Estates and trusts under administration

The client assets under administration at March 31, 2018 totaled approximately $260,000
(2017 - $260,000). The trust activities of the Agency are reported in a separate Estates and
Trusts under Administration financial statements.

Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the Agency.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency’s (the Agency) management is responsible for preparing the
financial statements ‘and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the
integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of the Agency’s financial position, results of operations,
change in net debt, and cash flows, in compliance with legislation, and in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of Canada. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, within reasonable limits
of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available through June 21, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Agency's assets. These controls also provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all transactions in all material respects, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Agency’s financial statements have been audited by MNP LLP, independent external auditors. The auditors’
responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of the Agency are presented
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors’ Report
outlines the scope of their audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Agency’s management,

Original Document Signed Original Document Signed
Sean Savage Joel Hershfield
A/Chief Operating Officer Manager, Finance and Administration

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 21,2018

An Agency of the Manitoba Government s
626 Henry Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3A 1P7

P. (204) 945-0275 T. 1-800-363-6693
F. (204) 957-1109 www.vema.gov.mb.ca
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency (VEMA):

WVe have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency (VEMA) (an
Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, changes in net debt and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Ve conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
desigh audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Vehicle and
Equipment Management Agency (VEMA) (an Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of
Manitoba), as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba MA/P LLP

June 21, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants

MNP,




Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

March 31 March 31
2018 2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,706 $ 447
Receivables (Note 5) 7,176 6,069
Portfolio investments (Notes 6 and 10) 1,433 1,433
Inventory for resale 5,537 4,553
15,852 12,502
Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 7) 0 955
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,767 4,314
Unearned revenue 2,723 3,294
Severance pay liability (Note 6) 1,480 1,500
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 114,856 119,131
122,826 129,194
Net debt (106,974) (116,692)
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses 3,042 2,831
Tangible capital assets (Note 9)
Vehicles and equipment 132,335 139,371
Office and shop equipment 333 406
Computer hardware and software 3 4
Leasehold improvements 260 223
132,931 140,004
135,973 142,835
Accumulated surplus $ 28,999 $ 26,143

Designated assets (Note 10)
Commitments (Note 11)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statement of Operations
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

2o
Projected Actual (Note 13)

Revenues
Vehicle and equipment utilization $ 57,000 $ 58,326 $ 58,110
Fuel billings 19,000 18,301 19,058
Insurance and other billings 5,200 5,303 5,151
Other revenue (Page 25) 10,000 11,709 9,362
91,200 93,639 91,681

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 11,500 10,504 11,229
Vehicle and equipment operating expenses (Page 25) 69,000 69,647 69,472
Administrative expenses (Page 25) 4,000 4,226 4,288
Community service 40 36 61
Interest expense 4,000 3,870 3,936
88,540 88,283 88,986
Income from operations 2,660 5,356 2,695
Transfers during the year to the Province of Manitoba 2,500 2,500 2,500
Net income 160 2,856 195
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 25,324 26,143 25,948
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 25,484 $ 28,999 $ 26,143

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




Financial Statements

Statement of Change in Net Debt
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

Net income

Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets

Net acquisition of tangible capital assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses during the year
Decrease (increase) in net debt

Net debt, beginning of year

Net debt, end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2018

2017

Projected Actual Actual
$ 160 $ 2,856 $ 195
(25,400) (24,670) (33,118)
28,115 28,439 27,590
(1,200) (2,152) (768)
4,000 5,456 4,065
5,515 7,073 (2,231)

0 (211) 36

5,675 9,718 (2,000)
(120,190) (116,692) (114,692)
$ (114,515)  $ (106,974) $ (116,692)
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Financial Statements

Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating activities
Net income
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net
Increase in severance pay liability
Payment of severance pay benefits

Change in:
Receivables
Inventory for resale
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Prepaid expenses

Cash provided by operating activities

Capital activities
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets
Acquisition of vehicles and equipment
Acquisition of office and shop equipment
Acquisition of computer hardware and software
Acquisition of leasehold improvements

Cash applied to capital activities

Financing activities
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba

Cash provided by (applied to) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash

Cash and cash equivalents, net of working capital advances (working
capital advances, net of cash and cash equivalents), beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, net of working capital advances (working
capital advances, net of cash and cash equivalents), end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2018 2017
$ 28% $ 195
28,439 27,590
(2,152) (768)
115 124

(135) (155)
29,123 26,986
(1,107) (399)
(984) 113
(547) (5,474)
(571) (672)
(211) 36
25,703 20,590
5,456 4,065
(24,605) (32,967)
(1) (59)

(0) (4)

(64) (88)
(19,214) (29,053)
18,000 27,000
(22,275) (20,390)
(4,275) 6,610
2,214 (1,853)
(508) 1,345

$ 1706 $  (508)




Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

1. Nature of organization

In 1934, Fleet Vehicles was created as a branch of the Manitoba provincial government to provide a
centralized fleet management program. On April 1, 1992, the branch was approved as a special operating
agency, the first such agency at the provincial level in Canada. Since inception, Fleet Vehicles Agency
primarily provided light duty vehicles and equipment services, with ambulances becoming a part of the fleet
starting in 2001/02. On April 1, 2003, the Agency assumed responsibility for Radio Services, a division that
evaluates and supplies the fixed and mobile radio requirements of its provincial and other clients.

Following the advent of engineering-based highway management in the 1960s, the Province established a
highways department. The Mechanical Equipment Services branch emerged as an integral and important
part of the department, primarily providing heavy duty vehicles and equipment, as well as warehousing
services. The provided services support the safe and efficient delivery of the department’s construction,
maintenance and preservation programs, and its remote airport programs, in a manner that incorporates the
principles of sustainable development and environmental awareness.

Effective April 1, 2009, Fleet Vehicles Agency and the Mechanical Equipment Services branch were
amalgamated into a new special operating agency named Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency
(“VEMA”, or the “Agency”). VEMA combines the acquisition, management and disposal of both light duty and
heavy duty vehicles and equipment under common management.

VEMA was a part of the Department of Infrastructure and Transportation through March 31, 2015, under the
general direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Supply and Services Division, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister and the Minister. As of April 1, 2015, the Agency was transitioned from
Infrastructure and Transportation to the Department of Finance, and is now under the direction of the Associate
Deputy Minister of Finance, Central Services, and ultimately the policy direction of the Minister of Finance.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has
the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances the
Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances. This financial framework enables VEMA to
operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement assigns responsibility to VEMA to manage and account for the Agency-related
assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy
except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

2. Basis of accounting

The Agency’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Revenues
Fixed rate lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Variable rate lease

revenue is recognized monthly based on equipment usage. Service revenue is recognized when the services
have been performed. All revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized at the gross amount on an accrual basis.
Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are authorized and all
eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

0] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

(i) Receivables

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Amounts doubtful of collection
are recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized.

(i) Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months. These
investments are recognized at cost.

(iv) Inventory for resale

Inventories for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a
weighted average basis.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal
year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of
settlement. Liabilities are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amounts involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These assets
are normally employed to provide future services.




Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

0] Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.
The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed.

(i) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties. Modifications or
additions to the original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost.

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the
future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values.

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful
lives in the following manner:

Vehicles and equipment 30%, declining balance method
Vehicles and equipment (signed lease Straight-line over term of lease
agreement)

Office and shop equipment 20%, declining balance method
Computer hardware and software 20%, straight-line method
Leasehold improvements 10%, straight-line method

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Judgment is
required in determining the future economic benefit of all non-financial assets, especially in the estimation of
the useful lives of tangible capital assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost. Financial
liabilities include working capital advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and borrowings from the
Province of Manitoba.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
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4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on
financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the
period the gain or loss occurs.

As the Agency has no financial instruments measured at fair value, it did not incur any re-measurement gains
and losses during the year ended March 31, 2018 (2017 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; and interest rate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to

credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk as of March 31, 2018, is:

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,706 $ 447
Receivables 7,176 6,069
Portfolio investments 1,433 1,433

$ 10,315 $ 7,949

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are primarily held by the Province of Manitoba.

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk since the receivables are with
departments, agencies and Crown corporations with the Manitoba provincial government, or are with
organizations within the broader public sector that are funded in part by the provincial or federal
governments. The receivable balances are from a large client base, and payment in full is typically
collected when it is due. An allowance for doubtful accounts was not recorded as of March 31, 2018
(2017 - $nil).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its
available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. Regular
determinations of the Agency’s working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are
reviewed by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to
enable the Agency to meet its obligations as they come due. The
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
contractual maturities of the Agency’s borrowings from the Province of Manitoba are included in note
8. Working capital advances are due on demand.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash, cash
equivalents, portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings.
The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents and working capital advances is considered to
be low because of their short term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered
low as the original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.
The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed
rate terms on each amount borrowed.
5. Receivables
March 31 March 31
2018 2017
Trade $ 4,310 $ 5,196
Accrued trade 2,116 123
Insurance rebate receivable 750 750
$ 7,176 $ 6,069
6. Severance pay liability

The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. Severance pay is determined by
multiplying years of service, to a maximum of 15 years, by the weekly salary at date of retirement, provided

the empl

oyee has reached nine years of service and retires from the Province. There is also additional

severance pay for employees with 20 or more years of accumulated service. The estimate is based upon the
method of calculation set by the Province of Manitoba.

The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits accumulated by the Agency’s employees
through specific dates. For the Fleet Vehicles Agency employees, that responsibility is reflected through the

payment

by the Province of $270 on March 31, 2009. For the Mechanical Equipment Services employees,

that responsibility is reflected through the payment by the Province of $1,163 on July 31, 2010. The $1,433
in combined payments is held in an interest bearing trust account until the cash is required to discharge the
related liability.
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6. Severance pay liability (continued)

An actuarial valuation report was completed for the severance pay liability as of April 1, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the Agency’s
liability is recalculated annually, with payments to retiring employees no longer with the Agency or the Province
charged against the liability.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the April 1, 2017, valuation, and in the determination of
the March 31, 2018, present value of the accrued severance benefit obligations were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%
Assumed salary increase rates
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.00%
3.00%

Actuarial valuation report updates are prepared every three years. Actuarial adjustments that result from the
updates are absorbed by VEMA as a part of the benefits and interest accrued during the year in which the
adjustment amounts are known.

The severance pay liability as of March 31 included the following components:

2018 2017
Severance pay liability, beginning of year $ 1,500 $ 1,531
Benefits and interest accrued during the year 115 124
Severance benefits paid during the year (135) (155)

$ 1,480 $ 1,500

7. Working capital advances

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advances of $5,000 as of March 31, 2018, none of which
was used as of that date (2017 - $955). Advances bear interest at prime less 1% and are unsecured.

8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt
instruments listed in this Note on behalf of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency.

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act authority are repayable in semi-annual instalments
of principal and interest, as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (continued)
Interest Semi-annual
rate payment ($) Maturity date 2018 2017
2.25% 269 September 30, 2017 $ 0 $ 266
2.125% 530 September 30, 2017 0 524
2.125% 212 March 31, 2018 0 417
2.2% 232 September 30, 2018 230 682
2.75% 754 September 30, 2018 744 2,201
2.5% 535 September 30, 2019 1,566 2,578
2.5% 482 September 30, 2019 1,409 2,320
2.625% 272 March 31, 2020 1,052 1,559
1.875% 631 September 30, 2020 3,070 4,258
1.8125% 265 March 31, 2021 1,541 2,036
2.125% 530 March 31, 2021 3,063 4,042
2% 267 September 30, 2021 1,793 2,283
2.3125% 269 September 30, 2021 1,800 2,288
1.875% 789 September 30, 2021 5,323 6,781
2.25% 478 March 31, 2022 3,640 4,500
2.8% 526 September 30, 2022 4,423 5,333
2.625% 569 September 30, 2022 4,801 0
2.4375% 338 March 31, 2023 3,162 3,750
2.875% 540 March 31, 2023 5,000 0
4.875% 237 September 30, 2023 2,262 2,613
3.4% 102 September 30, 2023 1,017 1,182
2.625% 488 September 30, 2023 4,967 5,796
2.75% 246 September 30, 2023 2,491 0
5% 334 March 31, 2024 3,431 3,910
4.875% 192 March 31, 2024 1,977 2,254
2.625% 349 March 31, 2024 3,846 4,431
4.5% 162 September 30, 2024 1,805 2,039
2.3% 516 September 30, 2024 6,196 7,070
2.75% 263 March 31, 2025 3,325 3,750
4% 201 September 30, 2025 2,582 2,872
3.9% 158 September 30, 2025 2,034 2,263
4.55% 162 March 31, 2026 2,156 2,375
3.21% 357 March 31, 2026 5,000 0
3.3% 213 September 30, 2027 3,444 3,748
3.25% 127 September 30, 2027 2,064 2,247
3.375% 86 March 31, 2028 1,441 1,561
5% 80 March 31, 2030 1,425 1,510
94,080 95,439
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8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (continued)

Amount of debt owing in connection with the transfer of Mechanical Equipment
Services branch net assets on April 1, 2009

4.875% 2,018 March 31, 2024 20,776 23,692

Amount of borrowings owing to the Province of Manitoba at year-end $ 114,856 $ 119,131

Unused loan authority of $8,000 was available as of March 31, 2017. An additional $20,000 of loan authority
availability was approved in The Loan Act, 2017, with $8,000 of the combined availability drawn down on
September 30, 2017, and a further $10,000 of the availability drawn down on March 31, 2018. Unused loan
authority available as of March 31, 2018, was $10,000.

All borrowings from the Province of Manitoba are payable in instalments of principal and interest on March 31
and September 30 each year. Interest cost is measured using the effective interest method.

As of March 31, 2018, principal repayments in each of the next five years on the combined outstanding
balances owing to the Province of Manitoba are as follows:

2019 $ 22,932
2020 21,607
2021 20,063
2022 17,137
2023 14,327
9. Tangible capital assets
2018
Opening Closing
Cost balance Additions Disposals balance
Vehicles and equipment $ 277,979 $ 24,605 $ (21,725) $ 280,859
Office and shop equipment 1,783 1 (58) 1,726
Computer hardware and software 394 0 ©) 394
Leasehold improvements 1,007 64 0) 1,071
281,163 24,670 (21,783) 284,050
Accumulated amortization
Vehicles and equipment 138,608 28,338 (18,422) 148,524
Office and shop equipment 1,377 73 (57) 1,393
Computer hardware and software 390 1 ©) 391
Leasehold improvements 784 27 0) 811
141,159 28,439 (18,479) 151,119

Net book value $ 140,004  $ (3,769) $ (3,304)  $ 132,931
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9. Tangible capital assets (continued)
2017

Opening Closing
Cost balance Additions Disposals balance
Vehicles and equipment $ 270,507 $ 32,967 $ (25,495) $ 277,979
Office and shop equipment 1,724 59 0) 1,783
Computer hardware and software 399 4 9) 394
Leasehold improvements 919 88 (0) 1,007

273,549 33,118 (25,504) 281,163
Accumulated amortization
Vehicles and equipment 133,328 27,478 (22,198) 138,608
Office and shop equipment 1,292 85 0) 1,377
Computer hardware and software 398 1 9) 390
Leasehold improvements 758 26 (0) 784

135,776 27,590 (22,207) 141,159
Net book value $ 137,773 $ 5,528 $ (3,297) $ 140,004

10. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $1,433 (2017 - $1,433) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for its
severance pay liability.

11. Commitments

(@) VEMA has arrangements with the Government of Manitoba for the rental of facilities in Beausejour,
Brandon, Dauphin, The Pas, Thompson and Winnipeg, Manitoba. Occupancy charges for each fiscal
year including 2018/19 are established annually based on the approved budget for the
Accommodation Services division of Central Services, Finance. Occupancy charges for 2018/19 are
estimated at $2,500 for the year, to be paid in quarterly instalments during 2018/19.

(b) VEMA'’s approved 2018/19 Business Plan calls for $2,700 to be paid to the Consolidated Fund of the
Province of Manitoba for the year in quarterly instalments of $675 together with a payment by June
30, 2019, of 50% of the Agency’s actual net income for the 2018/19 year that is in excess of its
projected net income for the year of $817.

12. Pension benefits

Employees of VEMA are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service
Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established
a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to
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12. Pension benefits (continued)

participating agencies of the provincial government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service
Superannuation Fund.

The pension liability related to the CSSA’s defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba’'s
financial statements. Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency’s financial statements relating to the
effects of participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees.

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions
paid by its employees. The amount paid for 2018 was $681 (2017 - $787).

13. Comparative financial statements

Certain reclassifications have been made in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017, to
make their presentation comparable to that in the actual financial statements for the year ended March 31,
2018.
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Schedule of Other Revenue and Expenses
Year Ended March 31, 2018
(In thousands of dollars)

Other revenue
Body shop service
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net
Garage regular service
Insurance premium rebates
Interest income
Other service revenue
Radio Services

Vehicle and equipment operating expenses
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Fuel
Insurance premiums
Licenses
Repairs and maintenance

Administrative expenses
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Fleet management information system
Occupancy costs
Other costs
Professional fees
SOAFA charges
Supplies and materials
Telephone and communication

2018 2017

Actual

Projected Actual (Note 13)
$ 750 903 $ 779
1,200 2,152 768
5,000 6,049 4,968
1,500 1,730 1,670

10 10 9

140 175 156
1,400 690 1,012

$ 10,000 11,709 $ 9,362
$ 28,000 28,339 $ 27,478
19,300 18,610 18,848
5,500 5,561 5,625
150 149 149
16,050 16,988 17,372
$ 69,000 69,647 $ 69,472
$ 115 100 $ 112
450 409 431
2,600 2,498 2,488
450 779 835

20 19 28

6 7 7

215 270 236

144 144 151

$ 4,000 4,226 $ 4,288
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying financial statements and all the information in the annual report are the responsibility
of the management of Vital Statistics Agency and have been prepared in accordance with Public Sector
Accounting Standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared
within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary
estimates and all other data available to June 27, 2018.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide reasonable
assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all the transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of Bulat & Poustie is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of Vital Statistics Agency are fairly presented in accordance with Public Sector Accounting
Standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides
the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,
Vital Statistics Agency

Original Document Signed

Alena Lukes, Acting Director
June 27, 2018



BULAT & POUSTIE i A K STt

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS Telephone: (204) 831-1700
Fax: (204) 831-7812

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vital Statistics Agency, an Agency of the
Government of Manitoba which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the
statement of operations, statement of change in net financial assets (debt), and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Vital Statistics Agency as at March 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Pk Aot
June 27, 2018

Winnipeg, Manitoba CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands)
AS AT MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents, note 6 552 299
Accounts receivable, note 7 118 140
Portfolio investments 94 94
Inventories for resale 194 139
958 672
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals 85 37
Unearned revenue 188 173
Accrued unused vacation entitlements 199 193
Employee future benefits, note 8 270 280
742 683
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (DEBT) 216 (11)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses 166 64
Tangible capital assets, note 9 441 488
607 552
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 823 541

Designated assets, note 10
Commitments, note 11

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
REVENUE
Net sales $ 3,791 $ 3,795 § 3,747
Proceeds from government departments 165 229 300
Interest 1 1 1
3,957 4,025 4,048
EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits 2,468 2,360 2,382
Operating expenses, Schedule 1 1,270 1,147 1,126
Amortization 119 96 120
Funeral Board of Manitoba operating grant - - 140
3,857 3,603 3,768
Net income before the transfer of funds to the
Province of Manitoba 100 422 280
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba, note 12 140 140 120
NET INCOME (LOSS) (40) 282 160
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 541 541 381
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR 3 501 $ 823 § 541

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (DEBT)
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
NET INCOME $ (40) 8 282 § 160
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (49) (29)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 119 96 120
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 119 47 91
OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses - (102) 21
INCREASE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 79 227 272
NET DEBT, BEGINNING OF YEAR (11) (11) (283)
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (DEBT), END OF YEAR § 68 § 216§ (11)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017
Actual Actual
CASH PROVIDED BY (APPLIED TO):
OPERATING
Net income $ 282 160
Amortization of tangible capital assets 96 120
378 280
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 22 (26)
Inventories for resale (55) 55
Accounts payable and accruals 48 (288)
Unearned revenue 14 40
Accrued unused vacation entitlements 7 (3)
Employee future benefits (10) 33
Prepaid expenses (102) 21
302 112
CAPITAL
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (49) (29)
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 253 83
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 299 216
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 552 299
Supplementary information:
Interest paid $ - -
Interest received $ 1 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

1. ENTITY DEFINITION

Effective April 1, 1994, the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Vital Statistics Agency
(the "Agency") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢S185) by Order in Council 232/1994. The Order also gave approval to
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) and the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, to enter into a
Management Agreement with respect to the Agency.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Agency in
delivering regulated services to clients through administration of three major Acts; The Vital
Statistics Act, The Change of Name Act, and The Marriage Act. The Agency also handles
disinterments under the Public Health Act. The ownership of the vital events records is excluded
from this agreement, as their ownership is considered Crown property and should not be alienated
from Government protection in the the public interest.

The Agency is part of the Consumer and Corporate Affairs Division in the Healthy Living, Seniors
and Consumer Affairs Department under the general direction of the Minister of Healthy Living,
Seniors and Consumer Affairs, the Deputy Minister and Assistant Deputy Minister who is also
Chairperson of Vital Statistics Advisory Board.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulation. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Deferred Revenue and Revenue Recognition

Government transfers
Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations is recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met,
except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Exchange transactions
The Agency receives cash payments at the time various certificates are ordered and the
cash payments are reflected as deferred revenue. Revenue is recognized at the time the
service is completed and the certificate is issued.

Other revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

Accrual accounting
All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government transfers
Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balance, bank indebtedness, and
investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. The investments are recognized at cost. :

Inventories for resale
Inventory of certificates and pre-printed forms are valued at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is generally determined on a first-in, first-out method.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end
of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Rate Method

Data conversion 20 % Declining balance
Furniture and fixtures 20 % Straight line
Information system 20 % Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 20 % Straight line
National Routing System -

Computer equipment and

software 20 % Declining balance
Office equipment 20 % Straight line
Security equipment 20 % Straight line

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement
Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
portfolio investments, accounts receivable, and inventories for resale. The Agency also
records its financial liabilities at cost, which includes accounts payable and accruals.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in
accumulated surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of
the financial instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified
to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost
or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss
occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2017 - $nil).

Financial Risk Management - overview
The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject
the Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management - continued

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at year end is:

2018 2017
Cash on hand and balances in bank, note 6 $ 552 $ 299
Accounts receivable 118 140
Portfolio investments 94 94
$ 764 $ 533

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these instruments are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as no one party
accounts for a significant balance of trade receivables and payment in full is typically
collected when it is due. The majority of the other receivables is due from the federal
government. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer
analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The aging of accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2018
was:

Net Allowance
Current $ 95 $ -
31-60 days past billing date 11 -
61-90 days past billing date 3 -
Greater than 90 days past the billing date 9 -
Balance, end of the year $ 118 $ -

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of the year $ - $ 1
Amounts written off - (1)
Balance, end of the year $ - $ -

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management - continued

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered to be low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not
exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments
denominated in foreign currency.

5. WAIVER OF FEES
The Agency charges no fee for services in exchange for services from the following organizations:

(a) The Manitoba Bureau of Statistics.
(b) Vital Statistics Offices in other jurisdictions through agreements to exchange information
between jurisdictions as it relates to one another's residency or birthplace.

Services provided under the above agreements are valued at $32 for the year ended March 31,
2018 (2017 - $32).

The Agency provides services without compensation to victims of crimes as follows:

In March of 1998, the Ministers of Justice, Consumer and Corporate Affairs, and Highways and
Transportation agreed that the fees for replacement documents should be waived.
Representatives of Vital Statistics and the Division of Driver and Vehicle Licensing met to
coordinate the process so the public would receive the same program from both agencies.

Effective January 1, 1999, members of the public who have had their birth certificate stolen
during a criminal act can request replacement certificates and have the fee waived. This does
not apply to members of the public who have lost their identification or individuals who are non-
residents of Manitoba. Clients are asked to indicate that they are requesting a waiver of fees as
aresult of a criminal act and to provide police incident number.

Service provided under the above arrangement are valued at $5 for the year ended March 31,
2018 (2017 - $5).



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND BANK INDEBTEDNESS

2018 2017

Cash on hand and balances in bank less outstanding
cheques $ 552 $ 299

Working capital advances and long term financing for significant capital purchases are provided to
the Agency through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority. The Financing Authority
has approved a $212 limit (2017 - $212) for working capital advances and a capital supply of $250
for the Agency. At March 31, 2018 the Agency has accessed working capital advances of $nil
(2017 - $nil).

7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2018 2017
Trade $ 118 $ 140
8. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
2018 2017
Severance benefits $ 233 $ 243
Sick pay benefits 37 37
$ 270 $ 280

Pension benefits

Employees of the Vital Statistics Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the
provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA) administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits
to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the Vital Statistics Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Vital
Statistics Agency transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its
employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2018 was $127 (2017 - $154).
Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Employee Future Benefits - continued

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2017. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Vital Statistics Agency's
actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2018 was $233 (2017 -
$243). The actuarial loss of $182 (2017 - $94) based on actuarial reports is being amortized over
the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2017 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2018 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation
were;

Annual rate of return - 380%

Assumed salary increase rates
Annual productivity increase 1.00 %
Annual general salary increase 275 %
3.75 %

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year $ 243 $ 210
Actuarial loss 129 47
Benefits accrued 14 15
Interest on accrued benefits 13 13
Severance paid (44) (2)
Accrued benefit liability 355 283
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (122) (40)
Severance benefit liability 233 $ 243

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

2018 2017
Interest on obligation 13 $ 13
Current period benefit cost 14 15
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 6 6
Total expense related to severance benefits 33 $ 34




VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Employee Future Benefits - continued
Sick pay benefits

Vital Statistics Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest.
The accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitement earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee
demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00%
annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.

9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2018
Opening Additions/ Closing
Balance Transfers Disposals Balance

Cost
Data conversion $ 2,580 $ 9 % - $ 2,589
Furniture and fixtures 134 - - 134
Information system 1,619 - - 1,619
Leasehold improvements 99 - - 99
National Routing System 448 20 - 468
Office equipment 221 (3) - 218
Security equipment 75 23 - 98

5,176 49 - 5,225
Accumulated amortization
Data conversion 2,299 51 - 2,350
Furniture and fixtures 127 2 - 129
Information system 1,487 27 - 1,514
Leasehold improvements 99 - - 99
National Routing System 384 16 - 400
Office equipment 217 - - 217
Security equipment 75 - - 75

4,688 96 - 4,784

Net book value - $ 488 $ (47) $ - $ 441




VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

Tangible Capital Assets - continued

2017

Opening Additions/ - Closing
Balance Transfers Disposals Balance

Cost
Data conversion $ 2,555 $ 25 § - $ 2,580
Furniture and fixtures 133 1 - 134
Information system 1,619 - - 1,619
Leasehold improvements 99 - - 99
National Routing System 448 - - 448
Office equipment 218 3 - 221
Security equipment 75 - - 75

5,147 29 - 5,176
Accumulated amortization
Data conversion 2,235 64 - 2,299
Furniture and fixtures 125 2 - 127
Information system 1,453 34 - 1,487
Leasehold improvements 99 - - 99
National Routing System 368 16 - 384
Office equipment 213 4 - 217
Security equipment 75 - - 75

4,568 120 - 4,688
Net book value $ 579 §$ 91) $ - $ 488

10. DESIGNATED ASSETS

The Agency has allocated $94 (2017 - $94) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitliements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March
31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held by an interest bearing account until
the cash is required to discharge the related liabilites. Any unused balance is re-invested
annually.

11. COMMITMENTS

The Agency has not entered into a lease agreement with the Province of Manitoba for rental of
facilities at 254 Portage Avenue. Occupancy charges for the year ending March 31, 2019 are
estimated to be $189 (2018 - $189).

12. TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $140 (2017 - $120) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2018

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures on Schedule 1 have been restated to conform with the classification
used in the current year.



VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MANITOBA

Schedule 1

SCHEDULE OF OPERATING EXPENSES

(in thousands)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual
(Note 13)

Accommodation 3 189 § 190 § 189
Central government charges 46 46 43
Computer information system 275 258 248
Digital imaging 26 30 29
Manitoba Gazette charges 25 22 25
Office equipment support 8 6 6
Office supplies 25 22 24
Other operating expenses 55 44 20
Printed material supplies 212 168 212
Professional fees 65 36 41
Security 45 45 -
Telecommunications 53 49 51
Training 8 1 1
Transportation and freight 238 230 237

$ 1270 $ 1,147  § 1,126




Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Non-consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

March 31, March 31,
2018 2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,130,351 $ 449,459
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 5,805 31,129
Accumulated Surplus $ 1,124,546 $ 418,330

Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Non-consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the Year Ended March 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

2018 2017

Revenue

Transfer from Green Manitoba Eco Solutions 716,118 -

Total revenue 716,118 -
Expense

Supplies and services 9,902 17,290

Total expense 9,902 17,290
Net income (loss) 706,216 (17,290)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 418,330 435,620
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 1,124,546 $ 418,330
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

To the Manitoba Legislative Assembly and
To the Board of Governors of the Université de Saint-Boniface

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Université de Saint-Boniface, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, the statement of operations and
changes in fund balances, the statement of remeasurement gains, and the cash flow statement for the
year then ended, as well as a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained as part of our audit is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Université de Saint-Boniface as at March 31, 2018 and its activities, remeasurement gains and
cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

]>M S.E.MC.R.L. s.r. 1.

June 26, 2018
Chartered Professional Accountants
Winnipeg, Manitoba



Université de Saint-Boniface
Statement of
As at March 31, 2018

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable and other assets

Investments
Capital assets
Interfund accounts

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred income
Deferred contributions

Commitments

Fund balances
Unrestricted

Restricted

Invested in capital assets
Endowed

Accumulated remeasurement gains

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

On behalf of the Board of Governors

"Antoine Hacault", Chair
"Gabor Csepregi", President

Notes

(€

10

General Restricted
Operating Fund Funds
$ $
646,383
1,351,137 106,407
1,997,520 106,407
26,333,695
(19,109,490) 19,651,747
9,221,725 19,758,154
4,143,626 35,847
395,460
868,222
5,407,308 35,847
2,052,846
19,722,307
2,052,846 19,722,307
1,761,571
9,221,725 19,758,154

2018 2017
Capital Assets Endowment
Fund Fund Total Total
$ $ $ $
646,383 1,440,888
155,750 1,613,294 1,113,662
155,750 2,259,677 2,554,550
17,914,257 44,247,952 42,091,044
27,484,268 27,484,268 26,965,996
(152,415) (389,842)
27,487,603 17,524,415 73,991,897 71,611,590
4,179,473 4,044,810
395,460 347,833
868,222 1,280,528
5,443,155 5,673,171
2,052,846 2,051,966
19,722,307 18,116,556
27,487,603 27,487,603 26,965,996
16,188,123 16,188,123 15,126,619
27,487,603 16,188,123 65,450,879 62,261,137
1,336,292 3,097,863 3,677,282
27,487,603 17,524,415 73,991,897 71,611,590



Université de Saint-Boniface

Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances

For the yvear ended March 31, 2818

Revenues
Grants
Provincial
Federal
Tuition fees
Investment income
Other revenue
Donations
Rental and parking charges

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other expenses
Amortization - capital assets
Travel and conferences
Utilities
Scholarships and awards

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenses before transfers

Transfers
Interest
Allocations for future projects
Allocations for indirect costs
Project funding
Reclassification of restrictions
Purchase/transfer of capital assets

Excess revenues over expenses net of
transfers

Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

Notes

N

2018

General Operating Restricted Capital Endowment
Fund Funds Assets Fund Fund Total
$ $ $ $ $
17,699,482 — 445,458 — 18,144,940
3,849,674 490,024 681,098 - 5,020,796
5,132,391 - —_ —_ 5,132,391
1,741,590 - —_ 1,300,723 3,042,313
1,394,193 103,240 —_ 2,211 1,499,644
22,575 500,982 - 228,562 752,119
701,378 —_ — — 701,378
30,541,283 1,094,246 1,126,556 1,531,496 34,293,581
22,676,691 533,871 —_— —_ 23,210,562
4,524,530 163,805 8,663 151,649 4,848,647
: — - 1,194,809 - 1,194,809
633,119 40,596 - - 673,715
634,184 - - —_ 634,184
11,906 183,739 —_ 346,277 541,922
28,480,430 922,011 1,203,472 497,926 31,103,839
2,060,853 172,235 (76,916) 1,033,570 3,189,742
(380,959) 380,959 - - -
(1,361,518) 1,361,518 - - -
50,000 (50,000) - - -
54,577 (54,577) - - -
(50) (27,884) —_ 27,934 —_
(422,023) (176,500) 598,523 - -
(2,059,973) 1,433,516 598,523 27,934 -
880 1,605,751 521,607 1,061,504 3,189,742
2,051,966 18,116,556 26,965,996 15,126,619 62,261,137
2,052,846 19,722,307 27,487,603 16,188,123 65,450,879

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.



Université de Saint-Boniface

Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances {cont'd)

Far the yvear ended March 31, 2018

Revenues
Grants
Provincial
Federal
Tuition fees
Investment income
Other revenue
Donations
Rental and parking charges

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other expenses
Amortization - capital assets
Travel and conferences
Utilities
Scholarships and awards

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenses before transfers

Transfers
Interest
Allocations for future projects
Allocations for indirect costs
Project funding
Reclassification of restrictions
Purchase/transfer of capital assets

Excess revenues over expenses net of
transfers

Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

fotes

4

2017

General Restricted Capital Assets Endowment
Operating Fund Funds Fund Fund Total
$ $ $ $ $
17,683,069 - 2,420 — 17,685,489
3,782,992 542,195 355,154 — 4,680,341
5,249,700 — — - 5,249,700
1,640,173 — — 1,088,059 2,728,232
1,414,307 55,616 — 2,216 1,472,139
20,300 531,094 — 200,760 752,154
685,348 - — — 685,348
30,475,889 1,128,905 357,574 1,291,035 33,253,403
22,963,315 546,112 — - 23,509,427
4,115,988 77,891 —_ 141,776 4,335,655
— — 1,130,160 — 1,130,160
641,865 63,994 — — 705,859
576,698 — — — 576,698
58,528 53,850 — 412,135 524,513
28,356,394 741,847 1,130,160 553,911 30,782,312
2,119,495 387,058 (772,586) 737,124 2,471,091
(364,566) 364,566 — - —
(1,473,500) 1,473,500 — — —
50,400 (50,400) - — —
(115,009) 115,009 — — —
— (42,944) — 42,944 —_
(210,702) (1,069,500) 1,280,202 — —
~(2,113,377) 790,231 1,280,202 42,944 —
6,118 1,177,289 507,616 780,068 2,471,091
2,045,848 16,939,267 26,458,380 14,346,551 59,790,046
2,051,966 18,116,556 26,965,996 15,126,619 62,261,137




Université de Saint-Boniface
Statement of Remeasurement Gains
For the year ended March 31, 2018

Accumulated remeasurement
gains, beginning of year

Unrealized gains on investment
portfolio

Net gains realized on
investment portfolio,
reclassified in-the statement
of operations

Net remeasurement gains
(losses)

Accumulated remeasurement
gains, end of year

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

2018 2017

General Endowment
Operating Fund Fund Total Total
$ $ $ $
2,018,936 1,658,346 3,677,282 2,604,122
712,270 490,018 1,202,288 2,345,743
(969,635) (812,072) (1,781,707) (1,272,583)
(257,365) (322,054) (579,419) 1,073,160
1,761,571 1,336,292 3,097,863 3,677,282



Université de Saint-Boniface
Cash Flow Statement
Far the year ended March 31, 2018

Operating Activities
Excess revenues over expenses before transfers
Items not affecting cash flow
Amortization - capital assets
Deferred contributions reported as revenue
Capital loss

Changes in non-cash working capital items
Accounts receivable and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred income

Investing Activities
Netincrease in investments
Purchase of capital assets
Sale of capital assets

Financing activities
Deferred contributions - monies received

(Decrease)/increase in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

2018 2017

$ $

3,189,742 2,471,091
1,194,809 1,130,160
(1,337,695) (776,872)
8,663 —
3,055,519 2,824,379
(499,632) 162,066
134,663 34,011
47,627 37,348
2,738,177 . 3,057,804
(2,736,327) (2,445,354)
(1,725,078) (1,637,776)
3,334 _
(4,458,071) (4,083,130)
925,389 1,289,900
(794,505) 264,574
1,440,888 1,176,314
646,383 1,440,888




Université de Saint-Boniface
Motes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies
Authority and Objectives

The Université de Saint-Boniface (USB) was incorporated in the Province of Manitoba in 1871. It
is governed by its Board of Governors under the authority of The Université de Saint-Boniface
Act (C.C.S.M., c. U150).

The USB is a registered charity and is therefore exempt from the payment of income tax,
pursuant to section 149 of the Income Tax Act.

The USB's capital is comprised of the following funds: unrestricted, restricted, capital asset
investment and endowment. There have been no changes in what the USB considers to be its
capital since the previous year.

The USB's objectives are to meet the educational needs of the Francophone community and to
promote their linguistic, cultural, economic and social well-being. In order to achieve these
objectives, the USB provides a broad range of French-language opportunities in the areas of
education and research.

The USB manages its capital in order to maintain adequate resources to meet its objectives. The
USB also maintains adequate resources to meet its obligations such as general and
administrative expenses, major repairs and the purchase of necessary capital assets.

Fund Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards with the component of accounting standards applicable to non-profit
organizations as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (Chapter PS 4200).

The USB has adopted the fund accounting method and the restricted fund method of
recognizing contributions.

The USB has four main funds: the General Operating Fund, the Restricted Funds, the Capital
Assets Fund and the Endowment Fund.

General Operating Fund

The General Operating Fund accounts for program delivery and administrative activities.
This fund reports unrestricted resources and restricted operating grants. It includes the

following operations and activities:
e University sector

e College sector

e Continuing education

e Support services, which include, among other things, administrative, financial and IT
operations and student services.



Université de Saint-Boniface
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Fund Accounting (cont'd)
Restricted Funds

The Restricted Funds include the internally and externally restricted funds and the Research
Fund. The Internally Restricted Fund is made up of monies set aside by the Board of
Governors for various future needs. The Externally Restricted Fund is subject to restrictions
set by a donor or third party. The Research Fund accounts for the carrying out of projects
and research-related activities.

Capital Assets Fund

The Capital Assets Fund reports USB equity that is not available for other purposes because
it has been invested in capital assets.

Endowment Fund

The Endowment Fund is comprised of money or securities received by way of bequest,
endowment or donation, the capital of which is to be maintained at its original amount, as
per the donor's or testator's instructions.

Revenue Recognition

Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue of the General
Operating Fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred, or the project or activity
is completed. Restricted contributions paid to the Capital Assets Fund, the Restricted Funds and
the Endowment Fund are recognized as revenue in the year in which they are received.

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the General Operating Fund in the year
they are received.

Funding agreements entered into, in the form of promissory notes, with the Manitoba
Department of Finance for the construction or acquisition of capital assets are recorded as
capital asset grants. These notes will be reimbursed using future funding received from
Manitoba Education and Training. Future funding received from the Department in connection
with the promissory notes to cover interest and principal payments is not included in the
statement of operations and changes in fund balances.

Capital asset grants are recognized as revenue in the statement of operations and changes in
fund balances in accordance with the restricted fund method of accounting.

Contributions for endowment are recognized as revenue in the Endowment Fund. Given that it is
restricted, investment income earned on Endowment Fund resources is recognized as revenue
of the Endowment Fund.



Université de Saint-Boniface
Motes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Financial Instruments

The USB records its financial instruments at fair value or at the amortized cost.

Fair Value

This category includes cash, derivative instruments, and investments in equity instruments
listed on active markets. The USB has chosen to record these financial instruments at fair
value.

They are initially recorded at cost upon purchase and then held at fair value. Unrealized
gains and losses on fair value are recorded on the statement of remeasurement gains until
they are realized. When they are realized, they are transferred to, and recorded on, the
statement of operations and changes in fund balances.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments recorded at fair value are reported as
expenses when incurred.

When a decrease in fair value is determined to be more than temporary, the amount of the
loss is deducted from the accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and reported on
the statement of operations and changes in fund balances. When the financial instrument is
sold, the amount accumulated in the accumulated remeasurement gains and losses with
regard to this instrument is transferred from the net assets and reported on the statement
of operations and changes in fund balances.

During the fiscal year, the USB did not acquire any derivative products, whether as
instruments to mitigate foreign exchange or interest rate risk or to manage foreign
exchange positions.

Amortized Cost ,
This category includes accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses.

These assets are initially recorded at cost then held at the amortized cost calculated on the
basis of the effective interest rate method less a deduction for their loss in value.

The decrease in value of the financial instruments reported at the amortized cost is
recorded when the amount of the loss is known with sufficient accuracy and there is no
realistic likelihood of recovery. The financial instruments are then adjusted at their net
recoverable value and the decreased value is reported on the statement of operations and
changes in fund balances.

Inventories

Purchases of supplies are expensed in the year of acquisition and the value of inventories is not
recorded at year-end as it is considered negligible. The USB contracts out food services and
does not operate a bookstore.



Université de Saint-Boniface
Motes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)
Capital Assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Donated capital
assets are recorded at fair market value at the date of donation. Amortization is provided on a
straight-line basis over the assets' estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 25-60 years
Parking lot 20 years
Equipment, furniture and

furnishings 10 years
Computer equipment 5 years

Amortization is reported in the Capital Assets Fund.

Library acquisitions (books, periodicals, digital video, compact disks, etc.) are catalogued and
expensed in the year of acquisition. The rare-book collection, most of which is donated, in
inventoried and insured, but its contents are not recorded or amortized as capital assets. No
estimate of the value of this collection is available.

Artwork

Artwork is reported as equipment and furnishings at fair market value if it is possible to provide
a reasonable estimate thereof. Artwork is not amortized. The value of artwork as at March 31,
2018 was $263,000 ($144,000 as at March 31, 2017).

Volunteer Services

Volunteers contribute hundreds of hours per year to assist USB programs and activities. As it
cannot be reasonably estimated, the value of these contributions is not reported in the financial
statements.

Use of Estimates

Under the Canadian public sector accounting standards, the preparation of financial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the year. In particular, estimates were made to determine the fair value of
investments, liabilities related to paid leave, the duration of the useful life of capital assets and
the allowance for doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from the best estimates made by
management, as additional information becomes available.

Employee Pension Plan

The USB provides its employees with a defined contribution pension plan. The USB's
contributions to the plan are recorded as expenses in the year of contribution.



Université de Saint-Boniface
Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

New Accounting Pronouncements

As of April 1, 2012, the USB chose to adopt the Canadian public sector accounting standards
with the option of chapters PS 4200 to 4270 for Canadian not-for-profit organizations (PSA
Standards for GNFPOs).

Starting on April 1, 2019, the Province of Manitoba is requiring not-for-profit organizations in
the public sector to follow the Canadian accounting standards for the public sector without
applying chapters PS 4200 to 4270. This change will take effect for the period ending March 31,
2020. Management is currently assessing the impact of this change on the USB's financial
statements.

2. Line of Credit

The USB has a line of credit to a maximum of $3,000,000 bearing interest at the financial
institution's prime rate of 3.70 % as at March 31, 2018 (3.05% as at March 31, 2017) plus
0.25%. The line of credit is guaranteed by a first ranking general security agreement over USB
assets, not including capital assets. The USB was not using this line of credit as at March 31,
2018, or March 31, 2017.

3. Accounts Receivable and Other Assets

2018 2017

$ $

Federal government 589,071 528,275
Provincial government 141,000 88,500
Tuition fees 85,866 121,407
Contracts and other 549,181 313,559
Allowance for doubtful accounts (77,514) (96,167)
1,287,604 955,574

Prepaid expenses 325,690 158,088

1,613,294 1,113,662




Université de Saint-Boniface
pMotes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

Investments

Cash and money market
Fixed income securities
Canadian shares

Foreign shares - US
Other foreign shares
Alternate investments

2018 2017

$ $

827,136 1,482,154
17,568,320 18,723,368
5,834,544 7,859,916
6,980,376 4,725,456
11,805,696 8,038,958
1,231,880 1,261,192
44,247,952 42,091,044

The fixed income securities bear interest ranging from 1.90% to 6.63% (1.90% to 6.63% in
2017) and mature between June 2019 and June 2108 (March 2018 and June 2108 in 2017).

Although the USB has investments maturing in less than a year, management intends to
immediately reinvest these funds. For this reason, the investments are all categorized as long-

term.

Investment income is made up of interest, dividends and net realized gains, as shown below:

2018 2017

General Endowment
Operating Fund Fund Total Total
$ $ $ $
Interest 313,276 177,382 490,658 527,570
Dividends 458,679 311,267 769,946 928,079
Net realized gains 969,635 812,074 1,781,709 1,272,583
1,741,590 1,300,723 3,042,313 2,728,232




Université de Saint-Boniface
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

Capital Assets

Equipment,
Buildings and furniture and Computer
Land improvements Parking lot furnishings equipment Total
$ $ $ $ $ $
Cost
Balance, beginning of year 480,330 34,888,447 952,389 7,597,011 3,100,841 47,019,018
Additions: purchases — 1,173,532 - 463,546 88,000 1,725,078
Less: outflows —_ - - (55,717) - (55,717)
Balance, end of year 480,330 36,061,979 952,389 8,004,840 3,188,841 48,688,379
Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year - 10,925,656 374,067 6,073,057 2,680,242 20,053,022
Additions : amortization — 627,336 47,619 325,102 194,752 1,194,809
Less: sale or disposition — - —_ (43,720) — (43,720)
Balance, end of year —_ 11,552,992 421,686 6,354,439 2,874,994 21,204,111
Net book value as at March 31, :
2018 480,330 24,508,987 530,703 1,650,401 313,847 27,484,268
Net book value as at March 31,
2017 480,330 23,962,791 578,322 1,523,954 420,599 26,965,996




Université de Saint-Boniface
Motes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

Deferred Contributions

Deferred contributions represent unspent grants received for specific projects and activities.
Changes in the deferred contributions are as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Balance, beginning of year 1,280,528 767,500
Contributions received 925,389 1,289,900
Transfers to revenue (1,337,695) (776,872)
Net change (412,306) 513,028
Balance, end of year 868,222 1,280,528

Employee Benefits, Paid Leave and Pension Plan Obligations
Benefits

Obligations related to future benefits other than pension pertain to the medical, dental and life
insurance and disability plans made available to staff. These plans are funded through
premiums paid to private insurers by the USB and its staff.

Paid Leave: Accrued Sick Leave

The USB has a self-insured short-term disability plan and meets these costs as being related to
leave due to illness or accident. The USB allocates to certain groups of employees a specific
number of days each year in leave for illness or injury, however these days are not funded from
the outset. Employees can accumulate sick leave not used during the year to the maximum
authorized in the collective agreement or employment contract. Accrued sick days can be used
in future years provided that the convalescence period does not exceed the number of sick days
accumulated by the employee to a maximum of 180 days. Sick days are paid at the salary in

effect when they are taken. Obligations related to accrued sick days are estimated by the USB
based on past use and are recorded under accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Paid Leave: Other
Faculty study and sabbatical leaves are expensed in the year taken.

Annual staff vacation and administrative leave are expensed when owed.

Employee Pension Plan

The USB provides its employees with a defined contribution pension plan (the "Plan") to which
employees contribute. The USB's only responsibility in this regard is to pay its contributions,
and it assumes no liability with respect to the investment performance of the Plan.



Université de Saint-Boniface
Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2018

7. Employee Benefit, Paid Leave and Pension Plan Obligations (cont'd)
Employee Pension Plan (cont'd)

The Plan meets the requirements of the The Pension Benefits Act of Manitoba and the Income
Tax Act as well as the related regulations. The pension committee is responsible for managing
the Plan. The committee is made up of three voting members elected by the Plan members or
appointed by the union, as the case may be. The USB appoints four voting representatives, one
of whom is the Vice-President for Administration and Finance. The committee also includes one
non-voting member elected or appointed to represent the Plan members.

The financial statements of the Plan are separate from the financial statements of the USB.

The net assets available for the benefits of the Plan as at December 31, the end of its fiscal
year, evolved as follows:

As at December 31

2017 2016

$ $

Net assets available for benefits at beginning of year 27,062,333 26,633,446
Membership fees

Employer 1,359,317 1,377,671

Members 1,359,317 1,377,671

Other 51,764 41,819

Net investment income 2,484,047 1,528,130

Benefits paid (2,015,684) (3,896,404)

3,238,761 428,887

Net assets available for benefits, end of year 30,301,094 27,062,333

Employer contributions for the period ended March 31, 2018 were $1,370,585 ($1,364,571 in
2017) and are recorded as expenses on the statement of operations and changes in fund
balances.

8. Commitments
Equipment Rental and Maintenance Contracts

The USB has lease obligations that cover equipment and services integral to operations. The
lease obligations expire at various dates over the next five years. These lease contracts require
annual payments of less than $300,000.

Self-insurance

The USB is a member of the Canadian Universities Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (CURIE), a
self-insurance co-operative comprised of more than 60 Canadian universities and colleges.
CURIE insures against property damage, general liability and errors and omissions risks. If
premiums and accumulated reserves are insufficient to cover expenses and claims, the USB
may be required to pay additional amounts.
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9. Restricted Fund Balances

a) Breakdown of Restricted Fund Balances

Revenues
Federal grants
Other revenue
Donations

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other expenses
Travel and conferences
Scholarships and awards

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses before transfers

Transfers
Interest
Allocations for future projects
Allocations for indirect costs
Project funding
Reclassification of restrictions
Purchase/transfer of capital assets

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses, net of transfers
Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

2018
Internally Externally

Restricted Restricted Research Total
$ $ $ $

(Note 9 b) (Note 9 ¢) (Note 9 d)
- - 490,024 490,024
— — 103,240 103,240
—_ 500,982 - 500,982
- 500,982 593,264 1,094,246
— — 533,871 533,871
— 350 163,455 163,805
— - 40,596 40,596
— 183,739 - 183,739
o 184,089 737,922 922,011
—_ 316,893 (144,658) 172,235
380,959 - - 380,959
1,361,518 — - 1,361,518
- — (50,000) (50,000)
(172,500) (9,005) 126,928 (54,577)
- (27,884) — (27,884)
(176,500) — — (176,500)
1,393,477 (36,889) 76,928 1,433,516
1,393,477 280,004 (67,730) 1,605,751
16,303,760 1,305,472 507,324 18,116,556
17,697,237 1,585,476 439,594 19,722,307
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9, Restricted Fund Balances (cont'd)

a) Breakdown of Restricted Fund Balances (cont'd)

Revenues
Federal grants
Other revenue
Donations

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other expenses
Travel and conferences
Scholarships and awards

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses before transfers

Transfers
Interest
Allocations for future projects
Allocations for indirect costs
Project funding
Reclassification of restrictions
Purchase/transfer of capital assets

Excess revenues over expenses net of transfers
Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

2017
Internally
restricted Externally
funds restricted
funds Research Total
$ $ $ $
(Note 9 b) (Note 9 ¢) (Note 9 d)
- — 542,195 542,195
— — 55,616 55,616
— 531,094 - 531,094
— 531,094 597,811 1,128,905
— — 546,112 546,112
- - 77,891 77,891
— -_— 63,994 63,994
— 53,850 — 53,850
— 53,850 687,997 741,847
— 477,244 (90,186) 387,058
364,566 - —_ 364,566
1,473,500 — - 1,473,500
- - (50,400) (50,400)
- (50,000) 165,009 115,009
- (42,944) — (42,944)
(1,069,500) — — (1,069,500)
768,566 (92,944) 114,609 790,231
768,566 384,300 24,423 1,177,289
15,535,194 921,172 482,901 16,939,267
16,303,760 1,305,472 507,324 18,116,556
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9. Restricted Fund Balances (cont'd)

b) Internally Restricted Fund

Excess revenues over
expenses before
transfers

Transfers
Interest
Allocations for future
projects
Project funding

Purchase/transfer of
capital assets

Excess revenues over
expenses net of
transfers

Balance, beginning of
year

Balance, end of year

2018 2017

Future Transition

campaigns/ funding for

Scholarships donation Strategic Major capital programs and
and awards matching_j projects projects services Total Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
66,026 22,159 30,182 198,388 64,204 380,959 364,566
—_ - -— 1,281,518 80,000 1,361,518 1,473,500
—m - — (172,500) - (172,500) -
- - — (176,500) - (176,500) (1,069,500)
66,026 22,159 30,182 1,130,906 144,204 1,393,477 768,566
3,001,181 1,007,213 1,371,890 8,085,102 2,838,374 16,303,760 15,535,194
3,067,207 1,029,372 1,402,072 9,216,008 2,982,578 17,697,237 16,303,760
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9. Restricted Fund Balances (cont'd)
b) Internally Restricted Fund (cont'd)

The Internally Restricted Fund is made up of monies which the Board of Governors designated
for this purpose. It consists of provisions established for various needs, situations and events
both known and unknown.

A Board policy governs the process for establishing, increasing and cancelling such provisions
and for withdrawing monies from these provisions. In accordance with the current policy,
internally restricted funds bear interest at the consumer price index rate of 2.2% (2.3% in
2017). This measure is to protect the funds from inflation.

The Internally Restricted Fund primarily includes the following types of assets:

Scholarships and Awards - Investment income on the balance of this fund is available to
enhance the annual budgetary allocation to student awards derived from the Externally
Restricted Fund, the Endowment Fund and annual donations and grants.

Future Fundraising Campaigns/Donation Matching - Funds set aside to supplement, as
required, resources available for the purpose of organizing a major fundraising campaign and
for the donation- and contributions-matching program.

Strategic Projects - These funds are used to make up the difference between the amounts
needed and the resources available to complete projects or to undertake short-term strategic
projects. Project categories include but are not limited to the following:

i) Research: funds available to supplement the General Operating Fund for research projects
carried out by professors;

ii) Library: funds available to supplement the General Operating Fund to purchase teaching
and research materials;

iii) Recruitment, marketing, student support, language support, safety and other operating
projects: funds available to supplement basic needs on a case-by-case basis when available
resources are insufficient.

Major Capital Projects — Funds available to carry out preliminary phases of expansion
projects at the USB, to cover a portion of capital costs for projects or to acquire additional
capital assets.

Transition Funding for Programs and Services - Funds available to maintain, over the
short term, programs or services affected by a decrease in government funding or a partial or
total withdrawal of funding.

c) Externally Restricted Fund

The Externally Restricted Fund includes donations subject to restrictions stipulated by the donor
as to their use, but for which the capital need not be maintained in perpetuity. This fund records
the donations received for infrastructure projects, research projects or other defined objectives.

As part of its fiduciary responsibilities, the USB ensures that all donations received subject to
restrictions are expended for the purpose for which they were provided.
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10.

11.

Restricted Fund Balances (cont'd)
d) Research Fund

The Research Fund consists of grants for research activities. Grants are received primarily from
the federal government, but also from other public sources.

In accordance with conditions set out under funding agreements, the USB ensures that all
grants subject to restrictions are used for the purpose for which they were provided.

Endowment Fund

The Endowment Fund includes, among others, funds from families, foundations and
corporations. It includes externally restricted donations, the principal of which must be
maintained in perpetuity. The investment income generated from the endowments must be
used in accordance with the various purposes intended by the donors, such as student
scholarships and awards. The USB established a policy with the objective of protecting the real
value of these endowments by limiting the amounts of income available for spending and
requiring the re-investment of a certain amount of the earned income. The amount added for
capital protection may vary from year to year depending on the fluctuations of annual returns
on investments, but the long-term goal is that the amount will compensate for the cumulative
effect of inflation.

As part of its fiduciary responsibilities, the USB ensures that all donations received subject to
restrictions are expended for the purpose for which they were provided.

Financial Instruments

Amortized

Fair value cost 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Cash 646,383 — 646,383 1,440,888

Accounts receivable — 1,287,604 1,287,604 955,574

Investments 44,247,952 - 44,247,952 42,091,044
Accounts payable and

accrued expenses — (4,179,473) (4,179,473) (4,044,810)

44,894,335 (2,891,869) 42,002,466 40,442,696

Fair Value Hierarchy

The following table provides an analysis of the financial instruments assessed following their
initial recording at fair value, based on how the fair value can be observed:

Level 1: Prices (not adjusted) listed on active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:  Data other than the listed prices referred to in Level 1 that are observable for assets
or liabilities, directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. price derivatives);

Level 3: Data related to assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable data).
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11.

Financial Instruments (cont'd)
Fair Value Hierarchy (cont'd)

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data whenever such data exists.
Financial instruments are classified at the lowest level for which significant data has been taken
into account in assessing fair value.

The financial instruments recorded at fair value in the statement of financial positions are based
on the following hierarchy:

2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$ $ $ $

Cash 646,383 - — 646,383
Investments 20,201,312 24,046,640 —_ 44,247,952
20,847,695 24,046,640 — 44,894,335

2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$ $ $ $

Cash 1,440,888 - — 1,440,888
Investments 22,106,484 19,984,560 — 42,091,044
23,547,372 19,984,560 — 43,531,932

Investment Policy

In the course of its normal operations, the USB is exposed to various risks including credit,
market and foreign exchange risk. The USB's goal with respect to risk management is to
optimize the risk-return ratio within defined limits, by applying management and risk
management strategies, policies and processes that are integrated into all its activities.

Credit Risk

Credit risk relates to the potential exposure that the other party to a financial instrument will fail

to discharge an obligation and cause the USB to incur a financial loss. The USB is primarily
exposed to credit risk from cash, investments and accounts receivable. The book value of the

financial assets on the statement of financial position represents the maximum credit risk on the
statement date.

The cash-related credit risk is considered negligible as the deposit accounts are held with
recognized financial institutions that have a good external credit rating.

The credit risk related to Accounts Receivable - Grants is considered negligible as the monies

are receivable from the provincial and federal governments.
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11.

Financial Instruments (cont'd)
Credit Risk (cont'd)

The credit risk related to Accounts Receivable - Tuition and Other is limited, as the monies
come from a large client base and payment is typically made in full when due. The USB has
established an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its assessment of potential credit
losses. The amount of this allowance is established based on management's assessments and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, client analysis and historical trends in
payment.

Concentration of investment risks exists when a significant proportion of the portfolio is invested
in securities with similar characteristics or subject to similar economic, political or other
conditions. The USB's statement of investment policy and procedures, which is reviewed
annually, defines permitted investments and provides guidelines and restrictions on acceptable
investments, which minimizes credit risk. The USB monitors the financial health of its
investments on an ongoing basis with the assistance of its finance and audit committee,
investment sub-committee and investment advisors.

As at March 31, the ageing of accounts receivable is as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Current 762,191 356,428
30-59 days 3,194 226
60-89 days 246,046 256,625
90 days and over 349,242 438,462
1,360,673 1,051,741

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of variation in the fair value of financial instruments resulting from
fluctuations in the parameters affecting their value, particularly interest rate, exchange rate and
volatility.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect cash flows
or the fair value of financial instruments. The USB is exposed to this risk when it invests in
interest-bearing financial instruments. Investments are thus exposed to the risk that their fair
value will fluctuate in accordance with changes in market interest rates.
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11. Financial Instruments (cont'd)
Interest Rate Risk (cont'd)

The following table shows the USB's exposure to interest-rate risk associated with investments
recorded at fair value, classified by maturity date.

2018 2017

$ $

Under 90 days 88,178 119,100
90 days-1 year — 784,025
1-5 years 2,723,475 3,024,055
5-10 years 3,425,585 3,999,242
Over 10 years 3,709,766 5,036,934
No maturity date 7,621,316 5,760,012
17,568,320 18,723,368

2018 2017

$ $

Investments associated with an interest rate 17,568,320 18,723,368
Investments not associated with an interest rate 26,679,632 23,367,676

44,247,952 42,091,044

As at March 31, 2018, with all other variables being constant, a 0.50% fluctuation in the
interest rate would have had an estimated impact on the fair value of fixed income instruments
of $386,000 ($515,000 as at March 31, 2017).

Foreign exchange risk

Fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to foreign currencies affect the value, in
Canadian dollars, of all marketable securities held by the USB. As at March 31, 2018, the USB is
exposed to foreign exchange risk due to the cash denominated in US dollars, and the
investments in US dollars (see investment details in note 4). All other variables remaining
constant, if the Canadian dollar had appreciated or depreciated by 1% relative to the US dollar,
the respective increase or decrease in the fair value of assets would have been approximately
$91,050 ($80,941 as at March 31, 2017). Actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis.
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11.

Financial Instruments (cont'd)
Other Price Risk

Other price risk represents the potential loss caused by a change in the fair value of the
financial instruments. The USB's investments are subject to normal market fluctuation and the
inherent risks of investing in the markets.

The USB is exposed to other price risk by reason of the securities in its investment portfolio,
given that price changes in the market would entail changes in the fair value of those
instruments.

The majority of investments are long-term investments to support the General Operating Fund,
the Restricted Funds and the Endowment Fund. These investments consist mainly in shares,
bonds, and money market instruments and are thus by nature exposed to other price risk.

The USB manages its other price risk by means of its investment policy, which sets out the
guidelines and restrictions for each category of eligible investments, with a view to reducing risk
while obtaining long-term performance that meets its needs.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the USB be unable to honour its cash flow obligations when due.
The USB reduces this risk by managing its operations and monitoring expected cash outflows

through its budgeting process, and by maintaining investments that can be converted into cash
in the event of an unexpected cash outflow.

The following table presents a schedule of payment dates for undiscounted contractual cash flow
obligations related to financial liabilities:

2018 2017

$ $

0-12 months 3,650,391 3,520,697
1-5 years 529,082 524,113

Over 5 years — -

4,179,473 4,044,810
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12. Related-Party Transactions

The Centre d'apprentissage et de garde d'enfants de Saint-Boniface inc. (the "Centre") is an
not-for-profit organization created to promote education by establishing and operating a
learning centre and establishing and providing child care services. The USB currently has the
capacity to dictate the Centre's operating, investment and financing activities. The Centre is
controlled by the USB, but not consolidated into its financial statements.

The only financial transaction the Centre has made since it was created is to receive conditional
provincial funding of $900,000 in trust.

The Centre's financial statement as at March 31, 2018 is as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Current assets 900,000 —
Current liabilities 900,000 -
Fund balance —_ -
900,000 -

13. Contractual entitlements

The USB entered into a lease agreement for the rental of certain offices and rooms. The rental
income amounts to $9,933 a month, and the lease expires on July 31, 2019, with an option to
renew for a five-year term ending in July 31, 2024.
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UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of University College
of the North and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
for government not-for-profit organizations, including the 4200 series of standards, as issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Board of The Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.

In carrying out its responsibilities, management maintains appropriate systems of internal and
administrative controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in
accordance with proper authorization, that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and that
financial information produced is relevant and reliable.

The Governing Council of University College of the North met with management and external auditors to
review the financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters
prior to their approval of the financial statements.

The Office of the Auditor General as University College of the North’s appointed external auditors, have
audited the financial statements. The Auditors report is addressed to the Lieutenant Governor in
Council, the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba and the Governing Council of the University College of
the North and appears on the following page. Their opinion is based upon an examination conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, performing such tests and other
procedures as they consider necessary to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and present fairly the financial position and results of University College of
the North in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit
organizations, including the 4200 series of standards.

Original Document Signed

Cam Mateika
Chair, UCN Governing Council
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Auditor General
MANITOBA

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Lieutenant Governor in Council
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Governing Council of the University College of the North

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University College of the North, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, changes in fund balances and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An auditinvolves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficientand appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the University

College of the North as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in fund balances, and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Office of the Auditor General

August 23, 2018
Winnipeg, Manitoba

Office: 204. 945.3790 | 500-330 Portage Avenue | Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C0C4 | oag.mb.ca



UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH

STATEMENT 1
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MARCH 31
GENERAL CAPITAL STUDENT ENDOWMENT
Funo  CamPAIGN Funo  AWARD FUND FunD MarcH 31, 2018 MarcH 31, 2017
ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,221,882 $ $ 181870 $ $ 11,403,752 $ 11,344,060
Short-term investments (Note 4) 1,075,802 1,075,802 1,071,783
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 3,247,045 55,118 3,302,163 4,045,928
Due from Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 752,589 752,589 752,589
Inventory 267,205 267,205 248,591
Due from other funds 5,913 50,000 100,000 155,913
Prepaid expenses 811222 811,222 1010210
16,305,856 286 988 1,175 802 17,768 646 18 473 161
LONG TERM
Prepaid expenses 446,137 446,137 518,582
Capital assets (Note 6) 20,258,536 20,258,536 20,147,849
Due from Province of Manitoba (Nofe 7) 793,500 793 500 793 500
21498173 21498 173 21,459 931
§ 37804029 $ $ 286988 $ 1175802 $_ 39266819 $_ 39933092
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities (Note 8) $ 295309 $ $ 900 $ $ 2953995 $ 3,322,071
Accrued vacation benefits 3,273,559 3,273,559 3,064,121
Due to other funds 50,000 105,913 155,913
Deferred revenue 660,434 660,434 986,613
Deferred contributions (Note 9) 3,113,901 3,113,901 4,833,233
Current portion on long term debt (Note 70) 59 994 59 994 57,790
10.110983 106 813 10.217,796 12 263 828
LONG TERM
Deferred revenue 446,137 446,137 518,582
Deferred contributions related to
capital assets (Note 17) 10,592,233 10,592,233 10,139,914
Accrued severance benefits (Note 12) 3,984,115 3,984,115 3,651,700
Long term debt (Note 10) 1,023 605 1023 605 1,083 599
16 046 090 16,046 090 15393795
FUND BALANCES
NET ASSETS INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS 8,628,343 8,628,343 8,893,028
NET ASSETSRESTRICTED FOR
FUND PURPOSES 180,175 1,175,802 1,355,977 1,358,936
NET ASSETS INTERNALLY
RESTRICTED (Note 15) 2,256,633 2,256,633 2,133,198
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS 761.980 761 980 (109.693)
11 646 956 - 180,175 1,175 802 13,002 933 12 275 469
$_ 37804029 $ - $ 286988 $_ 1175802 $_ 39266819 $_ 39933092

Approved by the Governing Council

Original Document Signed




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

STATEMENT 2

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

CapiTaL STUDENT
GENERAL AWARD ENDOWMENT
Funp Funp Funp MarcH 31, 2018 Marcu 31, 2017
REVENUES
Grants
Post-Secondary Education $ 35,880,948 $ $ 35880946 § 36,363,185
Other Province of Manitoba 538,038 538,038 898,190
Government of Canada 52,365 52,365 95,912
Amortization of deferred contributions
related to capital assets 1,002,108 1,002,108 943,580
Ancillary sales and services 2,780,298 2,780,298 2,902 665
Donations 58,531 104,019 162,975 235,512
Investment income 149,316 10,738 161,421 96,151
Contract training 1,133,003 1,133,003 890,925
Tuition and student fees 4,021,199 4,021,199 3,966,251
Qther revenue 1,259,504 1,259,604 1,243,049
Gain on disposal of capital assets 14,585 14,585
46,831,362 69,269 104,019 47,006,442 47,435421
EXPENSES
Advertising and public relations 492,688 492 688 536,878
Amortization of capital assets 1,339,176 1,339,176 1,442 593
Bad debts 78,635 78,635 345,632
Cost of goods sold 1,320,115 1,320,115 1,329,660
Facility costs 2,118,645 2,118,645 2,118,645
Furniture and minor equipment 509,142 509,142 1,036,952
Insurance 132,976 132,976 167,500
Interest on long term debt 41,816 41,816 43,939
Library acquisitions 144,801 144,801 261,337
Loss on disposal of capital assets 30,753
Maintenance and repairs 147,395 147,395 124,250
Operational supplies and services 4,789,153 4,789,153 4,442 735
Property taxes 531,600 531,600 520,610
Rentals and leases 501,898 501,898 464,888
Salaries and emplayee benefits 31,605,099 31,605,099 30,933,186
Scholarships and bursaries 64,344 64,244 130,927
Telephone and communication 661,730 661,730 663,918
Travel 1,422,094 1,422,094 1,558,202
Utilities 377,671 377,671 360,996
46,214,634 64,344 46,278,978 45,513,601
EXCESS REVENUES $ 616,728 4925 % 104019 § 727464 $ 921,820




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH STATEMENT 3

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

CAPITAL STUDENT
GENERAL CAMPAIGN AWARD ENDOWMENT TOTAL
Funp FuND FuND FUND MaRcH 31, 2018 MaRrcH 31, 2017

FUND SURPLUS, beginning of year $ 10,916,533 % 171,686 $ 115,467 $ 1,071,783 $ 12,275469 § 11,353,649

EXCESS REVENUES 616,728 1,792 4,925 104,019 727 464 921,820
INTER-FUND TRANSFERS (Note 19) 113,695 (173,478) 59,783

FUND SURPLUS, end of year $.11,646956 % - $ 180175 $_1,175802 $ 13.002,933 $ 12275469




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH STATEMENT 4
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MarRCH 31, 2018 MaARCH 31, 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess Revenues (Expenses)
General Fund 3 616,728 3 814,364
Capital Campaign Fund 1,792 1,407
Student Award Fund 4,925 4,889
Endowment Fund 104,019 101,160
727,464 921,820
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:
Loss {gain) on disposal of capital assets (14,585) 30,753
Amortization of capital assets 1,339,176 1,442,593
Amortization of deferred contributions related to capital assets {1.002,108) {943 580)
1,049,947 1,451,586
Add (deduct) changes in non-cash working capital
components related to operating activities:
Accounts receivable 743,765 (407,363)
Inventory (18,614) (3.430)
Prepaid expenses 271,433 (453,123)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (368,076) (2,361,132)
Deferred revenue {398,624) 500,744
Deferred contributions {1,719,332) (922,433)
Accrued vacation benefits 209,438 40,608
Accrued severance benefits 332,416 463,393
Due to other funds (155,913)
Due from other funds 155,913
102,353 {1.691.150)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Deferred contributions related to capital assefs 1,454,427 2,000,522
Repayment of long term debt (57,790) ({55.666)
1,396,637 1,944 856
CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets (1,454,427) (2,031,275)
Proceeds from disposal of capital assets 19,149 -
{1,435.278) {2,031,275)
INVESTING ACTIVITY
Increases in short-term investments {4.019) (201,160)
(4,019) {201,160)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOWS DURING THE YEAR 59,693 {1,978,729)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 11,344,060 13.322,789
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year $_ 11403753 $_ 11,344,060
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Interest Received $ 150,270 § 97.042
Interest Paid $ 41816 % 43,939



UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

1.  NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The University College of the North {UCN) operates under the authority of The University College of the North
Act Chapter U55 of the Continuing Consolidation of the Statutes of Manitoba, which came into force July 1,
2004. This Act provides for the continuation of Keewatin Community College, as established under The
Colleges Act as a board-governed institution on April 1, 1993.

The purpose of UCN is to provide post-secondary education in northern Manitoba. It should be learner and
community-centred, be characterized by a culture of openness, inclusiveness and tolerance, and be respectful
of Aboriginal and northern values and beliefs.

The educational purposes of UCN are to serve the educational needs of Aboriginal and northern Manitobans
and to enhance the economic and social well-being of northern Manitoba.

UCN has a tax-exempt status as a registered charity under The Income Tax Act.

2. SUMMARY QF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of UCN have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards for government not-for-profit organizations (GNFPO), including the PS 4200 series of standards, as
issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board. UCN follows the restricted fund method of accounting for
contributions.

a) Funds

The transactions of UCN have been segregated into the following funds in accordance with specified activities
or objectives:

General Funds

1. UCN Fund
The UCN Fund consists of transactions related to educational and ancillary activities of UCN.
(i) Capital Assets

The Capital Assets Fund consists of capital asset acquisitions, net of amounts financed through
deferred contributions.

(i) Internally Restricted

The Internally Restricted Fund consists of transactions related to appropriations made from (to) the
Unrestricted Fund.

{iii) Unrestricted

The Unrestricted Fund consists of all other transactions related to educational and ancillary activities
of UCN.

2. Inter-Universities Services Fund (1US)

The IUS Fund consists of transactions related to the educational programs of the Inter-Universities
Services Program which is administered by UCN.

Capital Campaign Fund

The Capital Campaign Fund consists of transactions related to donations received towards the
development and capital needs of UCN.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Student Award Fund

The Student Award Fund consists of transactions related to donations for student scholarships and
bursaries.

Endowment Fund

The Endowment Fund consists of transactions related to endowments for student scholarships and
bursaries.

b) Financial Instruments

The financia! instruments at UCN consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts
receivable, due from Province of Manitoba - vacation and severance benefits, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, accrued vacation benefits and long-term debt.

UCN classifies its financial instruments as either fair value or amortized cost. UCN's accounting policy for
each category is as follows:

Fair Value

These financial instruments are initially and subsequently carried at fair value. Unrealized changes in fair
value are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses until they are realized, when they
are transferred to the statement of operations. Transactions costs are expensed as incurred.

When a decline in fair value occurs which is determined by UCN to be other than of a temporary nature, the
amount of the loss is removed from accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the
statement of operations. On sale, the amount held in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses
associated with that instrument is removed from net assets and recognized in the statement of operations.

UCN does not have any remeasurement gains or losses and therefore no statement of remeasurement gains
and losses is required.

Amortized Cost

Financial instruments in this category are initially measured at fair value and are subsequenty carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses on financial assets.
Transaction costs are added to the carrying value of the financial instrument.

If an impairment loss is determined by UCN and there is no realistic prospect of recovery the financial asset(s)
are written down to net recoverable value with the writedown being recognized in the statement of operations.

¢) Revenue Recognition
Tuition and student fees are recognized as revenue in the semester or term earned.

Revenue from Contract Training contracts is recognized during the period at a rate approximating the delivery
of the contracted programs and services.

investment income is recognized as revenue when earned.
Contributions:
UCN follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

Unrestricted contributions and grants are recognized as revenue when received or receivable.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Restricted contributions for which a corresponding restricted fund is not present are recognized as revenue
in the period in which the related expenditures are incurred.

Donations are reported as revenue when received. Donations restricted to disbursement as scholarships
and bursaries are restricted to that purpose.

Endowment contributions (andfor investment income thereon) that are held in perpetuity according to
restrictions placed by the donors are recognized as revenue in the Endowment Fund.

Contributions (or portions permitted thereof) which are designated for the purchase of capital assets are
deferred and amortized to revenue at the same rate as the related capital assets are amortized to
expenditures.

d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments with matunity dates of less than 20
days when purchased.

e) Inventory

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost of gocds sold on the Statement of
Operations includes inventory expensed during the period.

f) Capital Assets

Amortization of capitalized assets is recorded on a straight line basis, using the half year rule, commencing in
the year of acquisition over the following periods:

Automotive equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Other equipment 10 years
Buildings 40 years
Building Improvements 10 years

Library holdings are valued using the "base stock” method and accordingly are recorded at the value
transferred upon governance at April 1, 1993. No amortization is taken on library holdings, and subsequent
library acquisitions are expensed in the year of acquisition.

Construction in progress is not amortized until construction is complete.
g) Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from management's best estimates as additional information
becomes available in the future. Significant estimates included in the financial statements include allowance
for doubtful accounts, net realizable value of inventory, amortization and accrued severance benefits costs.

h) Severance Benefits

UCN accrues its obligation for employee future benefits relating to severance. The cost of severance benefits
earned by employees is actuarially determined using the accrued benefits cost method.

Actuarial gains or losses are amortized on a straight line basis over the expected average remaining service
life of the active employees, commencing in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains
or losses arise.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Accounting Changes
On April 1, 2017, the University College adopted Canadian public sector accounting standards PS 2200
Related party disclosures, PS 3420 Inter-entity transactions, PS 3210 Assets, PS Contingent Assets, and PS

3380 Contractual rights. The adoption of these standards did not result in an accounting policy change forthe
University and did not result in any adjustments to the financial statements as at April 1, 2017.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CLASSIFICATION

Financial instruments are classified as follows:

2018
Fair Value Amortized Cost Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,403,752 3 $ 11,403,752
Short-term investments 1,075,802 1,075,802
Accounts receivable 3,302,163 3,302,163
Due from Province of Manitoba 1,546,089 1,546,089
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,953,995 2,953,995
Accrued vacation benefits 3,273,659 3,273,659
Long term debt 1,083,599 1.083,599

$_12,479,554 $_12.159.405 $_24 638959

Fair Value Hierarchy

PS 3450 — Financial Instruments — requires the disclosure of a three-level hierarchy for the fair value
measurements based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of financial instruments carried on the
Statement of Financial Position at fair value.
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value hierarchy of all financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position
are level one. There were no transfers between levels for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018.

4. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments mature bewteen April 3, 2018 and November 29, 2018 and bear interest between .72%
and 1.72%.
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2018 2017
UCN Fund

Students $ 2183513 $ 2,141,200
Contract Training 630,889 947,787
Due from Post-Secondary Education 133,961 135,130
Due from Adult Learning & Literacy 123,930 206,550
Other 310,012 826,496

3,382,305 4,257,163
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (337,569) {359,535)

$_ 3044736 $_3.897.628

Infer-Universities Services Fund

Students $ 209,899 $ 154 480
Other 7,331 4,000
217,230 158,480
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts {(14,921) {12, 475)

$ 202309 $ 146,005

General Fund $ 3,247,045 § 4,043,633
Capital Campaign Fund 118
Student Award Fund 55118 2177

$__ 3302163 $_ 4045928
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6. CAPITAL ASSETS

Accumulated  Net Book Value

Cost Amortization 2018

UCN Fund

Automotive equipment % 824,253 § 812416 § 11,837
Computer equipment 2,250,925 1,788,630 462,295
Other equipment 5,215,322 3,303,409 1,911,913
Buildingsfimprovements 20,206,571 3,633,407 16,573,164
Construction in progress 110,287 110,287
Land 446,067 446,067
Library holdings 714,161 714,161

$_20767,686 $_ 9537862 $_ 20229724

Inter-Universities Services Fund

Automotive equipment 3 84131 § 84,131 §
Computer equipment 43,427 43,427
Other equipment 70,984 42172 28,812

$ 196,542 % 169,730 9§ 28,812

TOTALS FOR 2018 $_20966,128 $_ 0707592 $_ 20,258,536
Accumulated  Net Book Value
Cost Amortization 2017

UCN Fund

Automotive equipment $ 1044007 § 995,668 § 49,239

Computer equipment 2,250,925 1,570,483 680,442

Other equipment 4,991,227 2,892 866 2,088,361

Buildings/improvements 17,857,656 2,974,735 14,982,921

Construction in progress 1,141,909 1,141,909

Land 446,067 446,067

Library holdings 714,161 714,161
$_28546852 $_ 8433752 $_20.113.100

Inter-Universities Services Fund

Automotive equipment $ 84,131 § 84,131 $

Computer equipment 43,427 43,427

Other equipment 70,984 36,235 34.749

$ 198,642 § 163.793 $ 34,749
$_28745394 $__ 8,597,545 20,147,849

TOTALS FOR 2017

£
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7. DUE FROM PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

The Province of Manitoba has recognized its liability to UCN for the opening balances of accrued employee
severance benefits and vacation benefits as at April 1, 1998, when Keewatin Community College {precursor to
UCN} assumed responsibility for these expenditures.

The amount recorded as due from Province of Manitoba — vacation benefits was initially based on the
estimated value of the corresponding liability as at April 1, 1998. Subsequent to April 1, 1998, the Province
has included in its ongoing annual funding to UCN, an amount equal to the current period's expense for
vacation pay entitlements.

The amount recorded as due from Province of Manitoba — severance benefits is the value of the
corresponding actuarial liability for severance benefits as at April 1, 1998. There has been no change to the
value subsequent to April 1, 1998 because the Province has provided, in its ongoing annual funding to UCN,
an amount equivalent to the change in the post employment liability including annual interest accretion related
to the receivable. The receivable will be paid by the Province when it is determined that the funding is
required to discharge the related severance benefits.

2018 2017
Accrued vacation benefits $__ 752589 $___752.589
Accrued severance benefits 3 793500 % 793,500

8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
2018 2017
UCN Fund

Accrued liabilities 3 853,431 $ 778,817
Wages and benefits payable 583,484 532,865
Trade accounts payable 1,387,745 1,906,368
Due to Student Associations 25309 25275

$ 2,849969 § 3,243325

Inter-Universities Services Fund

Trade Accounts Payable 103,126 76,646
General Fund $ 2,953,095 $ 3,319,971
Student Award Fund 900 2.100

$__ 2063095 $_ 3322071

9. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

Deferred contributions reported in each fund relate to designated contributions received in the current period
that are related to expenditures of a subsequent period. Changes in deferred contributions during the period
are as follows;

Beginning of Increases Decreases End of Year
Year

UCN Fund $_ 4833233 % 938,377 $_2657708 §_ 3113901
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10. LONG TERM DEBT

2018 2017
Mortgage payable to the Province of Manitoba bearing interest at
375%, due March 31, 2032, repayable in monthly biended
installments of $8,300. $ 1,083,599 § 1,141,389
Less: Current portion {59,994) (57.790)

$_ 1023605 $___ 1,083,599

Principal repayments in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2019 $ 62,283
2020 64,660
2021 67,126
2022 69,687
2023 72.346

$ 336,102

11. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO CAPITAL ASSETS

Beginning of increases Decreases End of Year

Year
UCN Fund $ 10,105,166 $ 1,454,427 § 996,172  § 10,563,421
Inter-Universities Services Fund 34,748 5,936 28,812

$10,139.914 $_ 1454427 $_1,002108 $_10,592.233
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12. ACCRUED SEVERANCE BENEFITS

2018 2017
Severance Benefit Liability:
UCN Fund
Balance, beginning of period $ 3659784 $ 3,095763
Actuarial loss {(gain) {94,891) 146,026
Benefits accrued 275,607 281,617
Interest on accrued benefits 213,804 194,507
Severance paid {220,499) {58,129)
Balance, end of period $ 3833895 $ 3,659,784
Net unamortized actuarial loss (60,651) {196,277)
Severance liability $_3773244 $_ 3483507
Infer-Universities Services Fund
Balance, beginning of period $ 201329 $§ 174,606
Actuarial loss (gain) (4,994) 7,686
Benefits accrued 8,192 8,100
Interest on accrued benefits 11,780 10,937
Balance, end of period $ 216,307 % 201,329
Net unamortized actuaria! loss {5,436) {13.136)
Severance liability $___ 210871 $___188,193

$_3984.115 §_ 3.651.700

Severance Benefit Expense:

UCN Fund

Interest on accrued benefits 3 213,894 % 194,507
Employer service cost 275,607 281,616
Amortization of net actuarial loss over EARSL 40,753 24,510
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 530254 $ 500,633

Inter-Universities Services Fund

Interest on accrued benefits $ 11,780 § 10,837
Employer service cost 8,193 8,100
Amortization of net actuarial loss over EARSL 2,705 1,851
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 22678 $ 20.888

$ 552932 $ 521,521
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12. ACCRUED SEVERANCE BENEFITS (continued)

13.

i4.

An actuarial valuation of the severance obligations as at December 31, 2016 was conducted by Ellement
Consulting Group. The key actuarial assumptions were updated as at March 31, 2017 based on information
provided by the actuary. The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 6.0% (2017 - 6.0%), 1.11%
inflation (2017 - 1.15%), salary rate increases of 3.75% (2016 - 3.75%). The accrued benefit cost method with
salary projection was used and the liabilities have been extrapolated to March 31, 2018 using the projection
formula provided by the actuary. The expected effective date of the next actuarial valuation will be no later
than March 31, 2018.

During the year UCN experienced an actuarial gain of $99,885 (2016 - actuarial loss of $153,712). The
amortization on the actuarial net loss in 2018 is $43,458 (UGN $40,753; IUS $2,705) and in 2017 is $26,361
(UCN $24,510; 1US $1,851).

PENSION COSTS AND OBLIGATIONS

UCN's employees are contributing members of the provincially operated Civil Service Superannuation Plan or
the Teachers Retirement Allowances Fund defined benefit pension plans. Until March 31, 2009, the
accumulated superannuation liabilities were funded directly by the Province of Manitoba, rather than UCN itself
for all employees hired prior to October 1, 2002, Employees hired on or after October 1, 2002 were funded
directly by UCN. Commencing April 1, 2009, UCN was required to match all their employees' current pension
contributions.

The total contributions for the year ending March 31, 2018 was $1,858,576 (2017 - $1,891,166). These
contributions represent the total pension obligations of UCN. UCN is not required under present legislation to
make any further contributions with respect to any actuarial deficiencies of the plan. As at December 31, 2016,
the Civil Service Superannuation Fund had a deficit of $4.3 billion and the Teacher's Retirement Allowances
Fund had a deficit of $3.6 billion.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

UCN has entered into various contracts to rent office equipment, lease facility space, and for services provided
by third parties for security, food services, and snow removal. Contractual obligations over the next five years
are as follows:

2019 1,145,505
2020 351,461
2021 78,975
2022 65,512

2023 15,686
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15.

16.

17.

NET ASSETS INTERNALLY RESTRICTED

Appropriations from the Unrestricted Fund are made to provide for future funding for fiscal stabilization,
innovations funds, conferences and the establishment of a science lab.

Opening Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
UCN Fund
Fiscal Stabilization $ 424,256 % 66744 3 3 491,000
Total % 424,256 3 66744 % 3 491,000
Inter-Universities Services Fund

Innovations Fund $ 1,658,942 $ 56,691 $ $ 1615633
Conferences 50,000 50,000
Science Lab 100,000 100,000
Total $_ 1,708,942 3 56,691 $ $ 1765633
$ 2133198 3 123435 % $_ 2256633

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

UCN is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created departments, agencies and
Crown Corporations. UCN enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. These
transactions are recorded at the exchange amount. The amount of $2,118,645 (2017 - $2,118,645) in facility
costs was paid to Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation for the rental of buildings in The Pas. The additon
of the new Thompson campus was funded by the Province of Manitoba and opened in May 2014. UCN will pay
facility costs for both The Pas campus and the new Thompson campus. Funds available for short-term
investments are invested with the Province of Manitoba. At March 31, 2018 $10,178,278 (2017 - $11,735,663),
included in both cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, was invested with the Province of
Manitoba.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Financia! instruments are exposed to risk through the normal course of operations. UCN has exposure to the
following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk. These risks are managed through the UCN's collection procedures, investment
guidelines and other internal policies, guidelines and procedures.

1. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. The carrying amount of financial assets represents that maximum credit
exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk was:

Carrying Amount
2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,403,752 $ 11,344,060
Short-term investments 1,075,802 1,071,783
Accounts receivable 3,302,163 4,045,928
Due from Province of Manitoba - vacation and severance benefits 1,546.089 1.546.089

Totals $_17.327.806 $_ 18.007.860
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17. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The investments of UCN are purchases made with excess cash intended to be for short periods of time.

The investments held by UCN are not exposed to significant credit risk as they are held by the Province of
Manitoba.

The credit risk from accounts receivable is relatively low as the majority of receivables are from students,
contract training and from government agencies. Credit risk from student receivables is managed through
registration cancellation and by maintaining standard collection procedures. Credit risk for contract
training is managed through standard collection procedures. Amounts due from the the Province of
Manitoba are typically collected when due.

UCN establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions regarding
current market conditions, client analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered
when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

0-30 Days 31-60 Days 61-90 Days 91+ Days Total

Student receivables $ 164,209 $ 164,208 § 234583 $ 2,032,395 § 2,595,395
Government receivables 123,930 - 283,961 407,891
Other receivables 399,542 34,111 4,185 213,529 651,367
Gross receivables 687,681 198,319 238,768 2,529,885 3,654,653
Less: Allowance for

doubtful accounts (14.2986) {30,361} (307.833) {352.490)
Net receivables $ 687681 3 184.023 $ 208,407 $_ 2222052 $_ 3302163

Due from Province of Manitoba — vacation benefits are based on the estimated value of the corresponding

liability as at April 1, 1998 when Keewatin Community College {(precursor to UCN) assumed responsibility
for these expenditures.

Due from Province of Manitoba — severance benefits are based on the corresponding actuarial liability for
severance benefits as at April 1, 1998. The receivable will be paid by the Province when it is determined
that the funding is required to discharge the related vacation and severance benefits.

2. Liguidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that UCN will encounter difficulty in having available sufficient funds to meet its
commitments.

The cash flow of operating funds is prepared on a just in time basis. The short term funds of UCN are
invested so that maturity dates coincide with cash requirements. Term investments can be withdrawn prior
to the maturity date if needed.

The following table sets out the contractual maturities of financial liabilities;

2018
Within 6 months to
6 Months 1 Year 1-5 Years 5 Years +
Accounts payable and accrued liabilites $ 2,330,692 $ 303,180 % 106,250 $ 213,873
Accrued vacation benefits 2,151,804 557 858 484 360 69,637
Long term debt 28716 30,278 336,103 687,502

$__4512212 $___891316 $ 036,713 § 970,912

3. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect UCN's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
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17. RISK MANAGEMENT ({continued)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. UCN is exposed to limited interest risk as all investments held
are short-term in nature and are held by the Province of Manitoba and the long term debt is fixed rate.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rate. UCN is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it
does not have any financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency.

18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

UCN's capital comprises its fund balances, which include unrestricted funds, internally restricted funds,
externally restricted funds, and funds invested in capital assets.

Unrestricted Funds

UCN's objective in managing its operating capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its costs of
operations. UCN manages its operating capital through an operating budget which is approved by the
Governing Council and the Advanced Learning Division.

Restricted Funds
UCN also maintains externally and internally restricted funds and an endowment fund.

The restricted funds are managed with the objective to spend the funds in accordance with the various terms
and not spend beyond the resources that have been provided.

The endowment fund is managed with the long term objective of preserving the capital of the individual
endowment accounts. The goal is to earmn investment returns, adjusted for inflation, which will support the
ongoing expenditure and commitment of the fund.

Funds Invested in Capital Assets
Funds invested in capital assets are managed with the long term objective of acquiring and maintaining the
capital assets required to facilitate UCN's operations.

As at March 31, 2018, UCN has met its objectives with respect to its capital requirements. There have been no

significant changes to UCN's capital management objective, policies and processes in the period. UCN
Governing Councif approved the transfer of Capital Campaign fund to the UCN fund and Student Award fund.

19. INTER-FUND TRANSFERS

Student Capital
Unrestricted Internally Restricted Award Campaign
UCN Fund 1US Fund UCN Fund 1US Fund Fund Fund
Fiscal Stabilization $ (66,744) % $ 66,744 % $ $
Capital Campaign 113,695 59,783 {173,478)
Innovations (56,691) 56,691
March 31, 2018 $ 46,951 $ (56,691) § 66744 & 56,681 $ 509,783 $_ (173,478)

March 31, 2017 § (54,769) $ (13.972) $ 54769 % 13972 % $
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20.

21.

22

23.

KNOWLEDGE INFRASTRUCTURE PROGRAM FUNDING

UCN entered into a two-year $8.0 million contribution agreement with the Canada-Manitoba Knowledge
Infrastructure Program (KIP) to fund repairs and maintenance and infrastructure projects at eight Regional
Centres located throughout Northern Manitoba., These centres were funded using capital grants. Regional
Centres located on First Nations land were managed, owned and operated by UCN during construction either
directly or through contracts with the First Nation. Ownership and facility management may transfer to local
First Nations governments in accordance with KIP terms and conditions after completion. If transferred to the
First Nation communities, a loss will be recorded for the deficiency between the funded amounts and the total
amounts capitalized. As at March 31, 2015, construction on the eight Regional Centres has been completed at
a cost of $10,623630. UCN has deferred the funding and capitalized the expenditures to
Building/Improvements and the assets are amortized accordingly.

CONTINGENCIES

UCN is named as a defendant in litigations where legal action has commenced or is anticipated. While the
ultimate outcomes of these proceedings cannot be predicted at this time, management and its legal counsel
are of the opinion that, either the outcomes will not have a material effect on the financial position of UCN, or
the outcomes are not determinable. UCN believes they have made adequate provision in the financial
statements in respect of these claims, as of March 31, 2018.

LINE OF CREDIT
UCN has an approved borrowing limit of $2,000,000 at an interest rate of 2.4% and is secured by a guarantee

from the Province of Manitcba with no fixed terms of repayment. At March 31, 2018 the balance was nil
{March 2017 - nil}.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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STATEMENT 1A
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - GENERAL
MaRCH 31
UCN s
FUND FUND MARCH 31, 2018 MaRcH 31, 2017
ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents % 7.060,514 $ 3,261,368 § 11,221,882 3§ 11,057,102
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 3,044,736 202,309 3,247,045 4,043,633
Due to/from other funds 1,269,217 (1,263,304) 5,913
Due from Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 752,589 752,589 752,589
Inventory 267,205 267,205 248,591
Prepaid expenses 809,366 1,856 811,222 1.010.210
14,103,627 2,202,229 16,305,856 17,112,125
LONG TERM
Prepaid expenses 448,137 446,137 518,582
Capital assets (Note 6) 20,229,723 28,813 20,258,536 20,147,849
Due from Province of Manitoba (Nofe 7) 788,490 5,010 793,500 793,500
21,464,350 33,823 21,498,173 21,459 931
$ 35567977 $_ 2236052 $_ 37804029 $_ 38572056
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8) 3 2849966 $ 103,129 % 2953095 % 3,319,971
Accrued vacations benefits 3,145,952 127,607 3,273,659 3,064,121
Due to other funds 50,000 50,000
Deferred revenue 660,434 660,434 986,613
Deferred contributions (Note 9) 3,113,901 3,113,901 4,833,233
Current portion long term debt (Note 10) 59,994 59,994 57,790
0,880,247 230,736 10,110,983 12,261,728
LONG TERM
Deferred revenue 446,137 446 137 518,582
Deferred contributions related to
capital assets (Note 11) 10,563,421 28,812 10,592,233 10,139,914
Accrued severance benefits (Note 12} 3,773,244 210,871 3,984,115 3,651,700
Long term debt (Note 10) 1,023,605 1,023,605 1,083,599
15,806,407 239,683 16,046,090 15,393,795
FUND BALANCES
NET ASSETS INVESTED IN CAPITAL ASSETS 8,628,343 8,628,343 8,893,028
NET ASSETS INTERNALLY RESTRICTED (Nofe 15) 491,000 1,765,633 2,256,633 2,133,198
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS 761,980 761,980 {109,693)
9,881,323 1,765,633 11,646,956 10,916,533
$ 35567977 S_ 2236052 $_ 37,804020 $_ 38572056




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - GENERAL

STATEMENT 2A

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

UCN us
FunD FUND

MaRGH 31, 2018 MARcH 31, 2017

REVENUES

Grants
Post-Secondary Education
Cther Province of Manitoba
Government of Canada

Amortization of deferred contributions related to

capital assets
Ancillary sales and services
Investment income
Contract training
Tuition and student fees
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of capital assets

EXPENSES

Advertising and public relations
Amortization of capital assets
Bad debts

Cost of goods sold

Facility costs

Furniture and minor equipment
Insurance

Interest on long term debt

Library acquisitions

Loss on dipsosal of capital assets
Maintenance and repairs
Operational supplies and services
Property taxes

Rentals and leases

Salaries and employee benefits
Telephone and communication
Travel

Utilities

EXCESS REVENUES

$ 34825746 $ 1055200 $ 35,880,946 $ 36,363,185
538,038 538,038 698,190
52,365 52,365 95,912
996,172 5936 1,002,108 943,580

2,780,298 2,780,298 2,902,666
142,358 6,958 149,316 92,690
1,133,003 1,133,003 890,925
3,481,173 540,026 4021199 3,966,251
1,253,195 6,309 1,259,504 1,243,049
10,455 4,130 14,585
45212.803 _ 1.618559 _46,831,362 _47.196,448
485,989 6,699 492,688 536,878
1,333,240 5,936 1,339,176 1,442,593
71,976 6,659 78,635 345,632
1,320,115 1,320,115 1,329,660
2,118,645 2118645 2,118,645
503,150 5,092 509,142 1,036,952
132,976 132,976 167,500
41,816 41,816 43,939
144,801 144,801 261,337
30,753
146,532 863 147,395 124,250
4,693,018 96,135 4,789,153 4,442,145
531,600 531,600 520,610
482,430 19,468 501,898 464,888
30,433,460  1,171639 31605000 30,933,186
657,216 4,514 661,730 663,918
1,182,261 239,833 1,422,004 1,558,202
377,671 377 671 360,996
44,656,806 _ 1,557.738 _46214,634 _46.382,084
$ 555007 $__ 60821 $__ 616728 $__ 814364




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GENERAL
#

UNRESTRICTED

STATEMENT 3A

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31

INTERNALLY RESTRICTECD

s
FuUND

NET ASSETS TOTAL
INVESTED IN MARCH 31, MARCH 31,
CaPITAL ASSETS 2018 2017

FUND SURPLUS, beginning of year

EXCESS REVENUES

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS INVESTED IN
CAPITAL ASSETS

Amortization of capital assets

Amortization of deferred contributions
related to capital assets

Purchase of capital assets

Deferred contributions related to capital
assets

Gain ¢n disposal of capital assets

Long term debt on capital assets

INTER-FUND TRANSFERS (Note 19)

FUND SURPLUS, end of year

60,821

5,936

(5.936)

(4,130)

(56,691}

1,708,942 $§ 2,133,198

$ 8,893,028 % 10915533 § 10,102,189

616,728 814,364

(1,339,176}

1,002,108
1,454,427

(1,454,427}
14,585
57,798

113,695

1,765,633 $__2,256,633

$_ 8628343 $ 11646956 $_10816533




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH

SCHEDULE OF OTHER GRANT REVENUE
{(UNAUDITED)

SCHEDULE 1

MarcH 31, 2018

MarcH 31, 2017

Province of Manitoba

Adult Learning Centre - Manitoba Advanced Education and Literacy

Family Services

Finance

Jobs and The Economy

Office of the Fire Commissioner

Post Secondary Education

Public Library Services

Sport Culture and Heritage

Summer Enrichment - Manitoba Education
Sustainable Development

SCHEDULE OF ANCILLARY SALES AND SERVICES
(UNAUDITED)

$ 413,100 % 413,100
78,100
85,062
550
650
28,365 1,383
50,408 79,395
4,300 600
40,000 40,000
1,215
$ 538,038 698,180
SCHEDULE 2

MaRCH 31, 2018

MARCH 31, 2017

Bookstore
Cafeteria

Residence

SCHEDULE OF TUITION AND STUDENT FEES
{UNAUDITED)

$ 1,356,201 $ 1,393,990
635,434 584 615
788,663 924,061

$ 2,780,298 3_ 2902666

SCHEDULE 3

MarcH 31, 2018

MarcH 31, 2017

Apprenticeship
Core-funded programs

Continuing Education

$ 900,412 $ 1,019,363
2,561,378 2,391,600
19,383 47 928

$ 3481173 $_3.458.891




UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF THE NORTH SCHEDULE 4
STATEMENT OF UCN EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION

(UNAUDITED)
TOTAL
SALARIES AND

BENEFITS OTHER MaRcH 31, 2018 MaRcH 31, 2017
Academic $ 14867538 % 1,766,333 $ 16,623,871 $ 16,283,666
Administration 5,614,998 3,890,934 9,605,932 9,434,352
Ancillary Sales and Services 1,309,747 1,997,818 3,307,565 3,241,946
Continuing Education 87,519 45,109 132,628 89,658
Library 921,684 594,291 1,515,975 1,512,297
Contract Training 1,149,416 325178 1,474,594 1,317,806
Insurance Claims 41,337
information Technology 1,045,608 665,696 1,711,304 2,207,518
Plant 1,061,173 3,611,279 4,672,452 4,641,512
Program Support 4,288,067 1,324,508 5,612,575 6,042,550

$_30,345750 $_14.311,146 $_44656,896 $_44.812,642
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY

The University is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and has prepared them in accordance

with Canadian public sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada, including the standards for government not for profit organizations. The University
believes the financial statements present fairly the University’s financial position as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its
operations for the year ending March 31, 2018.

The University’s Board of Governors is responsible for overseeing the business affairs of the University and also has the
responsibility to approve the financial statements. The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to its Audit and Risk
Management Committee including the responsibility for reviewing the annual financial statements and meeting with
management and the Auditor General of Manitoba on matters relating to the financial reporting. The Auditor General has
full access to the Audit and Risk Management Committee with or without the presence of management. The Board has
approved the financial statements.

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, the University has developed and
maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that University assets are safeguarded
from loss and that accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of financial statements. The integrity of
internal controls is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Audit Services.

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 have been reported on by the Auditor General of Manitoba,
the auditor appointed under The University of Manitoba Act. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of his examination
and provides his opinion on the fairness of presentation of the financial statements.

Original signed by
David T. Barnard, Ph.D.
President and Vice-Chancellor

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 26, 2018



AUDITOR'S REPORT

o

CIFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL
MANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Board of Governors of the University of Manitoba

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of Manitoba, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the statements of operations and changes in fund
balances, remeasurement gains and losses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
University of Manitoba as at March 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, its remeasurement gains and
losses, and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards.

Original document signed by
Norm Ricard

June 26, 2018 Norm Ricard, CPA, CA
Winnipeg, Manitoba Auditor General

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba RIC 0C4 office: [204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169

www.oag.mb.ca
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 4) $ 330,370 $ 319,579
Accounts Receivable (Note 5) 86,354 68,599
Inventories 3,336 3,164
Prepaid Expenses 2,638 1,789
Current Portion of Loan Receivable (Note 6) 3,244
425,942 393,131
Long Term Assets
Loan Receivable (Note 6) 78,730 198,971
Investments (Note 7) 929,251 834,911
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Amortization (Note 9) 1,145,096 1,109,930
2,153,077 2,143,812
$ 2,579,019 $2,536,943
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 70,494 $ 53819
Unearned Revenue (Note 10) 24,520 18,030
Vacation and Sick Leave Liability 16,323 15,597
Current Portion of Long Term Debt (Note 11) 9,917 6,337
121,254 93,783
Long Term Liabilities
Long Term Debt (Note 11) 258,824 385,738
Other Long Term Liabilities (Note 12) 7,380 8,931
Employee Future Benefits (Note 13) 83,992 81,053
Pension Liability (Note 16) 20,427 24,343
370,623 500,065
Fund Balances
Unrestricted (Note 21) (64,544) (67,546)
Internally Restricted (Note 24) 242,096 207,899
Externally Restricted (Note 25) 329,502 289,821
Invested in Capital Assets (Note 25) 1,106,685 1,044,625
Endowed (Note 25) 473,403 468,296
2,087,142 1,943,095
$ 2,579,019 $2,536,943

Contractual Obligations and Contingencies (Note 27)

Original signed by Original signed by

Jeff Lieberman — Chair

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements)

Rafi Mohammed - Vice-Chair



UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FORTHE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General Restricted Endowment 2018 2017
Funds Funds Fund Total Total
(Note 2D) (Note 2E) (Note 2F) Funds Funds
Revenue
Tuition and Related Fees $ 170,139 $ $ $ 170,139 $ 163,571
Donations 2,676 17,299 10,467 30,442 34,506
Non-Government Grants 5,116 79,149 84,265 83,984
Net Investment Income (Note 17) 7,047 54,176 61,223 56,939
Miscellaneous Income 8,111 6,742 14,853 15,009
Government Grants:
Manitoba Education and Training 356,822 6,701 363,523 363,777
Other Province of Manitoba 25,976 37,471 63,447 59,462
Government of Canada 9,804 98,317 108,121 84,471
City of Winnipeg 151 30 181 51
Sales of Goods and Services 34,724 428 35,152 35,101
Ancillary Services 38,416 38,416 37,983
Gain on Long Term Debt (Note 11) 118,682 118,682
658,982 418,995 10,467 1,088,444 934,854
Expense
Salaries 359,896 38,675 398,571 389,628
Staff Benefits and Pay Levy 66,783 7,017 73,800 84,284
Materials, Supplies and Services 54,881 56,466 111,347 101,054
Amortization of Capital Assets 55,595 55,595 54,645
Student Assistance 15,351 45,455 60,806 57,511
Professional Consulting and Externally
Contracted Services 16,673 29,889 46,562 45,104
Travel and Conferences 12,084 13,158 25,242 23,024
Utilities, Municipal Taxes and Insurance 19,746 68 19,814 19,207
Interest 13,611 13,611 19,074
Maintenance and Repairs 9,026 418 9,444 6,252
Loss on Loan Receivable Allowance (Note 6) 118,682 118,682
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets 1,000
554,440 379,034 933,474 800,783
Net Revenue from Operating Activities 104,542 39,961 10,467 154,970 134,071
Inter-Fund Transfers (Note 23) (72,812) 72,231 581
Net Increase to Fund Balances from
Operating Activities 31,730 112,192 11,048 154,970 134,071
Fund Balances from Operating Activities
Beginning of Year 66,220 1,404,412 324,739 1,795,371 1,661,300
Fund Balances from Operating Activities
End of Year 97,950 1,516,604 335,787 1,950,341 1,795,371
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
End of Year 87 (902) 137,616 136,801 147,724
Fund Balances End of Year $ 98,037 $ 1,515,702 $ 473,403 $ 2,087,142  $1,943,095

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements)

| ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018
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UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
FORTHE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
General Restricted Endowment Total Total
Funds Funds Fund Funds Funds
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
Beginning of Year $ 3 $ 4,164 $ 143,557 $ 147,724 $ 86,161
Unrealized Gains (Losses) Attributed to:
Derivatives 1,441 1,441 1,239
Foreign Exchange 87 (3,074) (2,987) 72
Portfolio Investments 5,419 3,295 8,714 52,121
Designated Fair Value Investments 23,128 (9,236) 13,892 36,371
Amounts Reclassified to the Statement of
Operations and Changes in Fund Balances:
Foreign Exchange (3) 3,698 3,695 342
Portfolio Investments (26,921) (26,921) (25,173)
Designated Fair Value Investments (8,757) (8,757) (3,409)
Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
for the Year 84 (5,066) (5,941) (10,923) 61,563
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains
End of Year $ 87 $ (902) $ 137,616 $ 136,801 $ 147,724

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements)



UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2018 2017
General Restricted Endowment Total Total
Funds Funds Fund Funds Funds
Operating Activities
Net Revenue from Operating Activities $ 104,542 $ 39,961 $ 10,467 $ 154970 $§ 134,071
Amortization of Capital Assets 55,595 55,595 54,645
104,542 95,556 10,467 210,565 188,716
Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items 6,199 (1,084) 5,115 8,167
Net Change in Other Long Term Liabilities (110) (1,441) (1,551) 2,752
Net Change in Pension Obligation (3,916) (3,916) 3,771
Net Change in Employee Future Benefits 346 2,593 2,939 4,527
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets 1,000
Gain on Long Term Debt (118,682) (118,682)
Loss on Loan Receivable Allowance 118,682 118,682
Net Cash generated through Operating Activities 107,061 95,624 10,467 213,152 208,933
Investing Activities
Principal Repayment on Loan Receivable 2,118 2,118 1,338
Net Decrease (Increase) in Long Term Investments  (56,728) (37,487) (11,048) (105,263) (76,094)
Net Cash generated through (used in)
Investing Activities (56,728) (35,369) (11,048) (103,145) (74,756)
Capital Activities
Purchase of Capital Assets (90,761) (90,761) (80,870)
Net Cash used in Capital Activities (90,761) (90,761) (80,870)
Financing Activities
Principal Repayment on Long Term Debt (8,455) (8,455) (7,352)
Net Cash generated through (used in) Financing Activities (8,455) (8,455) (7,352)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 50,333 (38,961) (581) 10,791 45,955
Inter-Fund Transfers (72,812) 72,231 581
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 72,683 246,896 319,579 273,624
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 50,204 $ 280,166 $ $ 330,370 $ 319,579
Supplementary cash flow information:
Interest Received (Note 19) $ 6,634 $ 3,283 $ $ 9917  $ 7,658
Interest Paid (Note 19) $ $ 9,807 $ $ 9,807 $ 10,130

(The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2018
(in thousands of dollars)

|. AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

The University of Manitoba was established in 1877. It is governed by a Board of Governors acting under the authority of
The University of Manitoba Act, R.S.M. 1987, c. U60. The University of Manitoba is a registered charity and is exempt from
income taxes under Section 149 of The Income Tax Act.

The University of Manitoba, as the largest and most comprehensive institution of higher learning in Manitoba, plays a
distinctive role within the Province. In addition to offering an undergraduate liberal education in arts, science and education,
the University of Manitoba provides programs in a broad range of professional studies, applied sciences and the fine and
performing arts and is responsible for the vast majority of graduate education and research in Manitoba. The University

of Manitoba reaches out to a variety of constituencies in order to enhance the health, cultural, social and economic life of
Manitobans and to provide lifelong learning opportunities for them. Through community service, the University makes its
expertise available to all Manitobans.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. GENERAL

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards established
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered Professional Accountants Canada, including the standards for
government not-for-profit organizations. The University has adopted the restricted fund method of accounting for
contributions.

The University controls UM Properties GP Inc. (Note 18), UM Properties Holding Inc. (Note 18) and Partners for Health
and Development in Africa (PHDA) (Note 19), but does not consolidate the accounts for the purposes of these financial
statements.

The University has an 8.33% (2017, 8.33%) interest in TRIUMF (Note 18), a joint venture which operates a national
laboratory for particle and nuclear physics. The University uses the modified equity method of accounting to record its
interest in TRIUME

B. FUND ACCOUNTING

The University classifies resources used for various purposes into separate Funds which correspond to its major activities and
objectives. The Statement of Financial Position combines the assets and liabilities of all Funds. The University maintains its
Funds under three fund categories: General, Restricted and Endowment Funds. The General Funds include the Funds for
General Operating, Specific Provisions and Expenses Funded from Future Revenues Funds. The Restricted Funds include
the Capital Asset, Research and Special, Staff Benefits and Trust Funds. The Endowment Fund includes endowed funds of
the University.

C. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting estimates are included in financial statements to approximate the effect of past revenue or expense transactions
or events, or to approximate the present status of an asset or liability. Examples include accruals for salaries and benefits, the
estimated useful life of an asset and certain actuarial assumptions used in determining employee future benefits. It is possible
that changes in future conditions could require changes in the recognized amounts for accounting estimates.
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D. GENERAL FUNDS
General Operating Fund:

The General Operating Fund includes the academic, administrative, operational and ancillary costs that are funded by
tuition and related fees, government grants, investment income, miscellaneous income, sales of goods and services to
external parties and ancillary income. As such, this Fund reports unrestricted resources and restricted resources earmarked
for general operating purposes.

All funds received or accrued by the University for general operating purposes and for equipment and renovation expenses
not meeting the University’s capitalization criteria are included in the General Operating Fund. The net cost of operating
units is determined by including internal cost allocations for certain centrally administered services, such as the telephone
system in the units’ expenses, and by deducting these expenses as internal cost recoveries from the total expenses incurred by
the unit administering these services.

The University BookStore, Parking, Student Residences, Pharmacy/Post Office, and SmartPark are classified as Ancillary
Services and are budgeted on a break even basis. Any surpluses or deficits are transferred to/from the Specific Provisions
Fund. Overhead costs have been allocated to all ancillary operations. Amortization of ancillary capital assets and interest
expense is recorded in the Capital Asset Fund.

Specific Provisions Fund:

The Specific Provisions Fund records appropriations made from (to) the General Operating, Capital Asset and Research
and Special Funds.

These appropriations are made to provide future funding for the replacement, improvement or emergency maintenance
of capital assets, unit carryover, a fiscal stabilization provision to offset potential spending in excess of future budgets and
other matters. Such appropriations are shown as inter-fund transfers on the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund
Balances and in Note 23.

Expenses Funded From Future Revenues Fund:

The Expenses Funded from Future Revenues Fund records the amount of non-vesting sick leave benefits and unpaid
vacation pay for staff which will be funded from future revenues. It also records the actuarially determined expense for
employee future benefits and change in pension liability.

E. RESTRICTED FUNDS
Capital Asset Fund:

The Capital Asset Fund consists of restricted contributions resulting from capital asset co-funding arrangements with
external parties, contributed capital assets and government grants restricted for the purpose of acquiring capital assets

and retiring capital advances. Funding agreements, using promissory notes as a vehicle, entered into with the Provincial
Government for the construction or acquisition of capital assets, which will be repaid from future funding provided by the
Provincial Government through Manitoba Education and Training (MET), are recorded as capital grants. These capital
grants, under the restricted fund method of accounting, are reflected as revenue in the Statement of Operations and Changes
in Fund Balances. The interest expense and the related future funding from MET over the terms of the promissory notes,

to offset the interest expense and principal payments, are both excluded from the Statement of Operations and Changes in
Fund Balances. Expenses include interest on debt relating to the acquisition or construction of capital assets, amortization
and gains or losses on disposal of capital assets, which includes write-downs resulting from obsolescence.

Research and Special Fund:

The Research and Special Fund consists of contributions specifically restricted for research or other special activities.
Contributions are provided from both Federal and Provincial granting agencies and other public and private sources.
These funds are spent in accordance with the conditions stipulated in the related governing contracts and agreements.

| ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018
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Staff Benefits Fund:

The Staff Benefits Fund is divided into Fund Accounts for the Pension Reserve, and for each of the Self-Insured Plans,
which are the Long Term Disability Income Plan and the Dental Plan.

Trust Fund:

The Trust Fund records gifts and bequests received which may be used in their entirety along with net investment income
earned on these funds, according to donor restrictions. The majority of these funds are used for scholarships, bursaries,
awards, loans, and other scholarly activities.

F. ENDOWMENT FUND

The Endowment Fund records gifts and bequests received with the stipulation that these funds be invested in perpetuity
and investment income earned be utilized for designated purposes. The Fund balance also reflects the change in fair value of
Endowment Fund investments, which is recorded in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses.

G. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate Fund when received or receivable, if the amount
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Unrestricted contributions, including sales of goods and services and ancillary revenues, are recognized as revenue of
the General Operating Fund in the year received or receivable, if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured.

Contributions for endowment purposes are recognized as revenue in the Endowment Fund in the year received. Investment
income earned on endowments is recorded in the appropriate Trust Fund depending on the restrictions imposed by the
original donor.

Investment income, including realized gains or losses, is recorded in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund
Balances in the appropriate Fund depending on the restrictions imposed. Unrestricted investment income is recorded as
unrestricted income in the General Operating Fund.

The change in fair value (unrealized gains or losses) of investments is recorded in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains
and Losses until the investments are sold.

H. CONTRIBUTED MATERIALS AND SERVICES

Gifts-in-kind are recorded in the financial statements to the extent that they are eligible for an official donation receipt, since
this results in the capture of the information in the University’s financial records.

Because of the difficulty involved in tracking and recording contributed services, the market value of these services is

not recognized in the financial statements. Contributed services include activities such as membership on the University’s
Board of Governors and its various committees, lecturing services and volunteer services at fundraising or sporting events,
all of which are performed by staff, students and the community at no charge to the University. These services, although not
recognized in the financial statements, are critical to the successful functioning of the University.

I. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are used to meet short term operating needs. They are
readily convertible to cash and mature within one year from acquisition. Any cash or other investments maturing within one
year that are held by portfolio managers are classified as long term investments and are recorded at fair value or designated
to fair value. Portfolio managers maintain a cash balance within investment portfolios as part of their overall long term
mandate, as well as to facilitate trades and the rebalancing of funds.
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J. PLEDGES RECEIVABLE

The University does not record pledges receivable in its financial statements. Revenue from gifts, bequests and donations is
recognized on a cash basis because of the uncertainty surrounding collection and in some instances because of the difficulty
in determining the valuation of pledges receivable. The University recognizes gifts and donations to be received through

the University of Manitoba Foundation U.S.A. Inc. only when the Board of Directors of the Foundation have formalized

the transfer with a resolution, collectability is reasonably assured, and the valuation of these gifts and donations can be
reasonably determined.

K. INVENTORIES

Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

L. CAPITAL ASSETS

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. Capital assets which are constructed by the University are recorded as
Construction in Progress until the capital asset is put into use. Contributed capital assets are recorded at market value at the
date of contribution. Intangibles such as patents and copyrights are recorded at a nominal amount of one dollar in the year
the patent or copyright is obtained.

Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings and Major Renovations 15-50 years
Computer Hardware and Electronics 5-10 years
Furniture and Equipment 10 years
Library Books 10 years
Parking Lots 20 years
Vehicles 5 years

Equipment acquired under a capital lease is amortized over the useful life of the asset. Works of art, treasures, rare books and
manuscripts are not amortized.

M. COLLECTIONS

The University holds a number of collections which include works of art, rare books and manuscripts, museum specimens
and other archival material. The associated library, faculty or school assumes responsibility for safeguarding and preserving
the collection. The University seldom, if ever, disposes of its collections or of individual pieces in its collections. The
University policy is to use proceeds generated from deaccessioned works of art to augment the University art collection.

The University’s policy with regard to its collections is to initially record them at fair value and to fund maintenance
expenses from the General Operating Fund. The cost of maintenance is not tracked and is therefore not determinable.

N. PENSION COSTS

The University sponsors two pension plans for its employees and retirees: The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993)
and The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan (1986). The 1986 Plan is a defined contribution plan and as a result the
pension costs are based on contributions required by the plan.

The Pension Costs for the 1993 Plan are determined actuarially using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method,
pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate expectations of the discount rate for liabilities, the expected return on
assets, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and member mortality. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life of the active employees, commencing in the year following the year the respective
annual actuarial gains or losses arise.

The funded position of the 1993 plan is disclosed in Note 16.
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O. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial instruments of the University consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loan receivable,
investments, accounts payable, vacation and sick leave liability, loans, other long term liabilities, and long term debt.

All financial instruments are recognized at cost or amortized cost, or fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized at cost. Accounts receivable, loan receivable, fixed income investments and
preferred shares held in the General Funds, accounts payable, loans, vacation and sick leave liability, other long term
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments), and long term debt are recognized at amortized cost.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to determine interest
revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial instruments recognized at fair value include Canadian equities, US equities and derivatives. Bonds and other fixed
income securities and pooled funds have been designated to fair value other than corporate bonds and preferred shares
which are recognized at cost, and the investment in TRIUMF which is recognized at modified equity. Pooled funds are
valued by the fund managers.

Unrealized gains and losses from the change in fair value of these financial instruments are reflected in the Statement of
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until disposition.

Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value.

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses are recorded
in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances. Future recoveries of impaired assets are recorded in the
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balance when received. Interest is not recorded on financial assets that are
deemed to be impaired. A write-down of a portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent
increase in value.

Financial instruments are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy used has the following levels:

Level 1 - Inputs that reflect unadjusted publicly quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
University has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs other than publicly quoted prices that are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability.

Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable. There is little if any market activity. Inputs into the determination of fair value require
significant management judgment or estimation.

P. OTHER EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The University accrues its obligations for other employee future benefit plans relating to health, dental, sick leave, long term
disability, and group life insurance. The cost of non-vesting sick leave benefits has been determined using management’s best
estimates. The cost of the long term disability plan for employees and the cost of non-pension and post-retirement benefits
for retired employees are actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service, management’s best
estimates for the discount rate for liabilities, the expected rate of return on assets, retirement ages and expected future cost
trends. For current active employees, the cost of other employee future benefit plans relating to health, dental, and group life
insurance is the premiums charged under the plans to the University.

The University also accrues its obligations relating to post-retirement adjustments to pensions for specifically entitled
employees who retired prior to 1993. The cost of such post-retirement pension adjustments is actuarially determined using
the accrued benefit method and management’s best estimate for the discount rate for liabilities and the expected rate of
return on assets. Any increase in such adjustments is recognized in the year that it occurs.

Actuarial gains and losses on post-retirement adjustments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life expectancy of
the group, commencing in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise.
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Actuarial gains and losses of other benefit plans are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining
service life of the active employees, commencing in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or
losses arise.

Q. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Monetary assets, liabilities and investments at fair value, denominated in foreign currencies, are translated at the year-end
exchange rate. The unrealized foreign currency translation gains or losses of these financial instruments are reflected in the
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Revenues and expenses are translated at exchange rates on the transaction
dates. Realized gains or losses arising from these translations are included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in
Fund Balances.

R. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

From time to time, the University uses derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swap agreements, in its
management of exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. An interest rate swap is a derivative financial contract between
two parties who agree to exchange fixed rate interest payments for floating rate payments on a predetermined notional
amount and term. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and in determining the fair value, the credit risk of both
counterparties is considered.

J. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

Effective April 1, 2017 the University adopted five new accounting standards. Related Party Transactions (PS 2200), Assets
(PS 3210), Contingent Assets (PS 3320), Contractual Rights (PS 3380) and Inter-Entity Transactions (PS 3420). The adoption
of these standards has resulted in additional note disclosures where necessary.

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017
Cash $ 47,882 $ 72,789
Guaranteed Investment Certificates 282,488 246,790
$ 330,370 $ 319,579

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2018 2017
Business, Industry and Foundations $ 43,175 $ 30,605
Provincial Government 14,549 13,382
Federal Government 8,224 8,588
Investment Income and Interest 7,765 4,525
Advances 5,744 1,515
External Sales and Cost Recoveries 3,892 5,228
Students 2,958 4,705
Miscellaneous 47 51
$ 86,354 $ 68,599
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6. LOAN RECEIVABLE

The University has a loan agreement with Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B) related to the construction of Investors Group
Field at the Fort Garry campus. The loan agreement is divided into a first phase and a second phase for a combined amount
not to exceed $160 million. The first phase is not to exceed $75 million and the second phase is not to exceed $85 million.
The interest rate on the first phase of the loan is 4.65%, and the first phase of the loan receivable is due and payable in

full on June 1, 2038. The interest rate on the second phase is 4.65% until June 1, 2053, and is due and payable in full on
November 24, 2058.

Any amounts received by Triple B in the form of insurance proceeds entitled to be retained by Triple B by reason of the
destruction of all or part of the stadium, where such insurance proceeds are not being applied to restore, reconstruct and
repair the stadium in accordance with the ground lease, shall be paid to the University and be applied to the repayment of the
loan, firstly to the accrued interest and secondly to principal outstanding, for both phases of the loan, on a pro-rata basis.

Payment terms of the first phase and second phase of the loan receivable are as follows:

FIRST PHASE:
Triple B is required to make payments to the University equivalent to the aggregate of:

o Anyamounts received by Triple B in respect of the stadium development from the City of Winnipeg pursuant to The
Community Revitalization Tax Increment Financing Act; and

« Anyamounts received by Triple B from any party which were designated by the party for application to the loan.

Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding. Unpaid interest is added to the
principal of the first phase of the loan and compounded annually.

SECOND PHASE:

Interest will be calculated annually, and unpaid interest until December 15, 2017 shall be added to the first phase of the loan.
Any unpaid interest after December 15, 2017 shall be added to the second phase of the loan and compounded annually.
Payments in respect of principal shall be made in amounts determined by Triple B, on or before December 15, 2017.

Annual payments of principal and interest over the remainder of the second phase loan term are to be paid on or before
December 15 of each calendar year commencing on December 15, 2018 based on the amortization of the loan following the
December 15, 2017 payment.

INVESTORS GROUP FIELD LOAN:

2018 2017
First Phase interest and principal outstanding $ 118,682 $ 116,971
Second Phase principal outstanding 81,974 82,000
200,656 198,971

Allowance For First Phase (118,682)
81,974 198,971

Less Current Portion (3,244)
$ 78,730 $ 198,971

The First and Second Phase loans have an equal long term debt loan payable to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11).

In consultation with the Province of Manitoba, the University has reviewed the projected cash flow from The Community
Revitalization Tax Increment Financing Act and other sources. Given the current economic circumstances the University
has concluded there will be insufficient amounts available to repay the First Phase receivable, including accrued interest.
As a result, the University has established an allowance.
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Since the long term debt can only be repaid when the University receives these payments from Triple B, the University has
established an allowance for the First Phase loan payable in an equal amount (Note 11).

These allowances have been recorded in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances as both revenue and

expense.

. INVESTMENTS

2018 2017
Levell  Level2  Level3 Total Levell  Level2  Level3 Total
Investments Held at Fair Value:
Cash and Money Market Funds $ 10,301 $ $ 10,301 $ 5937 $ $ $ 5937
Canadian Equities 192,110 192,110 196,118 196,118
US Equities 218,922 218,922 202,568 202,568
421,333 421,333 404,623 404,623
Investments Designated to Fair Value:
Cash and Money Market Funds 2,921 2,921 2,677 2,677
Bonds and Other Fixed
Income Securities 69,792 69,792 57,502 57,502
Pooled Bond Fund 13,984 13,984 12,727 12,727
Pooled Canadian Equities 18,842 18,842 18,703 18,703
Pooled US Equities 6,675 6,675 6,434 6,434
Pooled International Equities 115,956 115,956 117,034 117,034
Pooled Real Estate Fund 119,940 119,940 113,248 113,248
Pooled Mortgage Fund 8,267 8,267 7,548 7,548
356,377 356,377 335,873 335,873
Investments Held at Amortized Cost:
Corporate Bonds 103,042 55,505
Preferred Shares 46,211 36,936
149,253 92,441
Investments Held at Modified Equity:
TRIUMF 2,288 1,974
$421,333 $356,377 $ $929,251 $404,623 $335,873 $ $834,911

The University’s investment in real estate consists of units of a pooled real estate investment in the Great-West Life Assurance
Company Canadian Real Estate Investment Fund No. 1.

The fair value of investments held at amortized cost is $146,469 (2017, $91,585). As at March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017
there were no transfers of investments between levels 1, 2 or 3.

8. RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT

The University uses a disciplined, fundamental approach in its investment selection and management, which consists of an
intensive and ongoing research process of investment opportunities across a broad range of investment vehicles of various
types of issuers (government, corporate or financial). As a result, the University is exposed to various types of risks that are
associated with its investment strategies, financial instruments and markets in which it invests. The University, through the
work of its investment committees and Treasury Office, has an investment policy statement in place governing asset mix,
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permitted investments, diversification, and minimum credit quality. The most important risks relate to market risk: other
price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. These risks and the related risk management
practices employed by the University are detailed below.

OTHER PRICE RISK

Other price risk represents the potential loss that can be caused by a change in the fair value of a financial instrument.

The University’s investments are subject to normal market fluctuations and the risks inherent in investment in the capital
markets. Investments held to meet short term obligations focus on credit quality and liquidity to minimize the effect of other
price risk on fair value. The majority of investments which are held for the long term to support the Endowment Fund are
equities, bonds, segregated funds and pooled funds, and are subject to other price risk given their nature and the long term
holding periods. Other price risk is managed through diversification provided by the Endowment Fund’s asset allocation
strategy, which emphasizes the importance of managing other price risk by maintaining appropriate levels of risk required to
achieve consistent long term returns that meet the investment objectives of the Endowment Fund.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair values of financial
instruments. The University is subjected to this risk when it invests in interest-bearing financial instruments, or when it
borrows funds using derivative financial instruments. Both investments and financial derivatives are exposed to the risk that
their fair value will fluctuate due to changes in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

The tables below summarize the University’s exposure to interest rate risk related to financial instruments categorized by
maturity dates.

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AS AT MARCH 31, 2018

Less than 90 days 1 year to 5yearsto  Greater than
90 days to 1 year 5 years 10 years 10 years Total
Cash Equivalents and Investments 37.2% 22.7% 7.7% 31.0% 1.4% 100%
Financial Derivatives 32.5% 17.1% 50.4% 100%

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AS AT MARCH 31, 2017

Less than 90 days 1 year to 5yearsto  Greater than
90 days to 1 year 5 years 10 years 10 years Total
Cash Equivalents and Investments 32.7% 34.2% 7.4% 24.0% 1.7% 100%
Financial Derivatives 30.7% 69.3% 100%
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Interest Non-interest Interest Non-interest
bearing bearing bearing bearing
instruments  instruments instruments instruments
Cash Equivalents and Investments $ 480,795 $ 730,944 $ 382,650 $ 699,051
Financial Derivatives $ 3,500 $ $ 4,941 $

As at March 31, 2018, a 0.5% fluctuation in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have an estimated
impact as follows:

2018 2017
Fair Value of Fixed Income Instruments $ 5,018 $ 3,439
Interest Rate Swaps $ 775 $ 1,000
Net Investment Income $ 2,579 $ 2,105
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The University has cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies and holds
investments in foreign currency equity markets in both the Trust and Endowment Funds, and the Staff Benefits Fund. The
income from these investments is used to meet financial liabilities denominated in Canadian dollars. The University does not
actively manage foreign exchange risk.

The University’s exposure in cash and investments to foreign currencies is shown below:

2018 2017

$ % $ %

Canadian Dollar $ 893,008 70.9% $ 807,998 70.0%
US Dollar 255,363 20.3% 235,008 20.4%
Euro 34,546 2.7% 34,351 3.0%
Japanese Yen 28,698 2.3% 27,834 2.4%
British Pound Sterling 18,901 1.5% 21,792 1.9%
Swiss Franc 14,077 1.1% 12,498 1.1%
Other 15,028 1.2% 15,009 1.2%
$ 1,259,621 100.0% $ 1,154,490 100.0%

As at March 31, 2018, an appreciation of 10% in the Canadian dollar versus foreign currencies exchange rates would increase
investments and net remeasurement gains by approximately $36,661 (2017, $34,649), while a depreciation of 10% would
decrease investments and net remeasurement gains by approximately $36,661 (2017, $34,649).

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the University would incur if its counterparties failed to perform in accordance
with the terms of their obligations. The University invests in financial assets that have an investment grade as rated primarily
by DBRS. Should DBRS not rate an issuer, the University may use Standard & Poor’s, followed by the Moody’s equivalent.
Ratings for securities which subject the University to credit risk are noted below:

% of Total Interest Bearing Investments

Investment Rating 2018 2017
$ % $ %
R-1High $ 197,604 41.1% $ 161,090 42.1%
R-1Mid 28,112 5.8% 32,793 8.6%
R-1Low 498 0.1%
AAA 37,425 7.8% 25,589 6.7%
AA 123,042 25.6% 74,607 19.5%
A 28,712 6.0% 26,706 7.0%
BBB 5,702 1.2% 6,170 1.6%
CcC 146
Not Rated 60,052 12.5% 55,197 14.4%
$ 480,795 100.0% $ 382,650 100.0%

The University manages credit risk related to fixed income investments by focusing on high credit quality. Cash and cash
equivalents are held in Canadian Chartered banks and Manitoba credit unions. Trust, Endowment and Capital Asset Fund
investments are held in diverse portfolios of investments with counterparties considered to be of high quality.

The University also has credit risk related to accounts receivable and loan receivable. A significant portion of the University’s
accounts receivable is related to Restricted Funds and is from the federal and provincial governments, not-for-profit
organizations, corporations, the US government, and other universities. The University also has accounts receivable from
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students and staff. The credit risk on these receivables is minimal. The remaining accounts receivable are due from a diverse
group of customers and are subject to normal credit risks. The credit risk related to the loan receivable is offset by a loan
payable to the Province of Manitoba with matching terms of repayment.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The University aims to retain sufficient cash and cash equivalents to maintain liquidity and meet short term obligations.
Most of the University’s investments are considered readily realizable and liquid, thus liquidity risk is considered minimal.
Investments that are not as liquid, such as the investment in the pooled real estate fund, are considered to be held for long
term periods in conjunction with the investment objectives, risk tolerance and time horizon of the Endowment Fund.

9. CAPITAL ASSETS, NET OF ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

2018 2017
Accumulated Accumulated
Cost Amortization Cost  Amortization
Assets Under Capital Lease $ 2,532 $ 2,532 $ 2,557 $ 2,557
Buildings and Major Renovations 1,257,048 335,892 1,162,234 310,252
Computer Hardware, Software and Electronics 101,856 95,421 100,178 93,007
Construction in Progress 41,222 78,497
Furniture and Equipment 295,346 224,569 283,054 214,017
Land 29,777 29,739
Library Books 228,904 170,596 221,512 165,698
Parking Lots 10,138 5,447 9,983 4,948
Rare Books and Manuscripts 7414 7,312
Vehicles 9,102 7,638 8,870 7,513
Works of Art 3,852 3,986
1,987,191 842,095 1,907,922 797,992
Less Accumulated Amortization 842,095 797,992
Net Book Value $ 1,145,096 $ 1,109,930
0. UNEARNED REVENUE
2018 2017
Unearned Revenue $ 16,306 12,482
Deferred Contributions:
Balance, Beginning of Year 5,548 1,352
Contributions Received 5,000 5,000
Less Amounts Recognized as Revenue (2,334) (804)
Balance, End of Year 8,214 5,548
$ 24,520 18,030

Deferred contributions represent unspent externally restricted contributions received for operating purposes from Manitoba

Health.
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[1. LONG TERM DEBT

2018 2017
Stadium Long Term Debt:
Province of Manitoba Loan, First Phase, 4.65% due June 1, 2038 $ 118,682 $ 116,971
Province of Manitoba Loan, Second Phase, 4.65% until June 1, 2053,
due November 24, 2058 81,974 82,000
200,656 198,971
Other Long Term Debt:
Province of Manitoba:
Promissory Note, 5.23% blended monthly payments $413 due March 1, 2035 55,767 57,752
Promissory Note, 5.55% blended monthly payments $428 due April 1, 2036 58,568 60,401
Promissory Note, 3.75% blended monthly payments $129 due September 30, 2039 22,742 23,417
Promissory Note, 5.35% blended monthly payments $173 due February 1, 2040 26,776 27,403
Term loans (with floating interest rates based on Bankers’ Acceptance rates plus stamping fees):
Multi-Tenant Facility, due February 28, 2019 7,192 7,442
Multi-Tenant Facility, due November 30, 2022 5,492 5,780
Arthur V. Mauro Student Residence, due October 1, 2023 10,230 10,909
186,767 193,104
Allowance for First Phase (Note 6) (118,682)
268,741 392,075
Less Current Portion:
Province of Manitoba, Stadium (3,244)
Province of Manitoba (5,391) (5,120)
Term Loans (1,282) (1,217)
(9,917) (6,337)
$ 258,824 $ 385,738

The effective interest rate on each of the term loans is the fixed interest rate based on an interest rate swap agreement plus a
stamping fee (Note 12).

Interest expense on long term debt was $13,611 (2017, $19,074).

The University entered into a loan agreement with the Province of Manitoba related to the construction of Investors Group
Field. Any amounts received by the University in the form of insurance proceeds received and entitled to be retained by the
University by reason of the destruction of all or part of the stadium, where such insurance proceeds are not being applied to
restore, reconstruct and repair the stadium in accordance with the ground lease are also to be applied to the repayment of the
loan, firstly to the accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding, for both phases of the loan, on a pro-rata basis.

Additional terms of repayment of the loan are as follows:

LOAN, FIRST PHASE:

The amount of the annual payment of principal and interest on the loan is equivalent to the aggregate of:

« Any amounts paid by Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B) to the University in respect of the Triple B loan receivable;

» Any amounts received by the University in respect of the stadium development from The City of Winnipeg pursuant to
The Community Revitalization Tax Increment Financing Act; and

« Anyamounts received by the University from any party which were designated by the party for application to the loan.
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Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest and secondly to the principal outstanding. Unpaid interest is added to the
principal of the First Phase of the loan and compounded annually. Any accrued interest and principal outstanding on the
First Phase of the loan as at June 1, 2038 is due and payable in full, subject to receipt of the accrued interest and principal
outstanding from Triple B, unless the parties agree otherwise in writing.

LOAN, SECOND PHASE:

Interest will be calculated annually and unpaid interest until December 31, 2017 shall be added to the first phase of the loan.
Any unpaid interest after December 31, 2017 shall be added to the second phase of the loan and compounded annually.
Payments in respect of principal shall be made in amounts as received from Triple B, on or before December 31, 2017.

Annual payments of principal and interest over the remainder of the second phase loan term are to be paid on or before
December 31 of each calendar year commencing on December 31, 2018, based on the amortization of the loan following
the December 31, 2017 payment. Payments are applied firstly to accrued interest after December 31, 2017 and secondly to
principal outstanding.

Any accrued interest and principal outstanding on the second phase of the loan as at November 24, 2058 is due and payable
in full, subject to receipt of accrued interest and principal outstanding from Triple B, unless the parties agree otherwise in
writing.

Principal and interest outstanding at March 31 are:

2018 2017
Loan, First Phase $ 75,000 $ 75,000
Loan, First Phase Accrued Interest 21,104 22,265
Loan, Second Phase Accrued Interest 22,578 19,706
118,682 116,971
Loan, Second Phase 81,043 82,000
Loan, Second Phase Accrued Interest 931
200,656 198,971
Allowance for First Phase (118,682)
$ 81,974 $ 198,971
Principal repayments on long term debt payable over the next five years are as follows:
Province of Province of
Manitoba, Stadium Manitoba Term Loans Total
2019 $ 3,244 $ 5,391 $ 1,282 $ 9,917
2020 768 5,676 1,355 7,799
2021 804 5,976 1,429 8,209
2022 841 6,293 1,507 8,641
2023 880 6,627 1,592 9,099
Thereafter 75,437 133,890 15,749 225,076
$ 81,974 $ 163,853 $ 22,914 $ 268,741
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2. OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES

2018 2017
Fair Value of Financial Derivatives:

Student Residence $ 1,765 $ 2,516

Multi-Tenant Facility 150 Innovation Drive 599 908

Multi-Tenant Facility 900 One Research Road 1,136 1,517

3,500 4,941

Retirement Allowance 3,880 3,990

$ 7,380 $ 8,931

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives Beginning of Year $ 4,941 $ 6,180
Unrealized (Gain) Loss Reported in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses (1,441) (1,239)

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives End of Year $ 3,500 $ 4,941

Financial Derivatives are classified as Level 3.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The University has entered into separate interest rate swap agreements for three term loans. Each loan has a stamping fee and a
floating interest rate based on Bankers” Acceptance rates. The floating interest rate has been swapped to a fixed rate as follows:

+ The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the construction of the Arthur V. Mauro Student Residence has a fixed
interest rate of 5.62% that is committed until September 1, 2028. The notional principal underlying this swap agreement
was $10,230 as at March 31, 2018 (2017, $10,909).

« The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the development of the multi-tenant facility at 150 Innovation Drive
has a fixed interest rate of 4.07% that is committed until February 13, 2032. The notional principal underlying this swap
agreement as at March 31, 2018 was $5,492 (2017, $5,780).

+ The interest rate swap agreement for the loan for the addition to the multi-tenant facility at 900 - One Research Road has
a fixed interest rate of 4.4% that is committed until August 5, 2035. The notional principal underlying this swap agreement
was $7,192 as at March 31, 2018 (2017, $7,442).

Under the terms of the agreements, the respective monthly interest and principal repayments are required similar to a
conventional amortizing loan over a 25 year period.

RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE

In 2017, the University entered into a letter of understanding with the University of Manitoba Faculty Association (UMFA) to
provide a retirement allowance to eligible UMFA members in exchange for their voluntarily and irrevocable agreement to retire.
The allowance is dependent upon the UMFA member’s age and the number of advance years of notice given to the University
prior to retirement. To be eligible, the member must be at least fifty-five years of age and have at least fifteen years of service at
the University on a date that they have chosen as their retirement date. UMFA members have up to three years to enroll in the
program and must retire within three years of their enrolment. The University’s policy is to record the estimated liability once
members enroll. As at March 31, 2018, the estimated liability is $5,913 (2017, $4,849) with $2,033 (2017, $859) being a current
liability included in accounts payable and $3,880 (2017, $3,990) representing a long term liability.

| ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018



| VAOLINVIA 40 ALISYTAINN

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

|3. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The University provides certain health, dental and group life benefits for its retired employees who have met the eligibility
criteria and long term disability benefits for current employees. Post-retirement pension benefits are also provided for
specifically entitled retirees.

Health, dental and group life benefits are provided to employees who retired prior to July 1, 2004 on a non-contributory
basis. The group life benefits are indexed post-retirement. For eligible employees retiring on or after July 1, 2004, no group
life benefit is available, and retired employees share in the cost of the health and dental benefits.

The long term disability income benefit is provided on a contributory basis.

Post-retirement pension benefits are provided to specifically entitled employees who retired prior to 1993. The adjustments
for a year are determined as the lesser of the amounts that can be provided by a weighted average percentage salary increase
at the University, or the excess interest approach provided under the University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). One
hundred percent of the adjustments are paid by the University.

The University measures the fair value of assets and the accrued benefit obligations for the non-pension and post-retirement
pension adjustments as of March 31. A firm of consulting actuaries prepared an actuarial valuation for the post-retirement
adjustments plan as at March 31, 2018. They also prepared extrapolations to March 31, 2018 of the 2016 actuarial valuations
for the non-pension benefit plans. The actuarial gains and losses are amortized over nine years commencing in the year
following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise.

The Accrued Benefit Obligations for the non-pension benefit plans and the post-retirement adjustments are reported in the
University’s Statement of Financial Position under Long Term Liabilities.

Information about the University’s non-pension benefit plans and post-retirement adjustments as at March 31 is as follows:

Non-Pension Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans Adjustments Total Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Accrued Benefit Obligations $ 75,552 $ 72,988 $ 1,845 $ 2,068 $ 77397 $ 75056
Unamortized Actuarial Gains 6,483 5,863 112 134 6,595 5,997
Employee Future Benefits
Liability $ 82,035 $ 78,851 $ 1,957 $ 2,202 $ 83,992 $ 81,053
Benefit Cost $ 4,440 $ 4,486 $ 52 $ 67 $ 4492 $ 4,553
Plan Assets 58,642 54,441 639 763 59,281 55,204
Employer Contribution 5,457 5,441 173 186 5,630 5,627
Employees’ Contributions 3,466 3,428 3,466 3,428
Benefits Paid 8,158 8,093 346 372 8,504 8,465
Plan assets consist of: Non-Pension Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans Adjustments
2018 2017 2018 2017
Money Market Funds and Cash 4.4% 4.4% 4.4% 4.4%
Equities 51.6% 52.4% 51.6% 52.4%
Fixed Income 21.5% 21.1% 21.5% 21.1%
Pooled Real Estate 9.8% 9.6% 9.8% 9.6%
Mortgage Fund 12.7% 12.5% 12.7% 12.5%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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Non-Pension Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans Adjustments
2018 2017 2018 2017
Significant Long-term
Actuarial Assumptions:
Discount Rate 5.4% 5.5% 5.4% 5.5%
Benefit Cost for Year Ended March 31:
Discount Rate 5.5% 5.6% 5.5% 5.6%
Expected Rate of Return on Assets 5.5% 5.6% 5.5% 5.6%
Health Care Cost Trend Rates at March 31:
Initial Rate 7.5% 7.5%
Ultimate Rate 5.0% 5.0%
Year Ultimate Rate Reached 2027 2027
Dental Care Cost Trend
Rates at March 31: 5.0% to 2018, 5.0% to 2018,

4.5% thereafter 4.5% thereafter

|4. INTER-FUND ADVANCES AND LOANS

As at March 31, 2018, the Restricted Funds owed the General Funds $4,106. At March 31, 2017, the General Funds owed the
Restricted Funds $3,703.

15. CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL ASSETS

Contributions recognized in the Capital Asset Fund include contributed building, capital equipment, library books and
artwork of $353 (2017, $979).

|6. PENSION PLANS

The University is the sponsor of two pension plans, The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan (1986), and The
University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). During the year the 1970 Plan was merged with the 1993 Plan.

The University has separate Pension Committees to act as Plan Administrator for each of the 1993 and 1986 Plans.

Each of the 1993 Pension Committee and 1986 Pension Committee has the following responsibilities for their respective
plans:

o Monitor the operation of the plan;

o  Take responsibility for the plan’s administration;

 Ensure that the plan is in compliance with all applicable legislation; and

« Actin an advisory capacity to the University Board of Governors, making recommendations as required.

Both pension plans issue their own financial statements, none of which form part of the University’s financial statements.
The University’s pension liability for the 1993 Plan is the net of pension obligations less plan assets and adjusted for any

unamortized actuarial gains or losses. For the 1986 Plan, the University has no pension liability as pension obligations equal
plan assets.

1993 PLAN

The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993) is a money purchase plan with a defined benefit minimum. The following is
a summary of the Plan:

| ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018



| VAOLINVIN 40 ALISYTAINN

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Staft members of the University, other than those eligible for membership in The University of Manitoba GFT Pension Plan
(1986), are eligible for membership in The University of Manitoba Pension Plan (1993). The Plan members contributed

at the rate of 9.0% of salary less an adjustment for the Canada Pension Plan during the year. The University matches these
contributions. If an actuarial valuation reveals a deficiency in the fund, The Pension Benefits Act of the Province of Manitoba
requires that the University make additional contributions to fund the deficiency.

The Plan provides for full and immediate vesting on termination of employment, subject to the provisions of The Pension
Benefits Act of the Province of Manitoba.

At retirement, the Plan provides that the Member’s Contribution Account and University Contribution Account are applied
to establish retirement income known as a plan annuity. This annuity is determined using a pension factor established by the
Actuary and is paid from the Plan. The Plan provides that if the defined benefit pension based on a formula involving the
member’s years of service and highest average earnings exceeds the plan annuity, the difference (known as a supplementary
pension) is paid from the Plan.

The Plan provides for retirement benefits paid from the Plan to be increased using an excess interest approach, provided such
increase can be afforded by the Plan as confirmed by the Actuary.

At the December 31, 2016 valuation of the Plan, there were 5,209 active member accounts with an average salary weighted
age of 52.0 for academic staff and 46.8 for support staff, and 1,314 annuitants and other recipients.

The actuarial method used to value the liabilities is the projected unit credit method, prorated on services. An actuarial
valuation for accounting purposes was prepared by a firm of consulting actuaries as at December 31, 2016 and extrapolated
to December 31, 2017.

The University uses a December 31 measurement date for reporting plan assets and obligations. Pension liability is calculated
as follows:

2017 2016
Accrued Benefit Obligations
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, beginning of year $ 1,199,887 $ 1,173,668
Interest accrued on defined benefits 23,815 24,924
Interest accrued on member accounts 68,097 61,725
Benefits accrued 58,014 57,093
Benefits paid (96,661) (102,617)
Actuarial gains (losses) (8,332) (8,839)
Plan amendment 377
Change in actuarial assumptions (3,565) (6,067)
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, end of year 1,241,632 1,199,887
Plan Assets
Fair value, beginning of year 1,156,502 1,099,448
Actual return on plan assets 108,807 99,919
Employer contributions calendar year 34,693 34,092
Employee contributions 26,288 25,462
Transfer from other plans 2,761 198
Benefits paid (96,661) (102,617)
Fair value, end of year 1,232,390 1,156,502
Plan deficit 9,242 43,385
Contributions during fiscal year in excess of calendar year (8,996) (8,994)
Adjusted plan deficit 246 34,391
Unamortized net actuarial gains (losses) 20,181 (10,048)
Pension Liability $ 20427 $ 24,343
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Net Benefit Plan Expense
Current service cost, net of employee contributions $ 31,366 $ 31,433
Interest costs at discount rate 62,966 62,383
Expected return on plan assets (62,645) (60,369)
Prior period cost (2,024)
Amortization of net actuarial losses 1,116 5,030
Net benefit plan expense $ 30,779 $ 38,477
Reconciliation of Unamortized Gains (Losses)
Expected average remaining service life 9.00 9.00
Net unamortized gain (loss), beginning of year $  (10,048) $  (45,268)
New net gain (loss) for current year 29,113 30,190
Amortization for current year 1,116 5,030
Net unamortized gain (loss), end of year $ 20,181 $  (10,048)
Plan Assets Measured at Fair Value Consist of:
Cash and Other $ 28784 $ 20,867
Bonds and Debentures 145,843 143,834
Canadian Equities 257,194 255,768
Mortgages 167,969 163,076
Real Estate 125,100 99,061
Foreign Equities 507,500 473,896
$ 1,232,390 $ 1,156,502
Significant Long-Term Actuarial Assumptions
Discount rate 5.50% 5.50%
Expected rate of return on assets 5.50% 5.50%
Rate of general salary increase 0% 2018, 0.75% 2019, 1% 2020, 1.5% 2021, 2.5% 1.5% to 2022, 2.5%
thereafter thereafter
Interest assumption for converting member
accumulations to annuities 3.75% 3.75%
Mortality Canadian Pensioners’ Canadian Pensioners’
Mortality 2014 Mortality 2014
Public Sector Table,  Public Sector Table,
with age-related with age-related
adjustments. adjustments.
Projected Projected
generationally generationally
from 2014 using from 2014 using
Scale CPM-B. Scale CPM-B.

Pension Plan Assets are valued at market values. The expected rate of return on plan assets net of expenses is 5.5% (2016,
5.5%). The actual return on pension fund assets was 9.5% (2016, 9.3%).

In 2009, the Manitoba Pension Commission advised that the University was required to begin to make additional

payments with respect to current service costs in excess of matching contributions of active members and the University.
The additional annual current service cost payments required are based on a percentage (changes annually) of employee
contributions. This total payment for fiscal 2018 was $4.6 million (2017, $3.5 million).

The unamortized net actuarial gains (losses) shown above, which were determined on the basis of the 2016 actuarial
valuation and the 2017 extrapolation for accounting purposes, are being amortized over a period of nine years (expected
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average remaining service life) starting in the year following the year the respective annual actuarial gains or losses arise.
However, cash funding for the pension plan is based on the going concern funding valuation as described below.

The going concern deficit that results from these and other sources of loss, as they apply to the valuation for funding
purposes filed with the pension regulators, is being funded under The Pension Benefits Act over the maximum of fifteen
years. The payments are $4.0 million annually until the going concern deficit is eliminated, based on the December 2016
funding valuation. This total payment for fiscal 2018 was $3.7 million (2017, $5.1 million).

In 2009, as permitted under the University Pension Plans Exemption Regulation, the University filed an election for an
exemption to the solvency deficiency funding requirements under The Pension Benefits Act for the 1993 Plan. However, the
Plan will continue to be subject to the going concern funding provisions of The Pension Benefits Act and the funding deficit
payments are being paid by the University over the maximum of fifteen years as indicated above.

1986 PLAN

For the 1986 Plan, which is a money purchase plan for active members, the University recorded contributions of $2,089
(2017, $1,976) and this is included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances as an expense.

|7.NET INVESTMENT INCOME

General Restricted Total Total
Funds Funds 2018 2017
Non Portfolio Investments:
Interest $ 3,228 $ 5,366 $ 8,594 $ 13,183
Net Gains 413 413
3,641 5,366 9,007 13,183
Portfolio Investments:
Interest 3,406 1,720 5,126 3,420
Dividends 11,412 11,412 11,754
Net Gains on Sale of Investments 35,678 35,678 28,582
3,406 48,810 52,216 43,756
$ 7,047 $ 54,176 $ 61,223 $ 56,939

|8. INTEREST IN RELATED ENTITIES

UM PROPERTIES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

In 2008, the University purchased approximately 120 acres of land from the Southwood Golf and Country Club (Southwood
lands). The University is pursuing the development of the Southwood lands through UM Properties Limited Partnership (the
Partnership) which was created in 2016-17.

The Partnership is responsible for the planning and development of the infrastructure and roadways of the Southwood
lands and will negotiate with builders/developers for the construction of residential and commercial buildings located on
the Southwood lands. It is the intent of the University to transfer an interest in the lands to the Partnership by selling its fee
simple interest, or by entering into a long term lease.

The Partnership has a sole general partner and sole limited partner. UM Properties GP Inc. is the general partner and a
wholly owned subsidiary of the University. UM Properties Trust (the Trust) is a legal trust and is the limited partner.

UM Properties Holdings Inc. (the Corporate Trustee) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the University, and is the sole trustee
of the Trust. Income will flow from the Partnership to the Trust. The Corporate Trustee is responsible to allocate the taxable
income of the Trust in any given year. The University and the ].W. Dafoe Foundation are the beneficiaries of the Trust.
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The Trust is taxable on any taxable income that is not allocated to the beneficiaries.

There was minimal financial activity in 2017-18.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA FOUNDATION U.S.A. INC.

The University has an economic interest in the University of Manitoba Foundation U.S.A. Inc. (the Foundation) which is
an Illinois not-for-profit corporation incorporated in December 1989. The Foundation’s purpose is exclusively charitable,
literary, scientific and educational and its activities include the promotion, encouragement, aid and advancement of higher
education, research and training in the Province of Manitoba, in Canada and elsewhere. The Foundation is exempt from
U.S.A. Federal Income Tax under Subsection 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The Board of Directors of the Foundation is an independent board whose members direct and guide the Foundation’s
actions. Members of the Board include, among others, certain senior staff of the University. The University of Manitoba
however, is one of many entities eligible to receive aid from the Foundation. The University must make application to the
Foundation’s Board of Directors to request funds, which may or may not be granted. The University’s economic interest
therefore is beneficial, as gifts and donations which are solicited by the Foundation may be transferred to the University from
time to time. The gifts received in fiscal 2018 were $2,067 (2017, $1,406).

TRIUMF

The University has an 8.33% (2016, 8.33%) interest in TRIUME, a joint venture which operates a national laboratory for
particle and nuclear physics. The University uses the modified equity method of accounting to record its interest in TRIUME.

Available financial information in respect of TRIUMEF is disclosed below:

U of M’s U of M’s
Proportionate Proportionate
March 31, 2017 Share March 31, 2016 Share
Statement of Financial Position:
Assets $ 47,730 $ 3,976 $ 32,020 $ 2,667
Liabilities 20,262 1,688 8,322 693
Net Assets $ 27,468 $ 2,288 $ 23,698 $ 1,974
Statement of Operations:
Revenue $ 74,694 $ 6,222 $ 71,873 $ 5,987
Expenses 70,925 5,908 68,286 5,688
Surplus for the Year $ 3,769 $ 314 $ 3,587 $ 299
Statement of Cash Flows:
Cash Provided by (Used in):
Operating Activities $ 15597 % 1,299 $ 5,364 $ 447
Investing Activities (148) (12) (7,171) (597)
Increase (Decrease) in Cash $ 15,449 $ 1,287 $ (1,807) $ (150)

TRIUMFs financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 11B of the TRIUMF joint venture agreement.
TRIUMEF has adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS), including accounting standards that apply to
government not-for-profit organizations, except that all property, plant and equipment purchased or constructed for use

at TRIUMF and related decommissioning costs (if any) are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred. The
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 are not available.

TRIUMEF follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

| ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018



| VAOLINVIN 40 ALISYTAINN

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The University has significant influence in Triple B Stadium Inc. (Triple B). Triple B is a for-profit corporation established
to develop, own and operate a stadium as a venue for professional and university football and community athletics. The
members of Triple B are the City of Winnipeg, the University of Manitoba and the Winnipeg Football Club. Activities

of Triple B are managed by the directors comprised of the University, City of Winnipeg, Province of Manitoba and the
Winnipeg Football Club. The University has an economic interest in Triple B related to the use of the stadium for university
football games and events at nil charge.

As at March 31, 2018 and for the year then ended, the related party transactions pertaining to Investors Group Field, with
Triple B and the Province of Manitoba were as follows:

2018 2017

@

Loans Receivable, including accrued interest 81,974 $ 198,971
Loans Payable, including accrued interest $ 81974 $ 198,971
Revenue and Expenses:

Investment Income $ 3,803 $ 8,945
Gain on Long Term Debt $ 118,682
Interest Expense $ 3,803 $ 8,945
Loss on Loan Receivable Allowance $ 118,682

The investment income from Triple B and related interest expense of $3,803 (2017, $8,945) has been included in the
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances. However, these amounts have not been included in Statement of
Cash Flow supplementary information as the interest was neither received nor paid during the year. Any related payments
received for the loan receivable and payments made on the related debt were applied against the outstanding principal.

The University controls Partners for Health and Development in Africa (PHDA), a non-profit, non-governmental
organization registered in Kenya. PHDA has a March 31 year end. Its main purpose is to promote health and economic
development in Kenya and Africa, including promotion of health and economic services in HIV/AIDS and population and
reproductive health. PHDA uses International Public Sector Accounting Standards.

The University funds the operations of PHDA by the transfer of research grants. PHDA is not permitted under local
government restrictions to transfer any assets back to the University. Available financial information in respect of PHDA is
disclosed below. The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018 are not available. PHDA operates in Kenyan
Schillings and the amounts below have been converted to Canadian dollars.

March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
Statement of Financial Position:
Assets $ 510 $ 800
Liabilities 379 354
Net Assets $ 131 $ 446
Statement of Operations:
Revenue $ 5,140 $ 6,026
Expenses 5,454 5,687
Surplus (Loss) for the Year $ (314) $ 339
Cash Provided by (Used in):
Operating Activities $ 172) $ 353
Investing Activities ) (60)
Increase (Decrease) in Cash $ (181) $ 293

Total transfers in 2017 to PHDA were $4,494 (2016, $5,633).
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The University is related 